

IAEA HUMAN HEALTH SERIES No. 19

Quality Assurance Programme for Computed Tomography: Diagnostic and Therapy Applications



IAEA HUMAN HEALTH SERIES PUBLICATIONS

The mandate of the IAEA human health programme originates from Article II of its Statute, which states that the "Agency shall seek to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world". The main objective of the human health programme is to enhance the capabilities of IAEA Member States in addressing issues related to the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of health problems through the development and application of nuclear techniques, within a framework of quality assurance.

Publications in the IAEA Human Health Series provide information in the areas of: radiation medicine, including diagnostic radiology, diagnostic and therapeutic nuclear medicine, and radiation therapy; dosimetry and medical radiation physics; and stable isotope techniques and other nuclear applications in nutrition. The publications have a broad readership and are aimed at medical practitioners, researchers and other professionals. International experts assist the IAEA Secretariat in drafting and reviewing these publications. Some of the publications in this series may also be endorsed or cosponsored by international organizations and professional societies active in the relevant fields.

There are two categories of publications in this series:

IAEA HUMAN HEALTH SERIES

Publications in this category present analyses or provide information of an advisory nature, for example guidelines, codes and standards of practice, and quality assurance manuals. Monographs and high level educational material, such as graduate texts, are also published in this series.

IAEA HUMAN HEALTH REPORTS

Human Health Reports complement information published in the IAEA Human Health Series in areas of radiation medicine, dosimetry and medical radiation physics, and nutrition. These publications include reports of technical meetings, the results of IAEA coordinated research projects, interim reports on IAEA projects, and educational material compiled for IAEA training courses dealing with human health related subjects. In some cases, these reports may provide supporting material relating to publications issued in the IAEA Human Health Series.

All of these publications can be downloaded cost free from the IAEA web site: http://www.iaea.org/Publications/index.html

Further information is available from: Marketing and Sales Unit International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna International Centre PO Box 100 1400 Vienna, Austria

Readers are invited to provide their impressions on these publications. Information may be provided via the IAEA web site, by mail at the address given above, or by email to:

Official.Mail@iaea.org.

QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAMME FOR COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY: DIAGNOSTIC AND THERAPY APPLICATIONS The following States are Members of the International Atomic Energy Agency:

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ANGOLA ARGENTINA ARMENIA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA AZERBAIJAN BAHRAIN BANGLADESH BELARUS BELGIUM BELIZE BENIN BOLIVIA BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOTSWANA BRAZIL BULGARIA BURKINA FASO BURUNDI CAMBODIA CAMEROON CANADA CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC CHAD CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA CONGO COSTA RICA CÔTE D'IVOIRE CROATIA CUBA CYPRUS CZECH REPUBLIC DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO DENMARK DOMINICA DOMINICAN REPUBLIC ECUADOR EGYPT EL SALVADOR ERITREA **ESTONIA** ETHIOPIA FINLAND FRANCE GABON GEORGIA GERMANY

GHANA GREECE GUATEMALA HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY ICELAND INDIA INDONESIA IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAQ IRELAND ISRAEL ITALY IAMAICA JAPAN JORDAN KAZAKHSTAN KENYA KOREA, REPUBLIC OF KUWAIT KYRGYZSTAN LAO PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC LATVIA LEBANON LESOTHO LIBERIA LIBYA LIECHTENSTEIN LITHUANIA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALAWI MALAYSIA MALI MALTA MARSHALL ISLANDS MAURITANIA MAURITIUS MEXICO MONACO MONGOLIA MONTENEGRO MOROCCO MOZAMBIQUE MYANMAR NAMIBIA NEPAL NETHERLANDS NEW ZEALAND NICARAGUA NIGER

NIGERIA NORWAY OMAN PAKISTAN PALAU PANAMA PAPUA NEW GUINEA PARAGUAY PERU PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL OATAR REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA ROMANIA RUSSIAN FEDERATION SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL. SERBIA SEYCHELLES SIERRA LEONE SINGAPORE SLOVAKIA **SLOVENIA** SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SRI LANKA SUDAN SWEDEN SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC TAIIKISTAN THAILAND THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA TUNISIA TURKEY UGANDA UKRAINE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUAY UZBEKISTAN VENEZUELA VIETNAM YEMEN ZAMBIA ZIMBABWE

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1956 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

IAEA HUMAN HEALTH SERIES No. 19

QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAMME FOR COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY: DIAGNOSTIC AND THERAPY APPLICATIONS

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2012

COPYRIGHT NOTICE

All IAEA scientific and technical publications are protected by the terms of the Universal Copyright Convention as adopted in 1952 (Berne) and as revised in 1972 (Paris). The copyright has since been extended by the World Intellectual Property Organization (Geneva) to include electronic and virtual intellectual property. Permission to use whole or parts of texts contained in IAEA publications in printed or electronic form must be obtained and is usually subject to royalty agreements. Proposals for non-commercial reproductions and translations are welcomed and considered on a case-by-case basis. Enquiries should be addressed to the IAEA Publishing Section at:

Marketing and Sales Unit, Publishing Section International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna International Centre PO Box 100 1400 Vienna, Austria fax: +43 1 2600 29302 tel.: +43 1 2600 22417 email: sales.publications@iaea.org http://www.iaea.org/books

> © IAEA, 2012 Printed by the IAEA in Austria August 2012 STI/PUB/1557

IAEA Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Quality assurance programme for computed tomography :

diagnostic and therapy applications. — Vienna : International Atomic Energy Agency, 2012. p. ; 24 cm. — (IAEA human health series, ISSN 2075–3772 ; no. 19) STI/PUB/1557 ISBN 978–92–0–128910–0

Includes bibliographical references.

Quality assurance.
 Nuclear medicine — Equipment and supplies.
 Tomography — Diagnostic use.
 Radiation dosimetry.
 International Atomic Energy Agency.
 Series.

IAEAL

12-00756

FOREWORD

The application of radiation in the diagnosis and treatment of disease is an important component of the work of the IAEA. In the area of diagnostic radiology, this work is currently focused on quality assurance (QA) methods to promote the effective use of radiation for a diagnostic outcome through achieving and maintaining appropriate image quality, and on dose determination to allow the monitoring and reduction of dose to the patient.

The role of computed tomography (CT) in modern medicine is well established as a means of diagnosis and also as an essential precursor to radiation therapy treatment. The clinical relevance of the technology and the recent rapid technological developments have brought about extensive increases in the use of this diagnostic tool generally, and in an increasing number of Member States. The complexity of this technology continues to increase, as does its potential to deliver substantial doses to patients. Consequently, the need for QA to acquire the maximum clinical information at acceptable radiation dose levels is critical.

The current publication is unique in that it contains advice applicable to both diagnostic and therapeutic applications of CT, in recognition of the fact that in many facilities the use of a CT scanner for both diagnostic and therapeutic applications may be common. Currently, there are a small number of QA protocols in CT that apply to limited national and regional settings. Many Member States, therefore, have requested guidance in this area. In responding to these requests, the current publication was written with the aim of presenting an internationally harmonized approach to QA in the field. This approach will allow Member States to implement QA in CT in a standardized way.

This publication on QA for CT was developed as a companion to complement the recently published Quality Assurance Programme for Screen Film Mammography (IAEA Human Health Series No. 2) and Quality Assurance Programme for Digital Mammography (IAEA Human Health Series No. 17) and follows the same format and style.

The IAEA acknowledges the contribution of the drafting committee. The technical officer responsible for the preparation of this publication was I.D. McLean of the Division of Human Health.

EDITORIAL NOTE

This report does not address questions of responsibility, legal or otherwise, for acts or omissions on the part of any person.

Although great care has been taken to maintain the accuracy of information contained in this publication, neither the IAEA nor its Member States assume any responsibility for consequences which may arise from its use.

The use of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of names of specific companies or products (whether or not indicated as registered) does not imply any intention to infringe proprietary rights, nor should it be construed as an endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

The authors are responsible for having obtained the necessary permission for the IAEA to reproduce, translate or use material from sources already protected by copyrights.

This publication has been prepared from the original material as submitted by the authors. The views expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the IAEA, the governments of the nominating Member States or the nominating organizations.

The IAEA has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third party Internet web sites referred to in this book and does not guarantee that any content on such web sites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

CONTENTS

1.	INT	RODU	CTION	1
	1.1. 1.2.	Why is Purpos	s computed tomography important?se of this publication	1 2
2.	CT	ГЕСНМ	OLOGY	2
	2.1.	Basic	CT technology	2
		2.1.1.	CT gantry: Tube, collimator, filters and detector	3
		2.1.2.	Image reconstruction	5
		2.1.3.	Scanning procedures	6
		2.1.4.	Image creation with MDCT scanners	8
		2.1.5.	Automatic exposure control	8
	2.2.	CT sca	anners in radiotherapy treatment planning	9
3.	PER	FORM	ANCE REQUIREMENTS IN CT	11
	3.1.	Scan a	and patient positioning accuracy	11
		3.1.1.	CT alignment lights, SPR accuracy	11
		3.1.2.	External CT positioning lasers for	
			radiotherapy positioning	12
	3.2.	Image	quality	13
		3.2.1.	CT number	13
		3.2.2.	Image noise	13
		3.2.3.	Contrast to noise ratio (CNR)	15
		3.2.4.	Uniformity of image noise and CT number	15
		3.2.5.	Image artefacts	16
		3.2.6.	Spatial resolution.	17
		3.2.7.	Partial volume effects	19
	3.3.	CT do	se	19
		3.3.1.	Standard CT dosimetry	20
		3.3.2.	Understanding the concepts of CT dosimetry indices	23
		3.3.3.	Dosimetry for CT scanners with large collimation	
		<i>.</i>	beam widths	23
		3.3.4.	Calculation of organ doses from CT scanners	25
		3.3.5.	Dose calculations for CT scanners using some form	25
		226		25
		3.3.6.	Dose parameters and DICOM headers	26

4.	CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE SELECTION OF A CT UNIT				
	4.1.	Factors to consider in choosing a CT system	26		
		4.1.1. Clinical needs	27		
		4.1.2. Operational setting	28		
		4.1.3. Staff considerations	31		
		4.1.4. Cost considerations	32		
	4.2.	Special considerations for radiotherapy CT selection	32		
5.	BAS	BASIC PRINCIPLES OF QA IN CT			
	5.1.	QA activities	36		
	5.2.	Roles and responsibilities	39		
		5.2.1. The licensee or registrant	39		
		5.2.2. The radiologist	39		
		5.2.3. The radiographer	40		
		5.2.4. The medical physicist	40		
6.	OPT	OPTIMIZATION OF CLINICAL PRACTICE			
	6.1.	Introduction	41		
		6.1.1. General principles of radiation protection	41		
		6.1.2. The need for optimization in CT	42		
		6.1.3. General principles of optimization	42		
		6.1.4. General recommendations for good practice in CT	43		
	6.2.	Factors affecting image quality and dose	43		
		6.2.1. Introduction	43		
		6.2.2. Scan parameters	44		
		6.2.3. Optimization with AEC	47		
		6.2.4. Optimizing MDCT protocols	47		
		6.2.5. Use of body part shielding	50		
	6.3.	The optimization process	50		
	6.4.	Clinical examples of optimization	52		
		6.4.1. Chest CT	52		
		6.4.2. CT perfusion	52		
		6.4.3. Other emerging CT procedures	52		
	6.5.	Optimization for children	53		
7.	OUT	ILINE OF PERFORMANCE TESTS	58		

8.	RAI	DIOGR	APHER'S TESTS	61
	8.1.	Introd	luction	61
	8.2.	CT ali	ignment lights	61
		8.2.1.	Introduction	61
		8.2.2.	Scope	63
		8.2.3.	Equipment, materials and instrumentation	63
		8.2.4.	Scan protocol.	64
		8.2.5.	Methodology	64
		8.2.6.	Analysis	64
		8.2.7.	Interpretation of results	64
		8.2.8.	Recommendations and corrective actions	64
	8.3.	SPR a		65
		8.3.1.	Introduction	65
		8.3.2.	Scope	65
		8.3.3.	Equipment, materials and instrumentation	65
		8.3.4.	Scan protocol.	65
		8.3.5.	Methodology	66
		8.3.6.	Analysis	66
		8.3.7.	Interpretation of results	66
		8.3.8.	Recommendations and corrective actions	66
	8.4.	CT nu	umber accuracy, image noise, uniformity and	
		image	artefacts	66
		8.4.1.	Introduction	66
		8.4.2.	Scope	67
		8.4.3.	Equipment, materials and instrumentation	67
		8.4.4.	Scan protocol.	67
		8.4.5.	Methodology	68
		8.4.6.	Analysis	68
		8.4.7.	Interpretation of results	69
	0.5	8.4.8.	Recommendations and corrective actions	69
	8.5.	Image	display and printing	69
		8.5.1.		69
		8.5.2.	Scope	69
		8.5.3.	Equipment, materials and instrumentation	70
		8.5.4.	Scan protocol.	70
		8.5.5.	Methodology	/1
		8.5.6.	Analysis	/1
		8.5.7.	Interpretation of results	71
		8.5.8.	Recommendations and corrective actions	/1

9.	MEI	DICAL PHYSICIST'S TESTS	72
	9.1.	Introduction	72
	9.2.	Visual inspection and programme review	75
		9.2.1. Introduction	75
		9.2.2. Scope	75
		9.2.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	75
		9.2.4. Scan protocols	75
		9.2.5. Procedure	75
		9.2.6. Analysis	76
		9.2.7. Interpretation of results	76
		9.2.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	76
	9.3.	CT alignment lights.	77
		9.3.1. Introduction	77
		9.3.2. Scope	77
		9.3.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	77
		9.3.4. Scan protocol	77
		9.3.5. Methodology	78
		9.3.6. Analysis	78
		9.3.7. Interpretation of results	78
		9.3.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	78
	9.4.	SPR accuracy	79
		9.4.1. Introduction	79
		9.4.2. Scope	79
		9.4.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	79
		9.4.4. Scan protocol.	79
		9.4.5. Methodology	80
		9.4.6. Analysis	80
		9.4.7. Interpretation of results	80
		9.4.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	80
	9.5.	X ray generator (kV accuracy and HVL)	80
	9.6.	Radiation dose.	81
		9.6.1. Introduction.	81
		9.6.2. Scope	81
		9.6.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	82
		9.6.4. Scan protocol.	82
		9.6.5. Methodology	83
		9.6.6. Analysis	84
		9.6./. Interpretation of results and tolerances	85
		9.6.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	85

9.7.	CT number accuracy, image noise, uniformity and			
	image	artefacts	85	
	9.7.1.	Introduction	85	
	9.7.2.	Scope	85	
	9.7.3.	Equipment, materials and instrumentation	86	
	9.7.4.	Scan protocols	86	
	9.7.5.	Methodology	87	
	9.7.6.	Analysis	88	
	9.7.7.	Interpretation of results and tolerances	88	
	9.7.8.	Recommendations and corrective actions	90	
9.8.	Image	display and printing	90	
	9.8.1.	Introduction	90	
	9.8.2.	Scope	90	
	9.8.3.	Equipment, materials and instrumentation	91	
	9.8.4.	Scan protocol.	91	
	9.8.5.	Methodology	92	
	9.8.6.	Analysis	92	
	9.8.7.	Interpretation of results	93	
	9.8.8.	Recommendations and corrective actions	93	
9.9.	Image	d slice width	95	
	9.9.1.	Introduction	95	
	9.9.2.	Scope	95	
	9.9.3.	Equipment, materials and instrumentation	96	
	9.9.4.	Scan protocol.	96	
	9.9.5.	Methodology	96	
	9.9.6.	Analysis	98	
	9.9.7.	Interpretation of results	100	
	9.9.8.	Recommendations and corrective actions	101	
9.10	. X ray	beam width	101	
	9.10.1	. Introduction	101	
	9.10.2	. Scope	101	
	9.10.3	. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	101	
	9.10.4	. Scan protocol	102	
	9.10.5	. Methodology	102	
	9.10.6	. Analysis	102	
	9.10.7	. Interpretation of results	103	
	9.10.8	. Recommendations and corrective actions	103	
9.11	. Spatia	l resolution	103	
	9.11.1	. Introduction	103	
	9.11.2	. Scope	103	
	9.11.3	. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	104	

	9.11.4. Scan protocol.	104
	9.11.5. Methodology	104
	9.11.6. Analysis.	104
	9.11.7. Interpretation of results	104
	9.11.8. Recommendations and corrective actions.	104
10.	ADDITIONAL TESTS FOR RADIATION THERAPY	105
	10.1. Introduction to radiographer's tests	105
	10.2. External CT positioning lasers	106
	10.2.1. Introduction	106
	10.2.2. Scope	109
	10.2.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	109
	10.2.4. Scan protocol	109
	10.2.5. Methodology	110
	10.2.6. Analysis	110
	10.2.7. Interpretation of results	110
	10.2.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	111
	10.3. Couch top alignment and positional accuracy	111
	10.3.1. Introduction	111
	10.3.2. Scope	112
	10.3.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	112
	10.3.4. Scan protocol.	112
	10.3.5. Methodology	112
	10.3.6. Analysis	113
	10.3.7. Interpretation of results	113
	10.3.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	114
	10.4. CT number of multiple materials	114
	10.4.1. Introduction	114
	10.4.2. Scope	114
	10.4.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	114
	10.4.4. Scan protocol.	114
	10.4.5. Methodology	114
	10.4.6. Analysis	115
	10.4.7. Interpretation of results	115
	10.4.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	115
	10.5. Introduction to medical physicist tests	115
	10.6. External CT positioning lasers	115
	10.6.1. Introduction	115
	10.6.2. Scope	119
	10.6.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	119

10.6.4. Scan protocol.	119
10.6.5. Methodology	119
10.6.6. Analysis.	120
10.6.7. Interpretation of results	120
10.6.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	120
10.7. Couch top alignment, deflection and positional accuracy	121
10.7.1. Introduction	121
10.7.2. Scope	121
10.7.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	121
10.7.4. Scan protocol	121
10.7.5. Methodology	121
10.7.6. Analysis	123
10.7.7. Interpretation of results	123
10.7.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	123
10.8. Gantry tilt	124
10.8.1. Introduction.	124
10.8.2. Scope	124
10.8.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	124
10.8.4. Scan protocol.	124
10.8.5. Methodology	124
10.8.6. Analysis	125
10.8.7. Interpretation of results	125
10.8.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	125
10.9. Electron density calibration	125
10.9.1. Introduction.	125
10.9.2. Scope	126
10.9.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation	126
10.9.4. Scan protocol	126
10.9.5. Methodology	126
10.9.6. Analysis.	126
10.9.7. Interpretation of results	127
10.9.8. Recommendations and corrective actions	127
APPENDIX I: PHANTOMS AND EQUIPMENT	129
APPENDIX II: RADIOTHERAPY CT SCAN PROTOCOL	
PARAMETERS	139
APPENDIX III- CONFIGURING EXTERNAL CT POSITIONING	
LASERS FOR RADIOTHERAPY APPLICATIONS	143

APPENDIX IV:	AVAILABLE DOSIMETRY SOFTWARE	147
REFERENCES .		149
ANNEX:	VISUAL INSPECTION AND PROGRAMME REVIEW CHECKLIST	161
GLOSSARY CONTRIBUTOR	RS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW	163 171

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. WHY IS COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY IMPORTANT?

Computed tomography (CT) scanners create cross-sectional images of high radiographic contrast. This is particularly important for diagnosis involving soft tissue (that is, organs not including lung or bone) as the contrast available from CT images is vastly superior to that gained from projection radiography. Therefore, this type of imaging is medically very useful and increasingly the technique of choice for a growing number of examinations. On the other hand, the dose to the patient may be significantly higher than with alternative imaging modalities. This is of particular importance if the examination involves a pregnant patient or child. The cause of excessively high patient dose can usually be attributed to poor optimization of scanner radiographic protocols, but can also be due to poor equipment condition.

CT scanners are under continual technical development, resulting in increasing clinical application [1] which in turn highlights the need for continual professional education. The increasing complexity of scanner operation and application requires careful monitoring by the medical physicist in conjunction with the radiologist and radiographer to ensure that appropriate examination conditions exist and that procedures are optimized for diagnostic quality and patient dose. To achieve this, it is essential to promote and facilitate the implementation of a quality assurance (QA) programme. This includes appropriate training of radiographers and radiologists, use of well-designed equipment that is in proper operating condition, suitable examination protocols and adequate viewing conditions for image interpretation. The involvement of a medical physicist is a key element in the QA process.

It should be further noted that CT scanners are being increasingly utilized by radiotherapy departments for image acquisition for treatment planning purposes [2, 3], in addition to the traditional roles of patient diagnosis and cancer staging, placing further important demands on scanner performance requirements and QA processes. CT scanners are usually found in diagnostic radiology departments and might be accessed by the therapy department by arrangement. However, once the need for CT based treatment planning increases, as is the case when a significant number of treatment units are utilized in a department, and most importantly, when the percentage of therapy patients receiving curative rather than palliative treatment increases, the use of a dedicated CT simulation unit situated within the therapy department becomes a high priority.

1.2. PURPOSE OF THIS PUBLICATION

There currently exist a small number of established quality assurance (QA) publications, including several on acceptance and quality control (QC) testing for CT [4–8]. These publications form a comprehensive available resource in this area. The IAEA recognizes the different resources and needs of Member States. This publication has been compiled in the light of existing publications and has incorporated the principal components of the existing programmes in a harmonized manner to create a useful handbook for the broad range of Member States. It has been developed with the philosophy that CT imaging must be of the highest quality in order to fulfil the diagnostic tasks expected of it. This publication addresses topics such as the special requirements for scanners used for radiotherapy treatment planning and how to ensure adequate performance in shared diagnostic and radiotherapy scanner utilization and in radiotherapy-only use. In some areas, resources, both technological and human, are limited and therefore this publication was developed with the concept of practical application in mind.

2. CT TECHNOLOGY

2.1. BASIC CT TECHNOLOGY

CT is a mature diagnostic modality that is still undergoing rapid development. The basic principles of CT imaging can be found in many texts [9]. The following is a brief introduction.

CT is a radiographic process that produces a photon attenuation map of the patient based on the variable attenuation of a beam of X rays as it passes through a patient. In order to obtain a cross-sectional image, the beam is restricted to form a thin fan across the patient (in the x-y direction) of between 0.5 mm and 10 mm in thickness, in the case of single slice scanners, to produce a single imaged slice in the axial (z) direction. Many hundreds of attenuation profiles are created in each revolution of the X ray tube around the patient. These profiles are then reconstructed to form the required transverse image (Fig. 1).



FIG. 1. Simplified diagram of the creation of an attenuation profile in a CT scan. Note that modern scanners use a fan beam to acquire the attenuation profile in one exposure. (Reproduced from Ref. [9] with permission.)

2.1.1. CT gantry: Tube, collimator, filters and detector

The large X ray tube located within the gantry (Fig. 2) operates at between 80 kV and 140 kV. This tube can generate over 109 photons per mm² per second at 75 cm from the tube focus for typical CT radiographic settings of tube voltage (120 kV) and current (300 mA¹).

The X ray tube is typically operated at high voltage and high tube current values for long periods of time, which requires the rapid dissipation of heat to avoid tube failure. The tube cooling system is designed to deal with this. However, it is essential that the ambient temperature around the scanner or heat exchanger be controlled by effective air conditioning to allow optimal operation.

The X ray beam, after leaving the tube, passes through filter material to remove low energy photons. Typically, specially shaped filters are then applied to compensate for attenuation differences in a patient's head or body. It is essential to use the correct filter for the correct body part. The slice width collimator, positioned at the filter exit, determines the width of the X ray beam. In modern scanners, multiple slices (currently up to 320) are acquired simultaneously. These scanners are known as multidetector, multislice or multirow CT scanners. The

¹ Some older CT units may not operate above 175 mA.



FIG. 2. CT scanner with gantry cover removed. Note the X ray tube on the right hand side with collimator and filters facing towards the scan aperture. Detectors are on the left hand side.

width of the beams for these acquisitions is the product of the individual slice width and the number of slices acquired simultaneously.

The X ray detector element is typically an ionization chamber using high pressure xenon or a scintillation detector. Early scanners used scintillation detectors such as sodium iodide (NaI) or cadmium tungstate (CdWO₄); later high pressure xenon generally replaced these early materials and in later years scintillator doped ceramics have been used, such as gadolinium oxysulphide (Gd₂O₂S) or yttrium gadolinium oxide (YGdO). Important specifications for such detector elements, and factors in their development, include a high dynamic range, high quantum absorption efficiency and a fast temporal response with low afterglow.

For a single slice axial scanner, the detector unit will have over 700 elements arranged along an arc to intersect the exit beam of the tomographic plane. This is known as 3rd generation scan geometry (see Figs 3 and 4) and is the basic design for modern CT scanners. In multidetector CT scanners, the detector typically has additional adjoining arcs, or rows, of detector elements. Such multirow detectors may have up to 64 rows, allowing a total acquisition width² of 32–40 mm (measured at the isocentre). This type of acquisition can produce slice thicknesses varying from 0.5 mm to 10 mm. With such a detector, the acquisition time is reduced and the occurrence of motion artefacts is considerably reduced.

 $^{^{2}}$ The cone beam scanner is now available with 320 detectors with a dimension of 160 mm.



FIG. 3. Schematic representation of the scanning geometry and important components of the CT measurement system in frontal view (x-y plane) and in lateral view (y-z plane). (Adapted from Ref. [9] with permission.)



FIG. 4. Schematic representation of the scanning geometry in the lateral view (y–z plane) for a multidetector scanner, demonstrating the multiple detector rows along the z axis.

2.1.2. Image reconstruction

Typically, the reconstruction of an axial image uses projection profiles acquired from a 360° rotation of the tube and detector around the patient.

However, reconstruction is possible with projections of as little as 180° of rotation, while in helical (spiral) CT scanners, variable reconstruction angles are used. The reconstruction is primarily achieved by a filtered back projection method (Fig. 5) that allows almost real time reconstruction, although iterative reconstruction methods are also increasingly being considered now.

2.1.3. Scanning procedures

The simplest image acquisition is the scan projection radiograph (SPR), also known as a Scoutview, Scanogram, Surview or Topogram, depending on the manufacturer. This is taken in order to plan the CT acquisition with the X ray tube and detector moving in one plane relative to the patient (in fact, it is the patient that moves) without any rotation. The SPR (see Fig. 6) differs from a normal projection radiograph since it is divergent in only one direction, whereas the normal projection radiography is divergent in two directions.

The axial slice scan involves acquiring a collection of attenuation profiles around a patient who is stationary on the scan table. This ensures that all the profiles are in the one plane and allows rapid reconstruction computation. The



FIG. 5. Image characteristics can be influenced by the choice of convolution kernel, whereby increasing spatial resolution or edge enhancement also means increasing image noise (reproduced from Ref. [9] with permission).



b)

FIG. 6. SPR is taken with low dose and low spatial resolution by transporting the patient through the field of measurement with the X ray tube in a fixed position (a). The projection direction (here AP) is arbitrary in principle. The SPRs allow the selection of the position and gantry tilt for a single slice or for complete scan regions as shown schematically (b) (reproduced from Ref. [9] with permission).

couch is then moved to allow the acquisition of a new slice on a different anatomical region.

Helical, or spiral, scanning is achieved when the couch is moved at the same time as the scan profiles are acquired. This removes some artefacts associated with respiratory motion and allows the scan time to be reduced greatly. However, the reconstruction is complicated as the profiles are no longer in the same plane and may be interpolated (so-called z interpolation) to a pseudo-planar state before reconstruction. Maximum benefit from helical CT acquisition is achieved with multidetector CT (MDCT) acquisition. Here, a process known as z filtering is implemented. These algorithms have different characteristics to axial reconstruction algorithms. One notable feature is the ability to alter the imaged

slice width to any thickness equal to, or greater than, the nominal width of the detector elements used in the original acquisition. This leads to the possibility of generating many sets of images from the one acquisition and can greatly increase the image storage requirements and data management practices of a department.

The key parameter describing helical CT acquisition is pitch, defined as the ratio of the couch advance during a 360° rotation and the width of the total X ray collimation (i.e. the product of the detector width and the number of detector rows). For single slice scanners in particular, a large pitch implies faster acquisition with reduced dose, but at the cost of reduced resolution in the z axis, while low pitch has slower acquisition and increased dose but with better z axis resolution.

2.1.4. Image creation with MDCT scanners

As mentioned above for MDCT scanners, the use of reconstruction algorithms, such as z filtering, allows the reconstruction of CT images at virtually any thickness that is equal to, or greater than, the acquisition slice width of a particular detector as defined at the time of acquisition. This leads to the common practice of scanning the patient using small or 'thin' detector slice widths and then reconstructing the acquired data set firstly for a displayed slice width the same or similar to that of acquisition (so-called thin slices) and also at a thicker slice width (so-called 'thick' slices). Thin slices may display more image noise than thick slices. However, the thin images do not suffer from partial volume effects that reduce the contrast of small dense objects within the patient.

The management of image data generation for an MDCT needs to be carefully considered (see Section 4.1), especially when the increment distance between the start of each reconstructed slice can be selected after acquisition, as well as the possibility of using a different reconstruction kernel for additional image data sets. This offers the possibility of creating very large quantities of image data, with the use and storage of these data becoming a key issue within a clinical setting.

2.1.5. Automatic exposure control

Recently, it has been possible to control automatically the tube voltage (kV), tube current (mA) and exposure time (s) to suit individual patient sizes, from patient to patient, along a specific patient or through different angles at any particular cross-sectional position. This is often described as a form of automatic exposure control (AEC) [9–11] similar in concept to that used in regular radiography. There are a number of ways that this is achieved, including the use of X ray tube current modulation that responds to measured patient attenuation

conditions [12, 13]. Some scanners use the SPR view to determine exposure conditions, and many scanners require operator input to function. The use of automatic functions should be fully understood and their dose implications investigated before being put into general use.

2.2. CT SCANNERS IN RADIOTHERAPY TREATMENT PLANNING

Shortly after the introduction of clinical CT scanners in the early 1970s, it was realized that this imaging modality has much to offer in a radiation oncology setting. CT images provide volumetric information not only about tumour (target) volumes but also about normal (critical) structures. The use of CT images in radiotherapy treatment planning has improved dose delivery to target volumes while reducing the dose to critical organs. CT images can be converted to provide relative electron density information for heterogeneity based dose calculations. However, CT image contrast is based on relative X ray attenuation and so, in some cases, CT soft tissue contrast is not sufficient. This limitation can be overcome by using CT images in conjunction with magnetic resonance studies for treatment planning. PET images can be used to add physiological information.

Tatcher [14] proposed treatment simulation with CT scanners. This short article described the feasibility of CT simulation and indicated the potential economic and treatment planning benefits. In 1983, Goitein and Abrams [15, 16] further described multidimensional treatment planning based on CT images. Sherouse et al. [17, 18] went on to describe a CT image based virtual simulation process which they referred to as a "software analog to a conventional simulation". This series of publications described software tools and addressed technical issues that affect today's CT simulation process. The manuscripts pointed out the need not only for fast computers and specialized software, but also for improved patient immobilization and set-up reproducibility.

CT simulators have matured to a point where they are one of the cornerstones of modern radiation oncology facilities. Today's systems incorporate specially designed large bore CT scanners, MDCT scanners, high quality laser positioning systems and sophisticated virtual simulation packages. Figure 7 shows a modern CT scanner equipped with a flat couch top and an external patient positioning and marking laser system.

Additional virtual simulation software features and functions along with increased efficiency and flexibility have enabled CT simulators to replace conventional simulators in many facilities. This trend seems to be further fuelled by the increased demand for imaging studies for conformal three dimensional



(b)

FIG. 7. CT simulator equipped with a flat couch top, external patient positioning/marking system and movable lasers (a) and fixed wall lasers (b) and specialized CT simulation software. (Courtesy: Philips Medical Systems.)

(3-D) and intensity modulated radiation therapy treatment planning where conventional simulators are of limited value [19].

The implementation of CT simulation and a treatment planning process varies greatly between radiation oncology departments. This diversity is in part driven by significant technical differences between simulation and treatment planning systems offered by different manufacturers and by the technology available at various facilities. Furthermore, the difference in implementation is affected by whether the scanner is used for diagnostic and radiotherapy imaging or for radiotherapy imaging alone. This publication addresses QA concerns for various available technologies and clinical settings.

3. PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS IN CT

3.1. SCAN AND PATIENT POSITIONING ACCURACY

3.1.1. CT alignment lights, SPR accuracy

All scanners have patient positioning lights which identify the tomographic plane. These are often referred to as the 'internal lights'. There are often other lights that identify the sagittal and coronal planes, as well as a further set of lights identifying a transaxial plane, set at a fixed distance from the tomographic plane. These are usually called the 'external' lights. Once a patient or phantom is aligned to the external lights, the tomographic plane, as defined by the internal lights, can usually be reached by a single button press.

Testing the quality of the scanner involves establishing a level of certainty in the position of the scanner lights and their accuracy against requirements.

The lights are either tungsten or laser. (Where laser lights are used, safety aspects need to be considered. Generally, the lights are classified as safe for use where the blink reflex is used as the body's natural protection. Care is needed for unconscious or anaesthetized patients).

In clinical practice, the lights are usually used as a rough guide for setting up the patient. The patient is first aligned on the scanner couch using the scanner tomographic plane lights, in order to establish which region of the body to scan, to centre the patient to the isocentre for best image quality and sometimes to avoid irradiating the eyes in brain scanning. Precise preparation for cross-sectional CT scanning is taken from the SPR, and this is used to define the beginning and the ends of the required scanned volume.

When carrying out a number of tests on a scanner, it can be helpful to perform the light alignment checks first, in order that the lights can be used to assist in setting up the phantoms.

Clinically accurate light positioning is required in diagnostic imaging for biopsy location and for avoiding radiosensitive organs such as the eyes in brain scanning.

3.1.2. External CT positioning lasers for radiotherapy positioning

When a scanner is used for radiotherapy treatment planning purposes, the accuracy required for an external positioning marker is such that a set of laser lights is usually fixed to the walls and ceiling. These are then adjusted and set independent of those in the gantry housing. (These latter lights can be prone to accidental misalignment during a scanner service.) However, they can be tested in the same way as those that are integral to the scanner.

The external patient positioning/marking lasers consist of three sets of lasers: axial, coronal and sagittal. The lasers can be fixed or movable (Fig. 7). It is common for the sagittal laser to be movable in either direction. This feature is needed to enable marks to be placed on the patient's skin away from the midline and, since the CT couch tops do not move in a lateral direction, it is desirable for the sagittal laser to be movable. The other two wall lasers can be movable as well, but this feature is far less critical since the couch moves in these two directions.

External patient positioning/marking lasers for radiotherapy applications are used to establish a relationship between marks on the patient's skin (which are used for positioning in radiotherapy treatment) and anatomy on the CT images. It is often necessary for the accuracy of this relationship to be within 2 mm. Therefore, the relationship between the external lasers and the CT tomographic plane should be accurate to within 2 mm. With correct alignment and verification procedures, this accuracy should be easily achievable.

Other than quantitative CT number accuracy, geometric imaging accuracy, and the need for a flat couch top, the alignment of external lasers with the CT tomographic plane is probably the most significant difference between diagnostic and radiotherapy CT performance specifications. Inaccurate alignment of external lasers and the CT tomographic plane can be a significant source of systematic errors in radiotherapy treatments.

3.2. IMAGE QUALITY

3.2.1. CT number

The CT number (H_s) of a sample of material s is defined by the expression:

$$H_{\rm s} = \mathbf{K} \frac{\mu_{\rm s}(\mathbf{E}) - \mu_{\rm w}(\mathbf{E})}{\mu_{\rm w}(\mathbf{E})} \tag{1}$$

where $\mu_s(E)$ and $\mu_w(E)$ are the linear attenuation coefficients at the energy of the X ray beam for water and the scanned sample, respectively and K is a constant, which has a value of 1000 if the CT value scale is in Hounsfield units.

The Hounsfield unit scale is the accepted scale on all modern CT units. The exceptions were for very early scanners and for a very few modern scanners where the K factor is halved in the application of certain high resolution convolution kernels.

From Eq. (1), the CT number for water is zero and, since the attenuation is negligible for air, the CT number (Hounsfield unit) for air is -1000.

The attenuation process for CT is dominated by Compton interactions for soft tissue, with some photoelectric interactions for materials of higher atomic number (Z). Compton interactions are independent of atomic number, proportional to electron density and inversely proportional to the energy, E. The photoelectric effect is approximately proportional to $(Z/E)^3$.

In radiotherapy treatment planning, in order to compute the treatment dose distribution from a CT image, the relationship between relative electron density and CT number needs to be established, since the Compton effect is the predominant X ray interaction at radiotherapy energies.

3.2.2. Image noise

When a uniform material is imaged on a CT scanner, examination of the CT values for individual pixels in a localized area shows that the CT numbers are not all the same, but fluctuate around a mean value (Fig. 8). This random variation is known as image noise and is due primarily to the statistical nature of X ray production and interaction with matter. It is also known as quantum noise.



FIG. 8. Variation in grey level from a water phantom (CT number).

In addition, other sources of noise may include structured noise or artefacts and electronic noise³.

In this publication the **definition of noise as the standard deviation of Hounsfield numbers** (σ) within a region of interest (ROI) is adopted [7]. However, in order to make a direct comparison between CT scanners with different contrast scales, a normalized standard deviation, *S*, is required:

$$S = \frac{\sigma_{water}}{CT_{scale}} \times 100\%$$
⁽²⁾

where σ_{water} is the standard deviation of the pixel values within an ROI and

$$CT_{scale} = CT_{water} - CT_{air}$$
(3)

where CT_{water} and CT_{air} are the CT values obtained for water and air, respectively.

Since, by definition, water has a value of zero and air a value of -1000 when measured in Hounsfield units, then CT_{scale} has a value of 1000. Therefore, the normalized standard deviation becomes a very simple calculation. Some manufacturers, however, halve the CT number range for certain high resolution modes, which can be confusing when no indication is given to the user and needs to be considered in the normalized standard deviation calculation.

The percentage normalized standard deviation is identical to The American Association of Physicists in Medicine expression, σ_{uw} % [21], providing that the CT_{scale} is linear with respect to the linear attenuation coefficient.

³ Electronic noise is found to be minimal for modern scanners [20], although it can become more significant when scanning at very low tube currents.

3.2.3. Contrast to noise ratio (CNR)

CT scanning utilizes a large photon flux in acquisition in order to achieve low noise images. However, this results in higher patient doses. These images allow the identification of low contrast structures, reflecting very small differences in photon attenuation in the tissue due to composition or density differences. While the image noise in a uniform material is usually a good indicator of the ability to visualize small contrasts in diagnostic images, a more versatile measure is that of CNR. To measure CNR, the contrast of two objects is determined by the difference of the mean CT numbers within selected ROIs and is divided by the average noise for these two ROIs:

$$CNR = \frac{CT_1 - CT_2}{(\sigma_1 + \sigma_2)/2}$$
(4)

This parameter is useful when optimizing a CT examination protocol for a particular contrast situation e.g. tissue density contrast, iodine contrast and air tissue contrast.

3.2.4. Uniformity of image noise and CT number

A scan of a water filled phantom should give a CT image with similar pixel values, and similar amounts of noise, across the whole field of view. However, in practice, scans of uniform phantoms often show gradual variations of CT number and noise values across the image.

These variations may be particularly noticeable when the uniform phantom is surrounded by a high contrast material, such as cortical bone substitute material. Variation is also noticeable at the extremities of large phantoms, particularly when an exceptionally large phantom is used to investigate the extended fields of view used on the large bore scanners that are sold for radiotherapy use.

If a phantom, or patient, is not centred at the isocentre, a more pronounced variation of CT number and image noise is also likely to be observed.

The uniformity of CT number is of importance when the scanner is used for quantitative assessment of CT values, particularly for radiotherapy.

3.2.5. Image artefacts

Artefacts are features on the image which do not represent true tissue structure. At best they are a nuisance to the radiologist trying to interpret the image; at worst they are misleading and give rise to false or missed diagnoses.

There are a number of causes of image artefacts. To avoid them, as much as possible, it is essential to have a good installation process, give attention to electronic components and servicing, and conduct regular calibration. At installation, it is essential that room preparation be carefully considered. The room must be stable, level and able to withstand the weight of the scanner. During assembly, the alignment of components is critical and scans must be carefully examined during the acceptance and early clinical phase to check for any indication in phantom images. Electronic component failure or poor board connections can give rise to artefacts. Regular calibration by the servicing engineer and daily calibration by the radiographer will avoid certain artefacts occurring. Visual artefacts may appear due to the quality of the image monitor. The image display monitor, therefore, needs to be included in the whole QA/QC programme.

Image artefacts in CT are generally separated into four descriptive categories; streaking, shading, rings and aliasing. They generally have a variety of causes [22].

Streaking artefacts tend to be caused by inconsistencies in neighbouring projections, either by a high attenuating region such as a metallic implant, or by patient movement. These can also be caused by scanner movement or misalignment of the equipment.

Shading artefacts tend to be due to inappropriate beam hardening corrections, giving a gradual change in accurate CT numbers across a phantom or patient. It is normal practice for calibrations to be carried out by the installation engineer for every scanning factor or combination that will be used in clinical protocols (e.g. voltage (kV), current (mA), slice thickness), to ensure that the correct beam hardening factors are implemented.

Ring artefacts are very common and are generated by detectors that have differing sensitivities relative to each other. The easiest way to avoid most of these is to ensure that the 'air calibrations' are run whenever required by the scanner manufacturer; this is usually once a day, or sometimes more frequently or when flagged by the system.

Aliasing artefacts generally appear with high resolution algorithms and merely show the mismatch of the physical aperture to the mathematical filter applied to the projections.

Some examples of artefacts are shown in Figs 9–12.

3.2.6. Spatial resolution

Spatial resolution is the ability of the CT system to create an image of an object without loss of spatial information or 'blurring'. It usually refers to high contrast objects and is defined in the tomographic plane, although 3-D scan reconstruction allows spatial resolution to be considered more generally.⁴ The determination of spatial resolution can be made through the use of a high contrast test object through visual inspection or computation to compute the modulation transfer function (MTF) [23, 24], or with the use of an appropriate test object to



FIG. 9. Examples of streaking artefacts caused by (a) highly attenuated projections through the lateral view of the thorax and (b) patient movement.



FIG. 10. Example of (a) beam hardening artefact through a water filled phantom and (b) after beam hardening correction applied.

⁴ Resolution in the axial direction is often termed z axis resolution and is determined by the imaged slice width. Modern MDCT scanners should be capable of achieving isotropic resolution where the z axis resolution is equal to, or approaches, the tomographic plane resolution. This is essential for good quality multiplanar and 3-D reconstructions.



FIG. 11. Example of ring artefacts in a water filled phantom.



FIG. 12. Example of aliasing artefact.

compute the MTF. The MTF is commonly derived from the image of a bead or wire to give a point spread function (or of an edge to give an edge spread function). Standard methods are then used to compute the MTF from either the point spread function or the edge spread function. Comparisons can then be made of the frequencies at which the MTF curve falls to the 50% and 10% levels. If a high contrast test object is used, the resulting quantity is line pairs per millimetre (lp/cm), and if MTF is determined, the quantity is cycles per centimetre (c/cm).

Calculating the MTF is critically dependent on the ability to access the numerical data and the scanner, as well as having a suitable analysis program [4]. This has become less of a problem in recent years with the advent of the DICOM image transfer standard and the availability of functional software on personal computers. Only one or two manufacturers calculate the MTF as a standard facility on their QC software packages.

3.2.7. Partial volume effects

The partial volume effect, often mentioned in relation to the artefact that it creates, is a consequence of the finite thickness of a CT slice or can be considered as a type of blurring in the *z* axis. This effect is prominent when viewing objects that are only partially within the image slice, or that are smaller than the image slice thickness. For example, a small blood vessel filled with iodine will have a reduced contrast in a thick slice compared with a thin slice, owing to the overlying tissue of the thick slice 'averaging' the density over the full voxel.

Consequently, the use of thin slices reduces this effect considerably, although it comes at the cost of either higher noise or higher patient dose. The spatial resolution in a CT image is currently limited to approximately 0.5 mm, which is inferior to most other radiological procedures but better than that possible with radioisotope imaging. CT scanners can also acquire slices of thin tissue thickness (minimum 0.5 mm), which allows very precise cross-sectional delineation of structures without interference from partial volume effects.

3.3. CT DOSE

Dosimetry for CT has recently been specified by the International Commission on Radiation Units and Measurements [25] with a complementary code of practice recently published by the IAEA [26]. In these publications, the use of a dose index is formulated that can be a powerful tool in the optimization of CT examinations. The use of these indicators to obtain organ and tissue information is discussed briefly in Section 3.3.3.

3.3.1. Standard CT dosimetry

The CT air kerma index, $C_{a,100}$, measured free-in-air for a single rotation of a CT scanner is the quotient of the integral of the air kerma (K(z)) along a line parallel to the axis of rotation of the scanner over a length of 100 mm and the total collimated beam width, NT, where N is the number of data slices or tomographic sections and T is the nominal detector width. The integration range is positioned symmetrically about the volume scanned, thus

$$C_{a,100} = \frac{1}{NT} \int_{-50}^{+50} K(z) dz$$
(5)

The CT air kerma index is also measured inside PMMA head and body phantoms and is defined similarly to $C_{a,100}$ (Eq. (1)). The notation $C_{PMMA,100}$ is used as shown in Fig. 13.



FIG. 13. Profile of air kerma, K(z) measured in the standard CT dosimetry phantom along an axis parallel to the CT scanner axis (z) for a single CT slice of nominal width T mm. The CT air kerma index, $C_{PMMA,100}$ is obtained by integrating the air kerma over a length (L) of 100 mm (reproduced from Ref. [26]).
The weighted CT air kerma index, $C_{\rm w}$, combines values of $C_{\rm PMMA,100}$ measured at the centre and periphery of a standard computed tomography dosimetry phantom [27–30]. It is given by

$$C_{\rm w} = \frac{1}{3} \Big(C_{\rm PMMA,100,c} + 2 \ C_{\rm PMMA,100,p} \Big)$$
(6)

The quantity $C_{\text{PMMA,100,c}}$ is measured at the centre of the standard CT dosimetry phantom and $C_{\text{PMMA,100,p}}$ is the average of the values measured at four positions around the periphery of the same phantom. A weighted "computed tomography dose index" was first introduced by Leitz et al. [31] and is used in an IEC report [30] and the European CT dosimetry protocol [28] (see Table 1 for a comparison of the units).

The subscript *n* is used to denote when the value of $C_{a,100}$ or C_w has been normalized [28] to unit tube current–exposure time product, P_{II} , thus

$${}_{n}C_{w} = \frac{C_{w}}{P_{It}} : {}_{n}C_{a,100} = \frac{C_{a,100}}{P_{It}}$$
(7)

A further quantity, $C_{\rm VOL}$, takes into account the helical pitch or axial scan spacing [30, 32], thus

$$C_{\text{VOL}} = C_{\text{w}} \frac{NT}{l} = \frac{C_{\text{w}}}{p}; \quad {}_{n}C_{\text{VOL}} = \frac{C_{\text{VOL}}}{P_{\text{It}}}$$
(8)

where

N is the number of simultaneously acquired tomographic slices;

T is the nominal slice thickness;

l is the distance moved by the patient couch per helical rotation or between consecutive scans for a series of axial scans;

 $P_{\rm It}$ is the tube loading for a single axial scan.

The quantity

$$p = \frac{l}{NT} \tag{9}$$

is known as the CT pitch factor (or pitch) for helical scanning.

TABLE 1. COMPARISON OF IAEA ANI) IEC DOSIMETRY TERMINOLOGY USE	D IN CT
Quantity	IAEA	IEC
Measured free-in-air:		
CT air kerma index	$C_{ m a,100} = rac{1}{NT} \int_{-50}^{+50} K({ m z}) { m d}{ m z}$	$\text{CTDI}_{\text{air}} = 1/NT \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} K_{\text{a}}(z) \mathrm{d}z$
Measured in standard phantom:		ş
Weighted CT air kerma index	$C_{\rm w} = \frac{1}{3} \Big(C_{\rm PMMA, 100,c} + 2 \ C_{\rm PMMA, 100,p} \Big)$	$CTDI_{w} = 1/3 CTDI_{100,c} + 2/3 CTDI_{100,p}$
Normalized weighted CT air kerma index	"Сw	$_{n}$ CTDI $_{w}$
Volume CT air kerma index	Cvol	CTDI _{VOL}
CT air kerma-length product	$P_{\rm KL,CT} = \sum_{j} {}_{n} C_{\rm VOL_{j}} l_{j} P_{\rm IL_{j}}$	$DLP = CTDI_{VOL}L$

The CT air kerma–length product, determined for the standard CT dosimetry phantom and a complete CT examination, $P_{\rm KL,CT}$, is calculated using

$$P_{\text{KL,CT}} = \sum_{j} {}_{n} C_{\text{VOL}_{j}} l_{j} P_{\text{It}_{j}}$$
(10)

where the index *j* represents each serial or helical scan sequence forming part of the examination, l_j is the distance moved by the patient couch between or during consecutive scanner rotations and P_{lt_j} is the total tube loading for scan sequence *j*. This quantity is analogous to the 'dose length product' introduced in EC guidelines [28] and used in the IEC CT safety and performance standard [33].

3.3.2. Understanding the concepts of CT dosimetry indices

The CT air kerma index (or CTDI) is calculated from a measurement made with a pencil ion chamber, irradiated by a single rotation of the X ray beam, at the central position along the chamber's length. The integration length in the definition of C (or CTDI) matches the length of the pencil ion chamber (100 mm).

The interpretation of this measurement is that it gives an equivalent value to the z average dose at the central slice position, as though a 100 mm length had been scanned with contiguous X ray slices.

The weighted value (C_w) looks at the CT air kerma value in a phantom, and takes into account the variation in dose over the cross-section of the phantom. So it represents an averaged x–y plane (scan plane) dose, averaged along the z axis at the central slice position, as though a 100 mm length had been scanned with contiguous X ray slices.

The volume CT air kerma index (C_{VOL}) goes further, considering the CT air kerma value in a phantom, but in this instance taking into account non-contiguous irradiations along the z axis, i.e. pitch. It therefore represents the average of the dose in the x-y plane and the z average dose at the central slice position as though a 100 mm length had been scanned at a given pitch.

3.3.3. Dosimetry for CT scanners with large collimation beam widths

The early development of the CTDI started when the slice width of a CT scanner was typically 10 mm or less. It was originally developed for head scans and the integration length was selected to be similar to the length of a head examination. It was subsequently changed to 100 mm with the development of the 100 mm pencil ion chamber. The contribution of radiation falling outside the active length of the pencil chamber was considered negligible for beam widths up

to about 20 mm. However, with the advent of MDCT scanners with collimation beam widths of up to 40 mm, there was concern that there would be more scatter not included in this measurement and calculation. However, it has since become apparent that beam widths up to about 80 mm are equivalent in the proportion of radiation that is excluded [34, 35].

In addition, for all these beam widths there is a significant amount of radiation not included in the measurement of $C_{\text{PMMA,100}}$ and this leads to a systematic difference in dose compared with a long integration length. This underestimate is of the order of 30–40% for a body phantom and 10–20% for a head phantom [34, 35].

The maximum dose values are reached at the equivalent irradiation lengths of 300 mm for the body phantom and 160 mm for the head phantom.

In concept, the CT air kerma index (or the CTDI in other terminology) represents the average dose in the central slice of a 100 mm scanned volume. The CT air kerma index does not represent the average dose in the central slice region for a longer scanned volume.

The current use of cone beam scanner technology with collimation beam widths of 160 mm, for example, clearly demonstrates the deficiencies of the standard CT dosimetry methodology.

The IEC has proposed a solution to this problem [36], one which has been adopted and expanded on by the IAEA [37] as an interim solution pending the emergence of an alternative dosimetric model. This methodology gives two interpretations of the definition of $\text{CTDI}_{w}(C_w)$ depending on the beam width. For beams of less than 40 mm, the conventional definition is given. For a beam width greater than 40 mm, C_w can be written as:

$$C_{\rm w,NT} = C_{\rm w,Ref} \times \left(\frac{C_{\rm a,100,NT}}{C_{\rm a,100,Ref}}\right)$$
(11)

where $C_{w,NT}$ is the weighted CT air kerma index for a beam width of NT mm (if NT > 40 mm), $C_{w,Ref}$ is the weighted CT air kerma index for a reference beam width of 20 mm (or closest possible below 20 mm), and similarly, $C_{a,100,NT}$ is the CT air kerma index measured free-in-air with a 100 mm integration length chamber for a beam width of NT mm and $C_{a,100,Ref}$ is a similar quantity at the reference beam width. The methodology on measurement techniques is given in Ref. [37].

Others have advocated the use of pencil chambers with 300 mm of active length. These detectors also require phantoms of up to 350–450 mm in length. The use of small (point) detectors, along with a new dosimetry formalism, is also currently being actively pursued [35, 38, 39]. However, recent work [40] has

brought into focus the large dose variations found at, and near, the surface of phantoms undergoing CT scanning on MDCT scanners, which may limit the use of small detectors for general dosimetry unless a tightly overlapping pitch is used for the measurement.

3.3.4. Calculation of organ doses from CT scanners

It must be remembered that measures such as $C_{\rm VOL}$ are indicators of dose only. They are measured within a standard sized PMMA phantom, and represent the dose as though a 100 mm length of the phantom had been scanned. Although they are not measures of the dose to organs or tissue received by the patient, or even a population of patients, they do, however, have a use in comparison of doses delivered by different scanners and protocols.

While organ doses can be measured for specific patient categories with the use of thermoluminescent dosimeters and appropriate anthropomorphic phantoms [41], the use of Monte Carlo modelling is a more usual approach. To date, a number of centres [42, 43] have used mathematical models to simulate typical patients and determine conversion factors that allow organ dose to be calculated from a reference dosimetry index, such as $C_{a,100}$ or C_w for a given set of scanner factors, patient position variables and scan length parameters. This process has been described in the literature [1] and has been applied to a variety of patient models [44–46] and includes paediatric dose estimation. A number of calculation engines are available, as listed in Appendix IV. As mentioned above, the viability of these conversion factors is currently problematic for some MDCT scanners owing to the wide beam widths, variability of peripheral dose patterns and use of modulating tube current under the control of automatic exposure systems.

3.3.5. Dose calculations for CT scanners using some form of AEC

Dose calculations are necessarily more complicated when AEC systems are in place. Dose distribution within a slice will change with rotational aspects of AEC systems and will change along the patient with the z axis modulated tube current. Detailed analysis can be undertaken by investigating the average tube current for each slice, which is often given. However, this can be time consuming. Also, the information on the rotational variation of the tube current is often not available or accessible.

Depending on the requirement, some pragmatic approaches can be taken. For example, either the average tube current can be used or, since the maximum and minimum current values are often given, best case and worst-case calculations can be undertaken. This is usually sufficient for most purposes.

3.3.6. Dose parameters and DICOM headers

A DICOM standard supplement was issued in 2007 for the reporting of dose parameters in CT [47].

This requires a report summary to be given for the whole patient examination and the accumulated dose applied. The patient information, the patient study information and the general equipment information is stored within the general part of the structured report.

For each CT acquisition (irradiation event), it is required that the CTDI_{VOL} and dose–length product be stated, along with the corresponding CTDI_{air}

Also, the total dose–length product of a patient examination is given and the accumulated irradiation effective dose in millisieverts may also be given. This is optional and, if given, the method of evaluation needs to be stated.

The supplement requires that examination details be given, including: the type of examination, the patient region examined, the parameters of dose evaluation, the dose of a single event and the information relating to the acquisition sequence (sequential, helical or fluoroscopy). Work on refining the DICOM header for CT and associated structured reports on dose is ongoing.

4. CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE SELECTION OF A CT UNIT

4.1. FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN CHOOSING A CT SYSTEM

While CT has been a mature imaging modality for a long time, technological developments in this field continue to be rapid and broad based. Current and past commercial offerings range from single slice to multidetector scanners with a multitude of X ray tubes, generators, detector types, reconstruction hardware and software, gantry sizes, filming/archiving options and accessory offerings. No single scanner is ideal for all clinical settings and requirements. Selection of an inadequate scanner can result in unnecessary upfront and reccurring expenses, inability to provide adequate support and maintenance of the scanner and, most importantly, an inability to provide optimal service to patients. Selection of an ideal scanner for an individual facility can be a daunting task and involves consideration of factors such as clinical needs and technical parameters, operational setting, and staff and cost considerations.

4.1.1. Clinical needs

Consideration of an individual institution's clinical needs should be the primary concern in all CT scanner selection processes. The commercially available equipment is designed to meet diverse clinical needs, with some software and hardware applications being highly specialized with respect to specific medical procedures. Evaluation of clinical needs includes consideration of:

- (a) Patient workload: The numbers of patients examined on a CT scanner in a clinical practice varies considerably. Often, new scanners are required in response to an increased demand for services. Clearly, the need for rapid scans and rapid image reconstruction will be partially driven by daily patient workload. Less busy clinics may be able to function quite well with slower image acquisition and reconstruction options. An exception here is scanners which will be used for emergency/trauma and cardiac scanning, where speed may be a critical requirement. Image storage capacity and the size of the image database will also be driven by the number of scanned patients.
- (b) Patient population: CT scanners are offered with a variety of X ray generator and X ray tube configurations. Some of these configurations offer the capability for generation and maintenance of high tube currents (mA) for long periods of time. These systems are designed to accommodate populations where the average patient is larger than the standard 70 kg patient or where long scan volumes or prolonged scanning is needed. Larger X ray generators and X ray tubes may not be needed in regions where average patient size is less and where long scan volumes and prolonged scanning are not utilized [48].
- (c) Clinical applications: All manufacturers offer scanner hardware and software features which are designed for specific clinical applications (cardiology, neurology, angiography, thoracic imaging, virtual endoscopy, orthopaedics, trauma, image guidance of interventional procedures, oncology, etc.) [49]. A key element to the selection of the uses to which the CT scanner is to be put is the effect the services of the scanner will have on existing and future services and the general reduction in hospitalization due to the non-invasive nature of CT procedures. All involved clinical departments should be consulted when selecting a CT scanner to ensure that their individual needs are met. This should be performed as early as possible, as delays may result in wasted efforts or inability to evaluate desired features adquately. Examples of the complexity of requirements range from 2-D reconstructions that are available from the scanner console

to 3-D constructions and software packages that are often carried out on an ancillary computer workstation. The range of computer software packages is extensive and usually optional. While inclusion of unnecessary options typically results only in increased cost and complexity of operation, exclusion of necessary features can result in suboptimal patient care and inability to perform certain procedures. Special radiation oncology considerations are addressed in Section 4.2.

(d) Technical parameters: The technical parameters given consideration when selecting a CT scanner are substantial and include the total scan time and scan length, scanner image quality and radiation dose issues [50–54]. Expert advice should be sought from a knowledgeable and independent source, such as a medical physicist specializing in diagnostic radiology.

4.1.2. Operational setting

The design of scanner installations in individual institutions, their integration with other health care facilities, an understanding of the patient and information workflow and a proper regard for maintenance, safety and quality all affect CT scanner utility and long term operation.

Scanner installation and environmental conditions: The installation process (a) should ideally be under the direction of a project manager. Many support departments in a facility need to be considered and coordinated, including technology, radiation archive information safety. picture and communication systems (PACS) and radiology information systems (RIS) managers. The scanner location must be carefully considered with regard to the ease of patient transfer to the scanner. CT systems require stable and controlled environmental conditions, particularly in relation to the power supply⁵, a dust free environment, air conditioning, appropriate lighting, appropriate reporting areas and adequate radiation shielding [55, 56]. Ancillary equipment such as computers and cooling equipment may also be required and their position determined by the requirements of the manufacturer. Other ancillary equipment such as contrast pumps, fluoroscopy systems, emergency cardiac resuscitation systems and life support systems are usually found in the scan room. Other items, such as CT scanner workstations [57] and PACS workstations (see below), hard copy devices and histology stations are located outside the scan room.

 $^{^{5}}$ In some cases, it may be necessary to upgrade the power supply or to use a power conditioner before installation.

- Availability of support, consumables and maintenance: A system should be (b) chosen that can be adequately supported at the location of the institution. The performance of a CT system can only be realized consistently if the system is maintained properly and software is kept current by timely updates. While a manufacturer may provide service in a particular area, it may not always have enough adequately trained staff to support unique and advanced models. Routine service for a well utilized scanner can be quite frequent (every 2-6 months). Such maintenance is usually covered by a contract which may or may not include the cost of parts and repairs. The response time to a breakdown should also be included in the contract. Consumable costs should also be considered and these would include contrast agents, saline, cannulae, etc. Storage media may also be a consumable. If not mentioned in a maintenance agreement the X ray tube may also be considered a consumable. If maintenance is to be carried out 'in house', then the purchase agreement should include adequate training for staff.
- (c) *Patient workflow*: The installation of a new CT scanner can be seen as an opportunity to change and increase patient throughput [58, 59]. Key elements involved in these changes include: assigning a scan protocol at the acceptance of the referral, scheduling of patients, patient preparation, scan set-up (which may come from the RIS or PACS) and image reconstruction.
- (d) Local environment for image reading and information workflow: The use of soft copy reporting with appropriate display systems is strongly encouraged as part of an integrated information flow system. In fact, much of the functionality of an MDCT comes from the capability to review many images rapidly (see below). If circumstances make it essential that film images be made for diagnosis, it must be considered that there are significant difficulties with film processing to be overcome [60], as well as the consumable cost of film materials.

Modern MDCT scanners generate numerous images and special attention needs to be given to the configuration of the information flow, as outlined in Fig. 14. Immediate questions that need to be addressed include the location of the reporting areas, the identification of which images will be reported on, and what data will be saved and where.



FIG. 14. An example of a simple option for information workflow (reproduced from Ref. [50] with permission).

The display system plays a major role in the overall performance of a CT scanner, both in terms of the ease of image interpretation and the image quality presented to the radiologist. For all diagnostic interpretation (reporting), the viewing conditions must be optimal, with low ambient lighting levels and no surfaces that allow light reflection.

For optimal information flow, it is recommended that reporting be done on a PACS or CT scanner workstation with integrated RIS capability [61]. The management of the generated CT data and the integration with the RIS and PACS systems are critical. A CT scanner can produce up to 12 GB of image data every day for storage. A policy for both short term and long term storage is needed [62] and the use of the PACS system (if available) is an important consideration. Alternatively, local backup storage may be considered. If images are to be sent to external clients, this may require a facility to burn data discs with automatic labelling if possible.

Integration of the CT scanner with other systems: As mentioned above, the (e) CT scanner will typically be integrated with other information systems within the department and hospital, such as the PACS, RIS and hospital information system and possibly with external facilities. Most CT scanners have the required capability for system integration on the console, as well as at specialist workstations. Image data exchange between systems has been standardized through compliance with DICOM standards. While the majority of scanners manufactured after 2000 should have suitable DICOM compliance, older models often do not have full DICOM capability and interfacing with some other products is not possible. Patient information, including the final report, is managed by HL7 systems [63]. An overarching framework is provided by Integrating the Healthcare Enterprise (IHE), which is a global initiative designed to advance the state of data integration in health care across all hospital systems and promote the coordinated use of established information standards, such as DICOM and HL7, through common functional profiles [64]. Specialist knowledge is required to ensure that data exchanges can be achieved between a CT installation and existing hospital systems.

Confidentiality and data security are important issues, particularly in a digital environment. It is the responsibility of all health professionals to ensure that identifiable patient data are kept confidential.

(f) *QC*, *safety and dose monitoring*: QA is covered elsewhere. Safety includes infection control within the scanner facility. Patient dose should be the responsibility of the medical physicist and can be inferred from phantom measurement and particularly from patient dose audits. Increasingly, the DICOM header is used to store important scan data that can include parameters used for patient dose (C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL}), P_{KL} (DLP) etc.). This feature needs to be considered if automatic patient dose assessment is to be contemplated.

4.1.3. Staff considerations

It is also essential to consider the staffing requirements for a CT scanner and the need for specialist training to read CT images and to operate and maintain the CT equipment. Well-trained and experienced personnel (radiologist, radiographer, medical physicist) are required. This will include training on the specific scanner, which is usually provided by the manufacturer as part of the purchase package. This training is usually conducted in three phases: prior to installation on a similar system located elsewhere, at installation and then a few weeks after clinical services have begun. Staff with training in IT are essential [65]. For in-house servicing, training of the service engineers is also essential.

4.1.4. Cost considerations

A cost effectiveness analysis is essential before the purchase of a CT scanner. Cost does not necessarily correlate with equipment quality and clinical utility, therefore equipment selection purely on a cost basis should be avoided. Cost can be classified as capital costs, recurrent costs and hidden costs. A full estimate of total costs over the expected life of the scanner should be performed and included in the purchasing decision.

- (a) *Capital costs*: These are costs incurred only at the time of purchase, although they may be paid over a number of years. Key components in these costs are the CT scanner, consisting of gantry, couch, console and computers; CT scanner workstations and installation costs. Other important costs include ancillary equipment, accessories, additional clinical application software, additional hardware and licences for remote access and staff training. The cost of disposal of existing equipment should also be considered.
- (b) *Recurrent costs*: These costs include scanner service and maintenance, replacement X ray tube (if not included in the maintenance agreement), contrast injector pump and consumables, staff costs and energy costs.
- (c) Hidden costs: These are sometimes overlooked in the project analysis. The following list of possible additional costs should be considered. These include the possible upgrading of the power supply for the scanner, including specialist requirements for power cables; building works, including radiation shielding and load bearing considerations; system integration with existing information systems (noted above); networking costs; PACS storage; increased cost of patient movement; additional patient preparation and waiting facilities; increased reporting facilities; desktop computer upgrades; scanner software upgrades and licences if not covered in maintenance contracts.

4.2. SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR RADIOTHERAPY CT SELECTION

In the late 1990s, the imaging equipment manufacturers began designing major devices (CT, magnetic resonance and PET scanners) specifically for radiation therapy or with radiation therapy needs in mind. This paradigm change

resulted in a variety of imaging devices available for radiation therapy simulation, ranging from conventional single slice CT scanners to large bore multidetector scanners [66] with specialized radiotherapy software.

As discussed in Sections 2.2 and 3.1.2, the CT scanner used for radiotherapy should include a laser-patient positioning/marking system, a flat couch top and possibly virtual simulation/3-D treatment planning software (Fig. 7(b)) and 4-D capacity. Considerations for radiotherapy CT scanner features should include: bore (gantry opening) size, tube heat capacity, couch top, patient marking lasers, CT simulation software, contouring and localization of structures, image processing and display, and simulator geometry.

- Bore size: Conventional CT scanners typically have a 70 cm bore. For the (a) vast majority of procedures, a 70 cm bore size which typically allows objects with a largest dimension of 50 cm is sufficient. However, one of the requirements in the treatment of several cancer sites (breast, lung, vulva, for example) is for extremities to be positioned away from the torso. Another case is that of head and neck patients scanned in immobilization devices. When acquiring a CT scan with a patient in such treatment positions, extremities often cannot fit through a conventional 70 cm diameter scanner bore opening. In such situations, patient positioning needs to be modified to acquire the scan. This can result in a less than optimal treatment position (the patient may be less comfortable and therefore the daily set-up reproducibility may be compromised) or in a mismatch between the imaging and treatment positions. For treatment planning purposes, it is desirable to have the full extent of the patient's skin on the CT image. Lateral patient separation can often be larger than 50 cm. Large bore CT scanners (>70 cm diameter bores) were specifically designed with radiation therapy needs in mind and have increased the available scan field of view (SFOV). However, at extended SFOV, the validity of quantitative CT values comes into question. CT numbers for some scanners are accurate only for smaller SFOVs and the values towards the periphery of large SFOV images are not reliable. This can be a concern for some dose calculation algorithms because inaccurate CT numbers can lead to dose calculation errors. The impact of CT number accuracy for increased SFOV images on dose calculation accuracy should be evaluated during scanner commissioning [67].
- (b) Tube heat capacity: Compared with diagnostic scanning, radiotherapy image acquisition often requires longer scan volumes, with thinner slices (preferably 3 mm), which should be acquired in the shortest possible time to minimize spatial deformations due to patient motion. Acquiring a large number of images in a short time is often beyond the heat storage capacity

of single slice CT scanner X ray tubes. Often, fewer images are taken, slice thickness is increased, the image quality is decreased (reduced mAs), or scan pitch is increased to reduce the amount of heat produced during the scan and to allow for the entire scan to be acquired in a single acquisition. Greater X ray tube heat storage capacity can minimize the need for scan parameter compromises.

(c) *CT couch top*: The couch tops used for patient support in radiation therapy during both imaging and treatment should facilitate easy, efficient, reproducible and accurate patient positioning. It is not only important that a couch top improve patient positioning on a single device (i.e. treatment machine), but also that the repositioning of a patient from one imaging or treatment device to another be considered. A great improvement in this process is effected when all couch tops involved in patient simulation and treatment have a common design. They do not have to be identical, but they should have the same dimensions (primarily width), flex and sag under patient weight, and they should allow registration (indexing) of patient immobilization devices to the couch top. Figure 15 illustrates this concept. The CT scanner couch top has the same width as the linear accelerator used for patient treatment and both allow registration of the patient immobilization system to the treatment couch. The capability to register the immobilization device and the patient to a treatment couch can improve



FIG. 15. Transfer of the patient from CT scanner to the treatment machine can be improved by ensuring compatibility between the CT scanner and linear accelerator couch tops (courtesy: CIVCO Medical, Inc.).

immobilization, set-up reproducibility, accuracy and efficiency. The patient is always positioned in the same place on the treatment machine and patient daily set-up can be facilitated using the treatment couch positions.

- (d) Patient marking lasers: A laser system is necessary to provide reference marks on patient skin or on the immobilization device. Figure 7 shows a laser system for a CT scanner used for radiotherapy imaging. Preferably, at least the overhead (sagittal) laser should be movable. However, this is not imperative and the alignment accuracy and the stability of the lasers are much more important. It is desirable for the lasers to have easy alignment adjustability and to have positional stability with time. Laser projection should also be at least 50 cm long at the tomographic plane.
- (e) CT simulation software (option): CT (virtual) simulation software is a package that may be available with some CT scanners and is used as an interface between the CT scanner and the radiotherapy treatment planning software (Fig. 16). This software is intended to simplify CT scanning for radiotherapy planning and also to increase the efficiency of this process. As with all software programs, user-friendly, fast and well-functioning CT (virtual) simulation software with useful features and tools will be a determining factor for the success of a virtual simulation program. Commercially available programs far surpass in-house written software and are the most efficient approach to virtual simulation. Several features are very important when considering virtual simulation software is built into the radiation treatment planning computer system.
- (f) *Contouring and localization of structures*: Contouring and localization of structures is often cited as one of the most time consuming tasks in the treatment planning process. The virtual simulation software should allow fast user-friendly contouring with the help of semi-automatic or automatic



Treatment planning system

FIG. 16. Simplified diagram showing relationship of CT simulation software, CT scanner and radiotherapy treatment planning (adapted from Ref. [2]).

contouring tools. An array of editing tools (erase, rotate, translate, stretch, undo) should be available. The capability to add margins in three dimensions and to draw treatment portals automatically around target volumes should be available. An emphasis should be placed on functionality and efficiency.

- (g) *Image processing and display*: The virtual simulation workstation must be capable of processing large volumetric sets of images and displaying them in different views as quickly as possible (near real time image manipulation and display are desired). The quality of reconstructed images is just as important as the quality of the original study set. The reconstructed images can be either digitally reconstructed radiographs [17, 18] from a 3-D data set or multiplanar reconstructions and these are used for target volume definition and treatment verification having a direct impact on the accuracy of patient treatments.
- (h) Simulator geometry: A prerequisite of CT simulation software is the capability to mimic the functions of a conventional simulator and of a medical linear accelerator. The software has to be able to show gantry, couch, collimator and jaw motion, source–surface distance changes, beam divergence, etc. The software should facilitate design of treatment portals with blocks and multileaf collimators.

5. BASIC PRINCIPLES OF QA IN CT

5.1. QA ACTIVITIES

A QA programme in diagnostic radiology, as defined by the World Health Organization [68], is an organized effort by the staff operating a facility to ensure that the diagnostic images produced are of a sufficiently high quality that they consistently provide adequate diagnostic information at the lowest possible cost and with the least possible exposure of the patient to radiation. Registrants and licensees must establish a comprehensive QA programme for medical diagnosis with the participation of appropriate medical physicists, taking into account the principles established by the WHO [68].

QA programmes for medical exposures should include:

(a) Measurement of the physical parameters of the radiation generators and imaging devices at the time of commissioning and periodically thereafter.

- (b) Verification of the appropriate physical and clinical factors used in patient diagnosis (or treatment).
- (c) Written records of relevant procedures and results. This includes a manual that defines clear lines of responsibility, outlines the individual QC tests performed, stipulates the test frequencies, aids staff training, facilitates audit of a service and helps to keep information within the service.
- (d) Verification of the appropriate calibration and conditions of operation of dosimetry and monitoring equipment.
- (e) Optimization of clinical protocols and equipment operation to achieve the aims of QA as stated above.
- (f) Regular and independent quality audit reviews of the QA programme.

QA programmes are designed to ensure that the radiology equipment and staff procedures can yield the desired information. They include:

- (a) Administrative procedures or management actions designed to verify that:
 —The QC tests are performed properly and according to a planned timetable;
 - —The results of these tests are evaluated promptly and accurately;
 - -The necessary corrective measures are taken in response to these results;
 - -The assignment of responsibility for QA actions is made;
 - -Standards of quality for equipment in the facility are established;
 - —Adequate training is provided;
 - The appropriate equipment for each examination is selected, including the writing of adequate equipment specifications.
- (b) Acceptance testing and commissioning (see Fig. 17):
 - —Acceptance tests are those performed to verify that the purchase specifications have been met by the vendor. These are often performed by the company installing the equipment under the supervision of the medical physicist [69] or, alternatively, performed independently by the medical physicist. Commissioning tests are those undertaken at the time the equipment is put into service and are used to establish baseline levels of performance, including measurements which may be helpful in optimization of protocols (Section 6). These are performed by the medical physicist. To a large extent, acceptance and commissioning tests overlap. This publication primarily describes the tests that form a comprehensive ongoing QC programme for CT, but it is recognized that it is necessary to ensure that the equipment, as delivered, conforms to specified standards and that appropriate initial baseline values are established and used to ensure the maintenance of the quality of the equipment throughout its working life. These acceptance and



FIG. 17. Life cycle of a piece of equipment.

commissioning tests are included in this publication and are indicated as such. During acceptance testing, a qualified person should check the electrical and mechanical safety of any new installation.

- (c) QC tests (also classified as either constancy or status tests by the IEC) are used to test the components of the radiological system and to verify that the equipment is operating satisfactorily.
- (d) Verification of QC equipment and material.
- (e) Follow-up of any corrective actions proposed:
 - —It is important that routine QC testing be properly performed in the CT facility and that results be documented thoroughly and carefully. It is equally important that problems and potential problems be clearly documented and communicated to the facility in a timely manner and that the medical physicist be assured that the receiving party has received and understood the supplied information. This is especially the case when safety concerns are raised.
 - —The reporting structure in the facility should be understood by the medical physicist, who should ideally report problems to an individual who is empowered to call in service personnel and, if necessary, who can ensure that the equipment is not used until the problems are corrected. The medical physicist may be asked to explain the problems to service personnel and to share test results with them. The medical physicist and

the representative from the facility should work together to ensure that the problems have been appropriately corrected.

- (f) Education and training of the staff, including radiologist, radiographer and medical physicist. Each must meet a minimum level of competency.
- (g) Continuing education. Each team member must undertake sufficient continuing education to ensure that they are up-to-date on new techniques and that they are 'refreshed' relative to their basic knowledge, e.g. radiation safety.
- (h) Experience. To ensure proficiency, the radiologist must read a sufficient number of cases, the radiographer must undertake a minimum number of cases a year and the medical physicist must conduct a sufficient number of CT unit surveys under American College of Radiology guidelines [70].

5.2. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

5.2.1. The licensee or registrant

The licensee or registrant has specific responsibilities to ensure that all regulatory and/or licensing requirements are met. Further, the licensee or registrant must ensure that all radiologists, radiographers, medical physicists and other personnel who work at the facility are appropriately qualified and trained and meet all continuing education and experience requirements.

It is the responsibility of the licensee or registrant to ensure that a QA programme is in place that encompasses all aspects of the imaging process. The specific tasks within that programme may be delegated to appropriate staff who already have expertise in carrying out those tasks. Notwithstanding the above delegation of authority, it remains the ultimate responsibility of the licensee or registrant that the elements of the QA programme are fulfilled.

A radiologist should be identified by the facility to have the specific responsibility of ensuring that all required QA activities are performed.

5.2.2. The radiologist

Although it is recognized that the radiologist will delegate many of the following tasks, they still have responsibility for the following tasks:

- (a) Ensuring that medical physicists and radiographers have adequate training and continuous education courses in CT;
- (b) Ensuring that all equipment is appropriately maintained;

- (c) Motivating, supervising and managing all aspects related to the QA programme in the area of CT;
- (d) Providing an orientation programme for radiographers based on a carefully established procedures manual;
- (e) Designating a single radiographer to be the primary QC radiographer to perform the prescribed QC tests and oversee those that have been delegated to other individuals;
- (f) Ensuring availability of the equipment and the necessary materials for the implementation of the QC tests;
- (g) Arranging staffing and scheduling so that adequate time is available to carry out the QC tests and to record and interpret the results;
- (h) Ensuring that a medical physicist is available to oversee the equipment related QC programme and to perform the medical physicist's tests;
- Reviewing the radiographer's test results at least every 3 months, or more frequently if consistency has not yet been achieved, and reviewing the medical physicist's test results annually, or more frequently as needed;
- (j) Designating an individual to oversee the radiation protection programme for employees, patients and other individuals in the surrounding area;
- (k) Ensuring that records of employee qualifications, mammography technique and procedures, infection control procedures, QC, safety and protection are properly maintained and updated in the CT QC procedures manual;
- (l) Providing feedback continually, both positive and negative, to radiographers on image quality and QC procedures.

5.2.3. The radiographer

The responsibilities of the radiographer include:

- (a) Ensuring that the appropriate protocol and technique factors are used for the requested examination.
- (b) Ensuring that the QC tests are performed, interpreted and recorded appropriately. This is best achieved when one radiographer assumes overall responsibility for QC matters and is able to train others to assist in QC activities.
- (c) Recording imaging problems.
- (d) Undertaking additional continuous education courses.

5.2.4. The medical physicist

The medical physicist is a person trained in medical physics and certified as a medical physicist according to the applicable programme in the State, if such a

programme exists. The medical physicist should be specialized in diagnostic radiology.

The responsibilities of the medical physicist include:

- (a) Advising the facility on CT image quality and on radiation protection of the patient, staff and members of the public.
- (b) Advising the facility on acquisition, installation and shielding for CT.
- (c) Conducting tests to ensure the safety and proper performance of equipment used in CT. These include acceptance, commissioning and routine QC tests.
- (d) Advising the radiologist and radiographer on optimization (see Section 6).
- (e) Providing oversight and advice to the radiographer who carries out the radiographer's component of the QC programme.

6. OPTIMIZATION OF CLINICAL PRACTICE

6.1. INTRODUCTION

6.1.1. General principles of radiation protection

All potential diagnostic and interventional radiology exposures must be subject to the principles of justification and optimization which are common to all practices dealing with exposures to ionizing radiation [71]. This may be stated as follows [72]:

"The principal aim of medical exposures is to do more good than harm to the patient, subsidiary account being taken of the radiation detriment from the exposure of the radiological staff and of other individuals."

For patients undergoing medical diagnosis or treatment, there are two levels of justification. Firstly, the practice involving exposure to radiation must be justified in principle through the endorsement of relevant professional societies, as matters of effective medical practice will be central to this judgement [73, 74]. Secondly, each procedure should be subject to a further, case-by-case justification by both the referrer, who is responsible for the management of the individual patient and who determines that the exposure is necessary for diagnostic purposes, and the radiologist or other practitioner who may direct the radiological procedure [75].

6.1.2. The need for optimization in CT

Technical and clinical developments in CT have not, in general, led to a reduction in patient dose per examination. However, the growth in CT examinations and the corresponding increase in dose to the population is well documented⁶ [81]. This has led to increased concerns about the magnitude of these doses and the potential risks that these imply. The latest mortality data on the Japanese atomic bomb survivors [82] are consistent with there being a risk of cancer induction at dose levels typical for CT examinations. This is particularly true of CT examinations of paediatric patients, who may also be at greater risk from stochastic effects than the general population. Further, repetitive CT examinations (e.g. multiphase contrast studies) have the potential to give absorbed doses to tissues that may approach or even exceed the threshold for deterministic effects.

6.1.3. General principles of optimization

Once clinically justified, each examination should be conducted so that the dose to the patient is the lowest necessary to achieve the clinical aim. The optimization process necessarily requires a balance between patient dose and image quality along with other clinical considerations, including the use of a contrast agent. Dose reductions must not be achieved without regard to any loss of diagnostic quality in the image that may accompany the dose reduction, as previously noted by the IAEA [74]:

"The objective of the diagnostic radiology process as a whole is to obtain the requested diagnostic information with the minimum patient exposure within prevailing resource limitations."

The requirement for image quality should be tailored to the clinical problem and lower levels may be acceptable in some circumstances. Certainly, the size and shape of the patient will influence the level of dose required [83]. Accordingly, the equipment operators should minimize patient dose while

⁶ Further, the growth of CT is so fast that around 75 million CT examinations are performed annually in the United States of America out of a total population of around 300 million people. The National Council on Radiation Protection in the USA has estimated [76] that the contribution of medical radiation to the population collective dose has increased from 15% in 1980 to 53% in 2006, with CT accounting for the major share of this increase at approximately 1.5 mSv per capita per year. Similar increases have been noted in the United Kingdom [77] and this trend is common to most developed countries [78–80].

maintaining acceptable image quality for the diagnostic information required. It must be recognized that optimization is a multidisciplinary task involving the radiologist, radiographer and medical physicist.

Dose surveys for CT procedures indicate wide variations in patient dose and indicate the need for optimization with the use of established diagnostic reference levels (DRLs) to aid in this process.

6.1.4. General recommendations for good practice in CT

Recommendations concerning achievable standards of good practice in CT have been developed by the European Commission in the form of quality criteria [84, 85]. These provide an operational framework for radiological protection initiatives in which technical parameters for image quality are considered in relation to patient dose. Diagnostic and dose requirements for CT are specified in terms of the quality criteria considered necessary to produce images of standard quality for a particular anatomical region. The subjective image criteria include those criteria that relate to the visualization or critical reproduction of anatomical features. Criteria concerning patient dose are given in terms of DRL associated with the examination technique used for standard sized patients. Quality criteria have been developed for most CT examinations, together with examples of technique parameters influencing the dose.

6.2. FACTORS AFFECTING IMAGE QUALITY AND DOSE

6.2.1. Introduction

A large number of factors in a CT examination can affect the dose and image quality, collectively described by the image noise and spatial resolution. These factors can be generally categorized as (i) radiographic protocol or scan parameter, (ii) equipment, (iii) image reading condition and (iv) patient related factors. Patient related factors can usually be controlled through adjustments in the scan parameters, therefore leaving three main groups of factors. Of these, the equipment factors are often set by the scanner configuration at manufacture and are beyond the control of the operator.

Controllable factors affecting patient dose in CT include:

- Radiographic protocol or scan parameters;
- kV and mAs for manual operation;
- Pitch;
- Reconstruction filter;

- Scan length and number of scan series;
- Patient size variation, usually requiring changes in examination protocol;
- AEC (correct dose modulation techniques);
- Collimation selection including MDCT considerations of over-beaming;
- Helical acquisition considerations of over-ranging;
- Scan mode (axial, helical or MDCT);
- Use of external filters for body part shielding.

6.2.2. Scan parameters

The relationship between scan parameters, image quality and dose is complex. To some extent this depends on whether the scanner is single slice or multislice and whether scanning is axial ('step and shoot') or helical. Table 2

D	л. [.]	Spatial resolution					
Parameter	Noise	Imaged slice width	Tomographic plane	Dose			
Current (mA)	~			~			
Rotation time ^{b,c}	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			
Voltage (kV)	\checkmark			\checkmark			
Focal spot selection ^{c,d}	(✓)	\checkmark	\checkmark	(✔)			
Nominal imaged slice width	\checkmark	\checkmark					
Pitch	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark			
Total X ray beam collimation	(✔) ^e	(✔) ^e		\checkmark			
Detector group width	\checkmark	\checkmark					
Scan volume				\checkmark			
x-y reconstruction kernel	\checkmark		\checkmark				
z axis interpolation algorithm	\checkmark	\checkmark					

TABLE 2. EFFECT OF SCAN PARAMETERS ON IMAGE QUALITY AND $\mathsf{DOSE}^{\mathsf{a}}$

^a When an individual parameter is varied while all other scan factors are kept constant.

^b If the sampling frequency is dependent on rotation time, then spatial resolution will be affected.

^c The focal spot size has a direct impact on spatial resolution, through penumbral effects.

^d Small amount of change to noise and dose with focal spot size.

^e Single slice, dual slice.



FIG. 18. The effect of mAs on noise and the consequent effect of low contrast visibility.

gives a summary of the effect of changing a scan parameter on image quality and dose, while keeping other parameters constant.

Noise, dose and mAs

The image noise is expected to follow the relationship

$$\sigma^2 \propto \frac{1}{N} \tag{12}$$

where N equals the number of photons contributing to the image.

In practical terms this means that image noise will vary inversely as the square root of the mAs as illustrated in Fig. 18. For example, the doubling of the mAs will result in an increase in the dose of 100% combined with a decrease in the image noise by a more modest 41%.

Dose, axial resolution and pitch

The dose will also vary inversely with the scan pitch⁷. It is, therefore, good practice to select the highest pitch value and the lowest mAs consistent with the required clinical diagnosis. It is usual to select a pitch in the range of one to two.⁸ However, some CT scanners have the selection of mAs and pitch tied together so that the ratio of mAs to pitch remains constant when the pitch is altered. Under these circumstances, changing the pitch (alone) has minimal impact on patient dose and pitch values of less than one may be preferred and safely used. The use of helical scanning, implied by the use of pitch, means that over-ranging will occur, which increases dose. This effect increases with pitch and most significantly with detector array size (see MDCT optimization discussed in Section 6.2.4). One disadvantage of using high pitch values with a single slice scanner is that the imaged slice width (axial resolution) can increase significantly. This is generally not the case with MDCT scanners using the z axis interpolation algorithm, except for reconstructions at the thinnest slice widths possible for the detector selected.

Noise, dose and kV

Until recently, it was assumed that the optimal tube energy for CT scanner operation was 120 kV, with increases up to 140 kV for larger patients. Nowadays, it is acknowledged that when intrinsically high contrast objects are required for diagnosis, larger noise values can be tolerated without significant loss of diagnostic ability. This is seen, for example, when calcium or iodine contrast agent is to be visualized against soft tissue.

Recent computer simulations and phantom measurements of CNR and CNR divided by the square root of dose [86] demonstrate that if the contrast is formed by objects of similar composition but of differing density, then the optimum tube potential is indeed about 120 kV. However, when high atomic number materials are used, particularly in the case of iodine, there are significant dose advantages in the use of lower kV values. Consequently, CT scanners should be calibrated over the full range of tube voltage values and the use of lower kV values should be investigated for the use of iodine by the optimization team.

⁷ See the Glossary for the definition of pitch. Note that for some MDCT scanners, manufacturers define pitch differently to this by multiplying the 'actual pitch' by the number of detectors used in the acquisition. In order to determine dose values, the glossary definition of pitch should be used.

⁸ Only in exceptional circumstances should a pitch below unity be used with older single and dual slice scanners, since this is analogous to overlapping scanning in axial mode.

6.2.3. Optimization with AEC

The use of mA modulation technology [1, 13, 87], usually referred to as AEC or automatic dose control, is designed to: (i) reduce patient dose compared with the use of a fixed mA technique and/or (ii) improve image noise by reducing 'photon starvation' associated with regions of large variation in attenuation, such as the shoulders. Typically, AEC techniques utilize the SPR views used to determine attenuation profiles and then modify the mA using either the z axis (longitudinal) dose modulation, x–y axis (angular) dose modulation or both of these simultaneously within a scan period.

The use of AEC can lead to significant dose reductions, for example, Hundt et al. [88] have shown in a sample of patients undergoing abdominal and chest examinations that the introduction of X ray tube current modulation technology alone achieved reductions in dose of close to 30%. Note, however, that the indiscriminate use of AEC does not guarantee dose reductions and that the use of AEC should be based on the required clinical image quality. Heggie [89] has shown that for one MDCT scanner equipped with AEC without optimization, the doses were typically 35% higher than those for the same procedure performed on a single slice scanner. After optimization, dose reductions of between 14% and 58% were achieved so that for most procedures the doses were comparable with the original single slice scanner results.

The decision about acceptable image quality is usually made on the basis of achieving an acceptable level of image noise and ultimately should be made by an experienced radiologist. Once this noise level has been established and adopted into pre-programmed protocols it is important for radiographers to adhere to these protocols unless clinical indications dictate otherwise.

6.2.4. Optimizing MDCT protocols

MDCT scanners offer a number of clinical advantages, but because of a combination of unique design characteristics and superior scanning speed they are particularly prone to delivering high patient doses [1, 78, 80, 84, 85, 90] unless technical factors are carefully optimized by the user. Radiographers should be mindful that the default protocols provided by manufacturers of MDCT scanners can often be modified to achieve substantial dose reductions without loss of diagnostic integrity by 'tailoring' the technical parameters used in an examination [89–93] as illustrated in Fig. 19. The following points may be useful in MDCT optimization:







FIG. 19. Scans of three patients taken before and after optimization using the same reconstruction algorithm, voltage (kV) and slice width, but with different exposures. Slices have been selected to be matched anatomically to the extent feasible: (a) abdomen–pelvis scan with $CTDI_{VOL} = 11.3 \text{ mGy}$, $DLP = 561 \text{ mGy} \cdot \text{cm}$; (b) abdomen–pelvis scan with $CTDI_{VOL} = 6.8 \text{ mGy}$, $DLP = 349 \text{ mGy} \cdot \text{cm}$; (c) chest scan with $CTDI_{VOL} = 6.4 \text{ mGy}$, $DLP = 214 \text{ mGy} \cdot \text{cm}$; (d) chest scan with $CTDI_{VOL} = 5.1 \text{ mGy}$, $DLP = 171 \text{ mGy} \cdot \text{cm}$; (e) brain scan with $CTDI_{VOL} = 70 \text{ mGy}$, $DLP = 960 \text{ mGy} \cdot \text{cm}$; (f) brain scan with $CTDI_{VOL} = 40 \text{ mGy}$, $DLP = 580 \text{ mGy} \cdot \text{cm}$. Whilst the optimized images (b), (d) and (f) have more noise than images (a), (c) and (e), the former still remain diagnostic.

- (a) Optimal scanning block size:
 - -Concern for unnecessary dose to sensitive tissues: Restrict the scanned volume to the minimum necessary for diagnosis and scan in one large block rather than in multiple smaller contiguous blocks. This will minimize the impact of over-ranging. This is of particular concern for the lower abdomen/pelvis, to avoid irradiating the male gonads, and for the head, to avoid the lens of the eye.
 - -Concern to tailor the beam parameters to tissue region requirements: Image noise may be tolerated more readily in one part of the body (e.g. the chest) than in another. Consequently, for these body parts the use of separate scan blocks might outweigh any dose penalty from over-ranging.
 - *—Head and body filters*: Many scanners are designed to operate with different beam filtration for the head and abdomen, and as the filtration cannot be altered in mid-scan, two scan blocks are needed to utilize the optimum filtration conditions⁹.
- (b) Optimal collimation setting requires use of the widest beam collimation consistent with clinical requirements (e.g. $16 \text{ mm} \times 1.5 \text{ mm}$ rather than $16 \text{ mm} \times 0.75 \text{ mm}$). This will reduce the effect of over-beaming. However, care is needed as it is usually possible to reconstruct a new set of images at a wider image slice thickness without having to make another X ray acquisition. However, it is not possible to reconstruct a thinner imaged slice width, except with a new X ray acquisition.
- (c) Use of axial, as opposed to helical, techniques for routine head scans, unless clinical indications suggest otherwise. As noted previously, over-ranging will inevitably lead to irradiation of the lens of the eye if the helical mode is employed.
- (d) Use of anatomy dependent, attenuation based methods of X ray tube current modulation (AEC) with an appropriately selected reference mAs or noise index. For optimum performance with this technology, the SPR must be acquired over the full length of the patient that is of clinical relevance using the same kV that will subsequently be utilized for the volume acquisition.
- (e) If AEC is not available, it is recommended that technique charts be posted for the common CT examinations to assist in maintaining proper image quality.

⁹ For example, the radiation output per mAs is typically 25% and may be as much as 40% higher in head as opposed to body mode [91].

(f) The use of multiphase examinations should be minimized. This is a fundamental decision relating to clinical justification and optimization.

It should be noted that even when optimized, scan protocols applicable to one scanner should not be transferred to another scanner without consideration of the differences in X ray tube filtration and geometry. Even scanners from the same manufacturer may differ significantly in X ray beam filtration and detector type (efficiency) and geometry.

6.2.5. Use of body part shielding

Attempts at shielding relatively radiosensitive tissues such as the breast and eyes have been discussed in the literature. During CT scanning of the chest and upper abdomen, substantial breast dose reductions have been demonstrated without compromising diagnostic image quality, by using breast shields made of high Z materials, such as lead or bismuth, raised above the surface of the chest [94–96]. Similarly, shields may also be useful in minimizing the dose to the lens of the eye during head CT examination [97], although other investigators have shown that appropriate tilting of the gantry offers better dose reduction possibilities.

It should be noted that with the use of tube current modulation technology (Section 6.2.3), body part shielding is not recommended.

6.3. THE OPTIMIZATION PROCESS

To optimize a CT examination, a process involving 14 steps can be followed:

Initial preparation

- (1) Establish agreement for an optimization process with the radiology department, including a schedule of achievable targets.
- (2) Determine the priority for examinations to be optimized for a particular modality in conjunction with clinicians and radiographers, considering such factors as examination risk and frequency.
- (3) Check QA status of equipment used for the procedure.
- (4) Establish clinically appropriate image quality requirements in collaboration with clinicians.

Dose, image quality and clinical acceptability assessment

- (5) Determine patient doses (preferably from a patient audit or possibly from phantom based measurements (see Section 9.6)).
- (6) Determine image quality (preferably with the assistance of radiologists; the assessment should include a measure of noise and resolution).
- (7) Review scan protocol, examining the purpose of the examination and the adequacy of technical factors to account for patient size, with special consideration being given to any paediatric protocols.

Review of current status of procedure

- (8) Compare examination dose with appropriate benchmarks, such as the DRL, as available [98].
- (9) Compare examination image quality with appropriate benchmarks, if available.
- (10) In conjunction with the radiologist and radiographer, review examination related data including:
 - -Radiographic protocol;
 - —Equipment configuration;
 - —Image reading conditions.
- (11) Investigate the effect on image quality and dose of varying the parameters in the above list.

Intervention

(12) Recommend changes to the radiographic protocol, equipment configuration and/or viewing conditions, on the basis of the review of the procedure (see above).

Verify effect of optimization process

- (13) After an agreed period of clinical introduction, repeat the dose and image quality analysis to determine the effectiveness of the optimization intervention.
- (14) Record the results of the optimization procedure in such a way that they are accessible to all interested parties, particularly radiographers and clinicians.

6.4. CLINICAL EXAMPLES OF OPTIMIZATION

6.4.1. Chest CT

Image noise is a key indicator of image quality for CT and is related to the attenuation of the X ray beam as it traverses the body, just as in plain radiography. The lower attenuation of the chest compared with the abdomen or pelvis results in lower image noise for the same mAs. More importantly, since subject contrast in the chest is relatively high, a modest increase in noise will have minimal impact on the diagnostic content of the images. Therefore, when compared with an abdomen or pelvis examination, a chest examination involves a significantly lower radiation dose to achieve an acceptable image quality.

Many studies [99–105] have shown that, depending upon the clinical question being asked, significant dose reductions are possible in chest CT. The use of lower kV settings (for example, 80 kV compared with the commonly used 120 kV) has also been advocated for CT pulmonary embolism angiography, where a reduced radiation dose combined with increased image contrast has been documented [106]. Kalra et al. [107] have also demonstrated that the application of specialized noise reduction filters was successful in reducing image noise for low radiation dose chest CT images, allowing for some compromise in image sharpness.

6.4.2. CT perfusion

CT perfusion studies (continuous or repeated scanning to follow the time course of the injected contrast agent) should be avoided if possible. If they are undertaken, it is necessary to ensure that an established, optimized protocol is followed. In particular, the scan duration should be limited to the absolute minimum required, as hair loss has been known to occur in patients undergoing this procedure [108].

6.4.3. Other emerging CT procedures

There are other novel CT applications ranging from CT fluoroscopy to functional and 4-D CT. The latter can use a gating signal to select, retrospectively, CT projections belonging to a particular phase of, for example, the breathing or cardiac cycle. In order to have a sufficient number of projections in all phases, these scans typically use significant oversampling, for example, by using a very small pitch in helical CT. The resulting scan times are usually many times longer than those recorded in conventional CT scanning and could, therefore, also result in much larger doses received by the patient if the tube current is not reduced.

Investigations [109] into the combined effect of lowering the kilovoltage setting (80 kV) and using an AEC technique (ECG pulsed tube current modulation) for coronary CT demonstrated that radiation dose exposure can be reduced by up to 88% for slim patients without impairing image quality. The operator, however, should also be aware that AEC may not always be available with these modern CT techniques.

6.5. OPTIMIZATION FOR CHILDREN¹⁰

Prior to 2001, the vast majority of CT imaging of children was conducted using the same or similar techniques as those used for adult imaging. In 2001, several articles [82, 110, 111] received considerable media attention by pointing out that this approach was not necessary and resulted in estimated radiation doses to the smallest children as much as three times those given to an adult. Since then, considerable work has been published in the literature on protocols to reduce the dose to children undergoing CT examination [112–123]. However, many of these protocols are scanner specific and not transferable to other CT units.

The instructions below provide guidance in either developing CT protocols for children or verifying that current protocols are appropriate. It should be stressed that this publication is only intended as a guide and the technique parameters provided are only suggestions that primarily apply to the use of manual techniques. The interpreting radiologist, in consultation with a medical physicist, must evaluate any changes to the practice's techniques that reduce radiation dose so that the adequate diagnostic information is available.

Technique reduction factors were developed from radiation measurements obtained with ionization chambers and anatomical paediatric CT phantoms [124]. These phantoms range in size from infant to large adult and consist of tissue equivalent plastic that has a CT number of '0'. The abdomen phantoms have a tissue equivalent spine; the thorax phantoms have a tissue equivalent spine and lung tissues and the head phantoms have a tissue equivalent skull bone.

In order to use these reduction factors, the radiologist should first work with the CT radiographer to gain familiarity with techniques used for both adults and children. It must then be verified that the adult technique factors do not deliver estimated radiation doses *larger* than those recommended by national or international DRL values¹¹. No universal CT technique can be used with all

¹⁰ This material has been adopted with permission from the Image Gently Alliance.

¹¹ Values have also been established by the American College of Radiology's (ACR) CT Accreditation Program [125, 126].

vendors' CT equipment for the adult patient. Differences in CT scanner design (e.g. bow tie filters, focal spot-detector distance, detector efficiency) make it impossible to estimate patient radiation dose based on technique factors alone. Consequently, a medical physicist specializing in diagnostic radiology must measure the radiation output from the CT scanner in order to estimate the dose and assist in establishing appropriate adult abdomen and head techniques.

The adult abdomen and head techniques will become the baseline techniques. Using these baselines, Tables 3 and 4 allow estimation of the appropriate reductions in mAs for children based on their age or PA thickness. Ideally, the PA thickness of the paediatric patient should be measured with calipers. If the child's PA thickness cannot be obtained, Tables 3 and 4 list an 'average' age that corresponds to the thicknesses in the first column. The resulting techniques should provide a radiation dose that is approximately *equal to, or less than, the estimated adult CT dose for the same procedure.* (Again, the facility medical physicist should assist with this.)

These instructions assume that all technique factors (other than tube current and/or gantry rotation time) remain fixed as techniques are adjusted for paediatric patients. Although several authors have advocated changing other parameters (i.e. kV) in order to reduce dose [127–131], these instructions will not apply if parameters other than mAs are changed. It is necessary to work closely with the medical physicist in these situations to ensure that image quality is maintained while the desired dose reductions are achieved.

The data in Tables 3 and 4 list reduction factors for the mAs provided that manual techniques are used. If the AEC features of the CT scanner are being used for imaging, the AEC system should automatically reduce techniques for children provided the adult baseline is set up properly. In this case, part A of the procedure should be followed to verify that the dose estimate from the baseline technique does not exceed recommended adult values. The baseline mAs values should be entered into the spreadsheet provided to obtain the correct paediatric techniques for the scanner. The proper functioning of the AEC system on the CT scanner can be verified by comparing the mAs values listed on the CT images with the appropriate value listed in Tables 3 and 4. If the mAs values listed on the CT images are less than or equal to the corresponding value in Tables 3 and 4, the paediatric radiation doses are less than or equal to the estimated adult radiation doses.

Reducing patient dose in CT increases the quantum mottle or background noise in the images. Since increased quantum mottle affects low contrast image quality more than high contrast image quality, dose reductions for low contrast images may be limited. For example, soft tissue differentiation (low contrast) requires lower noise in the image than studies of bony detail or lung parenchyma TABLE 3. mAS REDUCTION FACTORS FOR THE PAEDIATRIC ABDOMEN AND THORAX

1									1					r		
			Pitch thorax	fill in	orax		Estimated	mAs = BL x RF								
Date:	Pitch	abdomen	fill in	Th	mAs	reduction	factor (RF)	0.42	0.49	0.57	0.64	0.73	0.82	0.91	1.16	
			Time (s)	fill in	omen		Estimated mAs	= BL x RF							fill in	
CT Unit:			mA	fill in	Abd	mAs	reduction	factor (RF)	0.43	0.51	0.59	0.66	0.76	06.0	1.00	1.27
			k۷	fill in			Approx.	age	newborn	1 yr	5 yr	10 yr	15 yr	small adult	medium adult	large adult
Room #:			Abdomen	baseline:		PA	thickness	(cm)	6	12	14	16	19	22	25	31

55

TABLE 4. mAs REDUCTION FACTORS FOR THE PAEDIATRIC HEAD

Filter	fill in		mAs = BL x	۲F				lin	
Pitch	fill in	ad	Estimated	R				llij	
Time (s)	fill in	He	ction factor	RF)	.74	.86	.93	00	
шA	fill in		mAs redu	(F	0	0	0	1.	
k٧	fill in		Approx.	age	newborn	2 yr	6 yr	medium	adult
Head	baseline:		PA thickness	(cm)	12	16	17	19	
	Head KV mA Time (s) Pitch Filter	HeadkVmATime (s)PitchFilterbaseline:fill infill infill infill in	HeadkVmATime (s)PitchFilterbaseline:fill infill infill infill infill inHead	HeadkVmATime (s)PitchFilterbaseline:fill infill infill infill infill inPA thicknessApprox.mAs reduction factorEstimated mAs = BL x	HeadkVmATime (s)PitchFilterbaseline:fill infill infill infill infill inbaseline:fill infill infill infill infill inPA thicknessApprox.MAs reduction factorEstimated mAs = BL x(cm)age(RF)RF	Head baseline:kVmATime (s)PitchFilterbaseline:fill infill infill infill infill inPA thicknessApprox.HeadCm)age(RF)Estimated mAs = BL x12newborn0.740.74	Head baseline:kVmATime (s)PitchFilterbaseline:fill infill infill infill infill inPA thicknessApprox.HeadPA thicknessApprox.MAs reduction factorEstimated mAs = BL x12newborn0.74N162 yr0.86N	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

56
(high contrast). These instructions should provide adequate image quality for the paediatric soft tissue studies since the dose will be similar to adult techniques and the noise level should not change. It may be possible to reduce doses to a greater degree for high contrast studies.

Image Gently Alliance procedure for optimization of child exposures

Establishment of baseline techniques for an adult head and abdomen CT

- (1) The medical physicist should determine the $C_{\rm VOL}$ for an adult body phantom and an adult head phantom using the standard 320 mm and 160 mm diameter body and head CT dosimetry phantoms, respectively (Appendix I).
- (2) If the measured $C_{\rm VOL}$ of the adult abdomen or head phantoms exceed 25 mGy and 75 mGy, respectively, the medical physicist and clinical staff should work to reduce either the tube current (mA) or rotation time (s) to lower the doses.
- (3) Record the final tube potential (kV), tube current (mA), rotation time (s), pitch and bow tie filter settings in Tables 3 and 4 as the baseline techniques for the adult abdomen and head.

Determination of the appropriate mAs for a paediatric thorax, abdomen and head CT

- (1) Multiply the baseline (abdomen or head) tube current (mAs) by the indicated reduction factor to determine the appropriate paediatric tube current (mAs) and enter this in the table for all patient PA thicknesses/ages, or use an Excel spreadsheet¹² to perform these calculations automatically.
- (2) The other parameters in the protocol (kV, pitch, bow tie filter) must remain the same. It is important to verify with the CT manufacturer that the bow tie filter in the scanner does not change if the FOV is reduced for paediatric patients.
- (3) If the pitches of the thorax and abdomen scans are different, the medical physicist should calculate the correct thorax baseline from the abdomen baseline. Alternatively, the Excel spreadsheet automatically performs this correction if the different pitch values are entered.

¹² An Excel spread sheet file is available with this publication or from http://www.pedrad.org/associations/5364/ig/index.cfm?page=598

- (4) When examining paediatric patients, find the mAs reduction factor from the completed tables that corresponds to the applicable PA thickness/age.
- (5) The mAs ratios in Tables 3 and 4 assume that the kV used for a paediatric examination is the same as that used to determine the baseline mAs for either the head or the abdomen. If a reduced kV is selected for paediatric examinations, the suggested mAs ratios in these tables do not apply.

7. OUTLINE OF PERFORMANCE TESTS

These tests are intended to verify the performance of the CT scanner. They include tests for CT acceptance and commissioning as well as tests of the operational stability of the equipment or equipment elements used to acquire, process and display the CT images.

The tests have been classified into two types, essential and desirable, according to their importance in influencing image quality and radiation dose. The performance of the first category of tests is considered indispensable; however, it is recommended that the tests in the second category be carried out only if adequate human resources and equipment can be made available.

Test priority

Desirable describes the test procedures that should be performed, if feasible.

Essential refers to tests that *must* be carried out in a facility.

Some of the QC tests need to be performed frequently (daily or monthly). Therefore, it is recommended that these tests be performed by local personnel who are present daily in the installation (technical personnel, normally radiographers). The lower frequency tests have been assigned in the majority of cases to medical physicists and radiologists.

Suggested frequency

Acceptance: These tests are carried out to ensure the scanner delivered is operating in accordance with the manufacturer's specification. These tests are also carried out at any major software or hardware

upgrade.

Commissioning: These tests are carried out to provide a baseline for ongoing QC tests and for future optimization. They may use different phantoms and scan protocols, depending on availability of phantoms and typical scan protocols.

These tests are also carried out at any major software or hardware upgrade.

Annual: QC tests that are not likely to alter within a shorter timescale.

Monthly: QC tests that need more frequent monitoring.

Each test in the QC programme has a specified tolerance level for 'acceptable' and 'achievable' results as applicable. Should the results of a test fall outside the specified tolerance, the test should usually be repeated to confirm the result before action is taken. In some cases, only the 'acceptable' level has been defined.

Performance standards

Acceptable indicates that performance must be within certain tolerances, and if it is not, the equipment should not be used.

Achievable indicates the level of performance that should be attained under favourable circumstances, which is the level at which a facility should work, if feasible.

A facility should strive to ensure that equipment operates at the achievable level of performance (as specified in appropriate tables when defined), as this will produce the highest image quality and the most appropriate dose performance. It is recognized, however, that limited resources and other factors may occasionally prevent the achievable levels from being obtained.

Suitable minimum specifications for test equipment and phantoms are provided in Appendix I.

Table 5 lists all the tests that need to be carried out by radiographers and medical physicists for diagnostic installations (with additional tests for therapy applications also included).

Test number	Test name	Test personnel ^a	Diagnostic facility	Radiotherapy facility
8.2	CT alignment lights	R	\checkmark	\checkmark
8.3	SPR accuracy	R	\checkmark	
8.4	CT number, image noise, image uniformity and image artefacts	R	\checkmark	\checkmark
8.5	Image display and printing	R	\checkmark	\checkmark
10.2	External CT positioning lasers	R		\checkmark
10.3	Couch top alignment and positional accuracy	R		\checkmark
10.4	CT number of multiple materials	R		\checkmark
9.2	Visual inspection and review of programme	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.3	CT alignment lights	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.4	SPR accuracy	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.5	kV and half-value layer (HVL)	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.6	Radiation dose	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.7	CT number accuracy, image noise, image uniformity and image artefacts	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.8	Image display and printing	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.9	Imaged slice width	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.10	X ray beam width	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
9.11	Spatial resolution (MTF or modulation)	Р	\checkmark	\checkmark
10.6	External CT positioning lasers	Р		\checkmark
10.7	Couch top alignment and index accuracy	Р		\checkmark
10.8	Gantry tilt	Р		\checkmark
10.9	CT number accuracy	Р		\checkmark

TABLE 5. SUMMARY OF CT PERFORMANCE TESTS

^a R: radiographer; P: physicist.

8. RADIOGRAPHER'S TESTS

This section can be considered as a stand-alone section for radiographers and may, therefore, contain material that is duplicated elsewhere in this publication.

8.1. INTRODUCTION

A brief description of the methodology to be used when performing the radiographer's QC tests for diagnostic examinations is provided in Table 6. A listing of essential additional radiographer's tests is given in Table 9 for those facilities also providing CT images for radiation therapy treatment planning.

The order in which tests are performed does not necessarily follow the order in which they appear in this publication. The preferred order will depend on various factors relating to the CT facility as well as the evaluator's preferences, always having in mind that there exist tests whose results affect the execution of others.

8.2. CT ALIGNMENT LIGHTS

8.2.1. Introduction

The CT alignment light accuracy test shows the congruence of scan localization light and X ray field tomographic plane (Fig. 20). Patient anatomy to be scanned is often defined by scan alignment lights, therefore congruence of scan localization light and tomographic plane is a prerequisite for the proper definition of anatomy. This test is particularly important if the scanner is used for biopsy purposes.

Alignment lights on the scanner may be located within the gantry or 'internal' at the tomographic plane, outside or 'external' to the gantry at a reference distance from the tomographic plane, or both. If both internal and external alignment lights are supplied, and are independently aligned, both should be tested as detailed below.

Lights used for referencing the patient position for radiotherapy tend to be wall and ceiling mounted, these lights have tighter accuracy and testing of these is detailed in Section 10.

Test	Tart nomo	Drivitya	Currented fromon	Crit	teria
number	1031 1141110	LIMITY	ouggested mequely	Acceptable	Achievable
8.2	CT alignment lights	Щ	Monthly	±5 mm	±1 mm
8.3	SPR accuracy	Е	Monthly	±2 mm	±1 mm
8.4	CT number, image noise, image uniformity and image artefacts	Ш	Monthly	CT number ±5 HU ^b Noise ±25% BB ^c Uniformity ±10 HU Minimal artefacts	CT number ±4 HU Noise ±10% BB Uniformity ±4 HU Minimal artefacts
8.5	Image display and printing ^d	Щ	Monthly	See text	
^a E: essent ^b HU: Hou	tial, basic requirement. msfield unit.				

TABLE 6. RADIOGRAPHER'S QC TESTS (DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY)

62

% BB of baseline value.
 d Circumstances may require more frequent testing of some printers and monitors.



FIG. 20. Light alignment with scan plane: Imaging method.

8.2.2. Scope

Objective: To ensure that the internal and external alignment lights are properly aligned with the tomographic plane and the couch.References: [2, 4, 7, 8].Frequency: Monthly.

8.2.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

The test device should consist of a thin absorber, e.g. a wire of about 1 mm diameter. This can be used in conjunction with a standard CT phantom (see Section I.1.1).

The test device shown in Section I.2.2, or similar, may also be used, particularly if a scanner is used for radiotherapy treatment planning applications.

8.2.4. Scan protocol

A thin slice width should be used, preferably 1 mm (or the thinnest available width) in axial mode.

8.2.5. Methodology

- (1) Centre the test device in the external light field parallel to the tomographic plane.
- (2) Move the test device into the tomographic plane and check that the test device is aligned with the internal field light.
- (3) Scan the test object with narrow axial (sequential) slices over the range of ±3 mm about the centre of the light field.

Note 1: Alternatively, an X ray film may be positioned at the isocentre and the centre of the patient positioning light marked.

Note 2: If the CT scanner provides automatic patient positioning light accuracy evaluation, based on another method, this may be used instead after it has been validated.

8.2.6. Analysis

The alignment is acceptable if the full length of the test device is visible with high contrast in the correct image. If not, determine, by comparing the images from the series, the extent of misalignment of the lasers.

8.2.7. Interpretation of results

Tolerances:

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
CT alignment lights	±5 mm	±1 mm

8.2.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

(1) If the internal and the external light fields are not aligned, determine which is aligned with the tomographic plane and contact the service representative for realignment.

- (2) If X ray film is used and if the measured alignment error from holes in the processed film to the midpoint of the radiation field exceeds ± 5.0 mm, then run detailed tests or contact the service representative.
- (3) Document the steps taken to repair the CT equipment in order to meet the standards.

All corrective actions must be documented and records of each corrective action, repair and service maintained.

8.3. SPR ACCURACY

8.3.1. Introduction

The SPR (manufacturer terminology includes: 'scoutview', 'scanogram', 'topogram', 'surview', 'pilot', etc.) is used by the radiographer to prescribe the start and finish of a CT acquisition series, as well as for measuring distances, for example in pelvimetry¹³. In addition, the SPR permits the examination to be planned and controlled accurately and provides a record of the location of images.

8.3.2. Scope

Objective: To ensure that the SPR image accurately indicates the patient position.Reference: [4].Frequency: Monthly.

8.3.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

SPR accuracy test tool (Section I.2.1).

8.3.4. Scan protocol

A 1 mm slice (or the thinnest available) width axial acquisition at each end of the scan sequence or a 1 mm reconstructed (or the thinnest available) display width.

¹³ Note that SPR images result from an X ray beam divergent in only one dimension. Reliable distance information can only be given along the z axis (along the couch).

8.3.5. Methodology

- (1) Place the SPR accuracy test tool along the long axis of the couch.
- (2) Create an SPR image, making sure that the markers at each end of the tool are scanned.
- (3) Locate the markers on the SPR image and programme 1 mm or the thinnest available slice scans directly over these markers.
- (4) Initiate axial or spiral scan run.

8.3.6. Analysis

The two acquired CT slices of the markers, based on the SPR image, should clearly display each marker.

8.3.7. Interpretation of results

Tolerances:

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
SPR accuracy	±2 mm	±1 mm

8.3.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

Measurements exceeding the suggested tolerances indicate the need for equipment repair by a qualified service engineer.

8.4. CT NUMBER ACCURACY, IMAGE NOISE, UNIFORMITY AND IMAGE ARTEFACTS

8.4.1. Introduction

Much information can be gained on the quality of the scanner's imaging capability from a simple scan of a water filled test object (or phantom containing a uniform material), including the measurement of CT number, image noise and uniformity, and a visual assessment of artefacts.



FIG. 21. A non-commercial head phantom with simulated bone exterior.

8.4.2. Scope

Objectives: To ensure:

- (a) CT number accuracy;
- (b) Noise levels of CT images being within the tolerances with respect to their reference values;
- (c) Uniformity of CT number and image noise across the FOV (i.e. proper system calibration);

(d) Minimal image artefacts.

References: [4, 7, 67]. **Frequency:** Monthly.

8.4.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

Phantom as described in Section I.1.1. (The phantom used may be the manufacturer's phantom, a commercial phantom, or a simple phantom made using plastic pipe with end caps (Fig. 21).)

8.4.4. Scan protocol

As specified by the physicist at commissioning.

It should be noted that if the scanner has a software driven QC procedure, the pre-programmed settings should be used.

8.4.5. Methodology

- (1) Centre the phantom in the tomographic plane.¹⁴
- (2) Select scan relevant protocol.
- (3) Scan phantom in axial mode.
- (4) Repeat for additional scan protocols as specified above.

8.4.6. Analysis

- (1) Measurement of CT number accuracy, image noise and uniformity, and check for absence of image artefacts are performed on the same phantom images. For MDCT scanners, all quantitative measurements are performed using a centrally located image slice.
- (2) CT number and image noise are measured in a centrally placed circular ROI of appropriate diameter as specified at commissioning.
- (3) ROI size is critical. The ROI diameter should be specified by the physicist at commissioning. If using CT implemented QC software, the specified ROI diameter must be used.
- (4) The CT number is the measured ROI mean value and the noise is the ROI standard deviation.
- (5) Uniformity is measured as the absolute difference of CT numbers between a centrally placed ROI with each of four ROIs placed on the edge. Each of these four values should be compared with the given tolerance (see Section 9.7 for ROI placement definitions).
- (6) All images acquired during the noise test should be visually inspected for image artefacts. Thus, for MDCT scanners, this means examining all image slices in the acquisition, not just the central image slice.

¹⁴ Head sized phantom to be preferably placed in the head rest. Body sized phantom to be placed on a uniform part of the table avoiding the head rest fixing structures. Manufacturer's phantoms may be attached using supplied attachment devices.

8.4.7. Interpretation of results

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
CT number	±5 from baseline value ^a	±4
Image noise	$\pm 25\%$ of the baseline value ^a	$\pm 10\%$ of the baseline
Uniformity	±10	±4
Artefacts	No artefacts that have the potential to compromise diagnostic confidence	No visible artefacts

^a The value as specified by the physicist at commissioning.

8.4.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

Increased image noise can result from several factors, including:

- Selection of inappropriately low kV or mAs, or both;
- Malfunction of scanner hardware and/or software;
- Artefacts inside the ROI being used for measurement of standard deviation.

If the measured values are out of tolerance or the images exhibit artefacts, or both, user calibrations of the scanner should be performed and the measurements repeated. If the problem persists, corrective actions should be initiated.

8.5. IMAGE DISPLAY AND PRINTING

8.5.1. Introduction

The correct set-up of display monitors and film printing devices is essential to achieving a good diagnostic outcome.

8.5.2. Scope

Objective: To confirm that the image displays are reproducing all of the grey scale information in the image accurately and that the printed images are a faithful reproduction of the image display.



FIG. 22. SMPTE test pattern. Note the 5% and 95% patches inset within the 0% and 100% patches, respectively. These should be visible on the image displays and on the film images. Note that the 0% patch usually cannot be visualized on a printed (reflective) image such as this figure, but should be visible on CT films and displays.

References: [132, 133].

Frequency: This test should be carried out weekly, whenever service is performed on the image displays or printer, and whenever degradation in the image quality is suspected.

8.5.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

SMPTE test pattern (Fig. 22) or AAPM TG18-QC test pattern.¹⁵

8.5.4. Scan protocol

Not applicable.

¹⁵ The appropriate test pattern must be installed and/or verified by the medical physicist during the commissioning of the scanner (see Section 9.5).

8.5.5. Methodology

- (1) Display the SMPTE or AAPM test pattern on the image display.¹⁶
- (2) Set the window width and level at the specified values. (The medical physicist can provide the appropriate values as per Section 9.8.5.)
- (3) With the room lights set at the illumination level normally used, view the images on the image display.
- (4) Print the test pattern.
- (5) View the film images on the view box. Use the view box normally used for viewing clinical films and ensure that the room lighting conditions are the same as those used during clinical viewing of film images.

8.5.6. Analysis

Look at each image carefully. Determine if it is possible to see brightness or density differences between adjacent steps of the step wedge. Observe the visibility of the 5% and 95% inset patches.

8.5.7. Interpretation of results

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
Visibility of step wedge patches, and of the 5% and 95% inset patches	The brightness or density differences between adjacent steps of the step wedge should be visible. Both the 5% and 95% inset patches must be visible.	

8.5.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

(1) Each of the steps of the step wedge should be visible and appear different in brightness or density from the adjacent steps. The 5% and 95% inset patches must be visible.

¹⁶ This test must be carried out for each image display associated with the CT scanner, including the operator's console, radiologist's workstation, etc., to ensure that the displays are producing images of similar quality.

- (2) Loss of visibility can be caused by changes in the image displays or printer, or by changes in room illumination levels or view box luminance. As the illumination levels increase, it becomes more difficult to discern subtle differences, especially for the darker steps and the 5% inset patch. Confirm that the room illumination levels are at those normally used.
- (3) If all steps and inset patches are still not visible, corrective action must be initiated. Contact the medical physicist for recommendations regarding corrective action.

9. MEDICAL PHYSICIST'S TESTS¹⁷

9.1. INTRODUCTION

Table 7 lists the tests to be performed by the medical physicist. The order in which tests are performed does not necessarily have to be the same as they appear in this publication. The preferred order will depend on various factors relating to the CT facility and the medical physicist's preferences. It should always be considered that some test results are required before other tests can be performed effectively. All annual tests would also be carried out at acceptance or after having changes made to equipment, including software updates, as detailed in the tests themselves. Additionally, at commissioning, the baseline values for radiographer's tests would be established. This requirement is indicated in the test descriptions themselves and is also indicated in the suggested frequency column of Table 7. In most MDCT units, many of the tests below are prescribed by the manufacturer, using the provided suitable phantoms, and are automated for rapid execution. This may not be the case with older scanners.

¹⁷ It is considered that the measurement of kV and HVL is not necessary for CT scanners for either QA or patient safety reasons.

Test	Toot nomo	Drivritv ^a	Currented freemonie	Criteria	
number	1031 1141110	1 110111	ouggeoter meducity	Acceptable	Achievable
9.2	Visual inspection and review of programme	ш	Acceptance and annually	All items must meet local standards	
9.3	CT alignment lights	Е	Annually	±5 mm	±1 mm
9.4	SPR accuracy	Е	Annually	$\pm 2 \text{ mm}$	±1 mm
9.5	kV and HVL ^b	Щ	Acceptance and after changes	$kV \pm 5\%$ nominal HVL \geq specified by radiation protection regulations and within the tolerances specified by the manufacturer	$kV \pm 2\%$ nominal HVL \geq specified by radiation protection regulations and within the tolerances specified by the manufacturer
9.6	Radiation dose	Щ	Annually	±20% of manufacturer's specifications ±20% of baseline	$\pm 10\%$ of baseline
9.7	Image noise	Щ	Commissioning and annually	$\pm 25\%$ of baseline	±10% of baseline
9.7	Image uniformity	Щ	Commissioning and annually	± 10 HU for head and body	±4 HU for head and body
9.7	CT number accuracy	ы Ш Ц	Commissioning and annually	±5 HU (water) ±10 HU (other material) compared with baseline values	±4 HU

TABLE 7. MEDICAL PHYSICIST'S TESTS (DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY)

			,	~ ~	
Test	Tact nome	Drionitra	Curametrod frommer	Criteria	
number		ruuuy	onggested medueitcy	Acceptable Achieva	ıble
9.8	Image display and printing	Щ	Commissioning and annually	See text	
9.9	Imaged slice width	Щ	Annually	+0.5 mm for <1 mm ±50% for 1−2 mm; ±1 mm above 2 mm	
9.10	X ray beam width	D	Acceptance and after changes	Within manufacturer's specifications	
9.11	High contrast spatial resolution (MTF or modulation)	D	Acceptance and after changes	Within manufacturer's specifications	
^a E: essent	ial. basic requirement: D:	desirable.			

TABLE 7. MEDICAL PHYSICIST'S TESTS (DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY) (cont.)

^b It is considered that the measurement of kV and HVL is not necessary for CT scanners for either QA or patient safety reasons.

9.2. VISUAL INSPECTION AND PROGRAMME REVIEW

9.2.1. Introduction

The visual inspection of a CT facility can achieve much without the use of specialized test equipment. *Warning*: (i) do not test the emergency off button except in the presence of the supplier engineer, (ii) interlocks on doors should be configured in such a way that a person entering the scanner room will not automatically shut down the X ray output of the CT scanner.

9.2.2. Scope

Objective:

- (a) To ensure that the CT scanner and adjacent areas are safe and have the necessary radiation protection supplies, such as lead aprons and portable barriers.
- (b) To ensure that the CT QC tests are being carried out at the appropriate intervals and that corrective action is taken, when necessary.
- (c) To provide assistance and feedback relative to radiation safety and QC to the CT radiologists and radiographers.

Frequency: This evaluation is to be carried out at acceptance testing and annually thereafter.

9.2.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

- (1) Visual inspection and programme review checklist. (A sample form is included in the Annex. This should be modified by the medical physicist to include other items of importance at the specific facility.)
- (2) QC charts and logs.
- (3) Written safety procedures.

9.2.4. Scan protocols

Not applicable.

9.2.5. Procedure

(1) Evaluate the CT scanner, scanner room, radiologist's reporting room, operators' area and computer room using the visual inspection checklist.

- (2) Review the CT QC charts and logs with the CT radiographers. Anomalies in the data, missing data, or lack of corrective action or follow-up should be discussed.
- (3) Review the scan protocols and written safety procedures and discuss them with the CT radiologists and radiographers.

9.2.6. Analysis

Not applicable.

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
Visual inspection checklist	All items on the checklist should be present and functional.	
QC charts and logs	All tests are carried out as scheduled. Corrective action is requested and QC tests are performed after corrective action to ensure the system is functioning properly.	
Written safety procedures	All staff must be aware of the written safety procedures and follow them, as appropriate.	

9.2.7. Interpretation of results

9.2.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

- (1) Each of these evaluations is an essential part of the facility's QA programme. If test procedures are missing or equipment is not functioning properly, then appropriate action, including repair or replacement, as the case demands, must be undertaken.
- (2) The CT radiographers are responsible for carrying out the routine QC tests. If the results fall outside control limits or do not meet the stated criteria, the responsible physicist should be notified.
- (3) All staff must be aware of, and follow, the written safety procedures.
- (4) The medical physicist should discuss the results of the programme review with the responsible radiologist. Emphasis should be placed on areas requiring corrective action. The radiologist and the medical physicist should discuss deficiencies with the radiographers and stress the importance of these issues for the safety of both patients and staff.

9.3. CT ALIGNMENT LIGHTS

9.3.1. Introduction

The CT alignment lights accuracy test shows the congruence of the scan localization light and the X ray field tomographic plane. Patient anatomy to be scanned is often defined by scan alignment lights; therefore, congruence of the scan localization light and the tomographic plane is a prerequisite for proper definition of the anatomy. This test is especially important if the scanner is to be used for biopsy purposes.

Alignment lights on the scanner may be located within the gantry or 'internal' at the tomographic plane, outside or 'external' to the gantry at a reference distance from the tomographic plane, or both. If both internal and external alignment lights are supplied and independently aligned, both should be tested as detailed below.

Positioning lasers used for referencing the patient position for radiotherapy tend to be wall and ceiling mounted. These have tighter tolerances and testing of these is detailed in Section 10.

9.3.2. Scope

Objective: To confirm that the internal and external alignment lights are properly aligned with CT gantry and couch.

References: [4, 7, 8]. **Frequency:** Monthly.

9.3.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

The test device consists of a thin absorber, e.g. a wire with a diameter of about 1 mm. This can be used in conjunction with a standard CT phantom, such as that detailed in Section I.1.1.

The test device shown in Section I.2.2, or a similar one, may also be used, particularly if the scanner is used for radiotherapy treatment planning applications.

9.3.4. Scan protocol

A thin slice width should be used, preferably 1 mm (or the thinnest available) in axial mode.

9.3.5. Methodology

- (1) Centre the test device in the external light field parallel to the tomographic plane.
- (2) Move the test device into the tomographic plane and check that the test device is aligned with the internal field light.
- (3) Scan the test object with narrow axial slices over the range of ± 3 mm about the centre of the light field.
- (4) Examine the images and make a hard copy, if appropriate.

Note 1. Alternatively, an X ray film may be positioned at the isocentre and the centre of the patient positioning light marked.

Note 2. If the CT scanner provides automatic patient positioning light accuracy evaluation, based on another method, this may be used instead after it has been validated.

9.3.6. Analysis

The alignment is acceptable if the full length of the test device is visible with high contrast in the correct image. If not, determine, by comparing the images from the series, the extent of misalignment of the lasers.

9.3.7. Interpretation of results

Coincidence between the pin pricks and the X ray beam exposures indicates alignment between the internal lights and the tomographic plane.

Tolerances:

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
CT alignment lights	±5 mm	±1 mm

9.3.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

(1) If the internal and the external light fields are not aligned, determine which, if either, is aligned with the tomographic plane and contact the service representative for realignment.

- (2) If the film is used and if the measured alignment error from holes in the processed film to the midpoint of the radiation field is greater than ± 5.0 mm, then run detailed tests or contact the service representative.
- (3) Document the steps taken to repair the CT equipment to meet standards.

All corrective actions must be documented and records of each corrective action, repair and service carried out maintained.

9.4. SPR ACCURACY

9.4.1. Introduction

The SPR (manufacturer terminology includes 'scoutview', 'scanogram', 'topogram', 'surview', 'pilot', etc.) is used by the radiographer to prescribe the start and finish of a CT acquisition series, as well as for measuring distances, for example, in pelvimetry.¹⁸ In addition, the SPR permits the examination to be planned and controlled accurately, and provides a record of the location of the images.

9.4.2. Scope

Objective: To ensure that the SPR image accurately indicates the patient position.
Reference: [4].
Frequency: Monthly.

9.4.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

SPR accuracy test tool (Section I.2.1).

9.4.4. Scan protocol

A 1 mm (or the thinnest available) slice width axial acquisition at each end of the scan sequence or a 1 mm (or the thinnest available) reconstructed display width.

¹⁸ Note that SPR images result from an X ray beam divergent in only one dimension. Reliable distance information can only be given along the z axis (along the couch).

9.4.5. Methodology

- (1) Place the SPR accuracy test tool along the long axis of the couch.
- (2) Create an SPR image making sure that the markers at each end of the tool are scanned.
- (3) Locate the markers on the SPR image and enter 1 mm or minimum slice scans directly over these markers.
- (4) Initiate axial or spiral scan run.

9.4.6. Analysis

The two CT slices acquired of the markers based on the SPR image should be centred over each marker.

9.4.7. Interpretation of results

Tolerances:

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
SPR accuracy	±2 mm	±1 mm

9.4.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

Measurements exceeding the suggested tolerances indicate a need for equipment repair by a qualified service engineer.

9.5. X RAY GENERATOR (kV ACCURACY AND HVL)

It is considered that the measurement of kV and HVL is not necessary for CT scanners for either QA or patient safety reasons. If the patient dose, as indicated by the CTDI, is excessively high, one may investigate the kV and HVL to determine the potential causes of the high dose. If the kV is suspected of being outside tolerance, or that sufficient filtration in not present, then measurements of scanner output with the CTDI may be compared with those published by independent organizations (such as ImPACT http://www.impactscan.org/) or with manufacturer's specification data.



FIG. 23. Measurement of dose in a standard CTDI PMMA body phantom (left) and in air (right).

9.6. RADIATION DOSE

9.6.1. Introduction

Measurement of CT dose is essential to ensure the constancy of the CT scanner X ray output and performance and, most importantly, to assist in optimization of procedures to obtain the necessary image quality at a known and acceptable radiation dose to the patient (Fig. 23).

9.6.2. Scope

Objectives:

At acceptance:

- (a) To compare the determined C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL}) with the manufacturer's specifications;
- (b) To compare the C_{air} (CTDI_{air}) values for all X ray beam collimations with the manufacturer's specifications (if available).

At commissioning testing:

- (a) To determine the C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL}) and $P_{\text{KL,CT}}$ (DLP) values for selected protocols representing the main examinations clinically performed at the facility;
- (b) To measure the C_{air} (CTDI_{air}) values for all X ray beam collimations and kVs, if not already completed at acceptance;
- (c) To confirm, for selected scan protocols, the accuracy of the displayed $C_{\rm VOL}$ (CTDI_{VOL}) and $P_{\rm KL,CT}$ (DLP) values on the scanner console, if applicable.

At annual tests:

- (a) Review and update the C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL}) and $P_{\text{KL,CT}}$ (DLP) values for selected protocols representing the main examinations clinically performed at the facility;
- (b) Measure a small set of C_{air} (CTDI_{air}) values to confirm output consistency;
- (c) Review, for selected scan parameters, the accuracy of the displayed $C_{\rm VOL}$ (CTDI_{VOL}) and $P_{\rm KL,CT}$ (DLP) values on the scanner console, if applicable.

References: [4, 26, 37, 134].

Frequency: Acceptance, commissioning and annual testing. In addition, tests have to be performed after a system service which might impact on dose, including, but not limited to, replacement of an X ray tube or filtration component.

9.6.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

- (1) Suitable dosimeter and CT dose phantoms (see Section I.3.1).
- (2) Chamber stand for free-in-air measurement and devices to stabilize and secure the phantom.

9.6.4. Scan protocol

At acceptance, as specified by the purchase specifications.

At commissioning testing, the specified scans should be acquired at a minimum using one typical kV, mA, scan time setting, CT mode (head or body, axial or helical) and typical abdomen/soft tissue reconstruction kernel. The total beam width applied should be that typically used with patients, and matrix size should also be noted. More extensive testing is recommended to give the physicist an understanding of the system noise performance. Ideally, this might include:

- (a) All clinically used kV settings to be tested on relevant phantom sizes, with appropriate radiation filter settings;
- (b) Measurement in axial and helical modes.

Such data will serve as a platform for the more detailed studies needed when optimizing scan protocols.

At annual tests, as specified during commissioning.

9.6.5. Methodology

- (a) Measurement of C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL})
 - (1) Place the head phantom on the head rest.
 - (2) Move the phantom into the tomographic plane so that the tomographic plane bisects the length of the phantom.
 - (3) Centre in the FOV vertically and horizontally using CT lights.
 - (4) Place the ion chamber in the centre hole of the phantom and use PMMA plugs to fill unused holes.
 - (5) Ensure the phantom is not tilted or twisted. Alignment to within 5° is acceptable.
 - (6) Perform the SPR, both anterior-posterior and laterally, to ensure the phantom is centred vertically and horizontally. Position accuracy to within ±1 cm is acceptable.
 - (7) Verify the centring within the body of the phantom by taking a single axial slice.
 - (8) Select the scan protocol. WARNING: Some scanners may over-rotate unless the rotation is restricted to 360°.
 - (9) Record the measured dosimeter reading.
 - (10) Note the displayed CTDI_{VOL} from the acquisition workstation monitor for that particular scan protocol, if available.
 - (11) Reposition the ion chamber in one of the peripheral holes in the phantom.
 - (12) Repeat steps (8)–(11) until the dose in all four peripheral positions has been measured.
 - (13) Place the body phantom on the couch, avoiding the extreme end of the patient couch.
 - (14) Repeat steps (2)–(12).
- (b) Measurement of C_{air} (CTDI_{air})
 - (1) Place the ion chamber so that it overhangs the end of the scanner couch.
 - (2) Move the chamber into the tomographic plane so that the tomographic plane bisects the length of the sensitive volume of the ion chamber.
 - (3) Ensure the ion chamber is not tilted or twisted. Alignment to within 5° is acceptable.

- (4) Perform the SPR, both anterior–posterior and laterally, to ensure the ion chamber is centred vertically and horizontally. Position accuracy to within ±1 cm is acceptable.
- (5) Verify centring by taking a single axial slice.
- (6) Select approximately 120 kV and 100 mAs with the largest X ray beam collimation and scan the ion chamber in axial mode.
- (7) Record the measured dosimeter reading.
- (8) Repeat steps (6) and (7) for all other X ray beam collimations.
- (9) Repeat the measurement using the lowest and highest kV at the reference X ray beam collimation width¹⁹.
- (c) Accuracy of the C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL}) and $P_{\text{KL,CT}}$ (DLP) values displayed on the scanner console
 - (1) Compare the measured $C_{\rm VOL}$ (CTDI_{VOL}) and P_{KL,CT} (DLP) data with the values displayed on the CT console for the same acquisition parameters.

9.6.6. Analysis

- (a) Measurements for comparison with manufacturer's specifications
 - (1) Calculate the C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL}) values from the dosimeter readings for the central and peripheral measurements using Eq. (5) (Section 3.3.1).
 - (2) Repeat for other collimations and phantoms as required.
 - (3) Calculate the $P_{KL,CT}$ (DLP) from the C_{VOL} (CTDI_{VOL}) values (note that for a single axial rotation, the C_w and C_{VOL} values are identical).
 - (4) Compare with manufacturer's specifications.
- (b) Measurement of C_{air} (CTDI_{air}) for all beam collimations
 - (1) Calculate the C_{air} values from the dosimeter readings for all X ray beam collimations and kV used.
 - (2) Compare these values with results from acceptance or previous constancy testing.
 - (3) Plot the graph of C_{air} versus X ray beam collimation for constant kV values.
 - (4) Normalize the C_{air} series of values using the reference C_{air} value.

¹⁹ A reference collimation beam width of 20 mm is recommended or, if not possible, the largest possible collimation width below 20 mm.

9.6.7. Interpretation of results and tolerances

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
C _{VOL}	 (a) <±20% between manufacturer's and measured (b) <±20% between displayed and measured 	
C _{air}	 For each X ray beam collimation at acceptance: (a) <±20% compared with manufacturer's specifications and measured (b) annually <±20% compared with baseline 	

9.6.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

- (1) Should any of the values be outside the tolerances, service is required.
- (2) In the case of CT scanners with total beam widths in excess of 40 mm, follow appropriate advice [37].
- (3) Check with clinical staff on the use of any non-standard combinations of scan fields of view and filter combinations. It is important to check the C_{VOL} for these configurations and compare to that displayed.
- (4) Similarly, it is important to verify if the C_{VOL} measurements displayed for paediatric use are based on a 32 cm, 16 cm or other diameter dose phantom.

9.7. CT NUMBER ACCURACY, IMAGE NOISE, UNIFORMITY AND IMAGE ARTEFACTS

9.7.1. Introduction

Much information on the quality of the scanner's imaging capability can be gained from a simple scan of a water filled test object (or phantom containing a uniform material). From this, measurement of CT number, image noise and uniformity, combined with a visual assessment of artefacts, can be made.

9.7.2. Scope

Objectives:

At acceptance, to ensure that:

(a) CT number values comply with the manufacturer's specifications for defined acquisition parameters and phantoms;

- (b) Noise values comply with the manufacturer's specifications for defined reconstruction settings;
- (c) CT numbers in a homogeneous medium are uniform;
- (d) Artefacts are not visible.

At commissioning testing, to ensure that:

- (a) CT number values are recorded over a range of clinically relevant X ray tube energies and phantom sizes;
- (b) CT homogeneity is recorded over a range of clinically relevant X ray tube energies and phantom sizes;
- (c) Noise values and uniformity baseline values are set for radiographer's QC testing (see Section 8.4).

At annual tests, to ensure that image noise and uniformity remain within the specified tolerance limits of baseline measurements.

References: [4, 7].

Frequency: Acceptance, commissioning and annual testing. In addition, after service which might impact on noise, including, but not limited to, replacement of an X ray tube, system calibration, software changes or upgrades, etc.

9.7.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

At acceptance, the test phantom must be as specified by the purchase specifications. This phantom is usually supplied by the manufacturer.

At commissioning testing, the test phantom as described in Section I.1.1.

At annual tests, the test phantom as described in Section I.1.1, including both head and body phantoms.

9.7.4. Scan protocols

At acceptance, as specified by the purchase specifications.

At commissioning testing, the specified scans should be acquired at a minimum using one typical kV, mA and scan time setting, CT mode (head or body, axial or helical) and typical abdomen/soft tissue reconstruction kernel. The collimation applied, reconstructed slice widths (in MDCT) and matrix size should correspond to those typical of clinical conditions and should also be noted. More extensive testing is recommended to give the physicist an understanding of the system noise performance. Ideally, this might include:

(a) All clinically used kV settings to be tested on relevant phantom sizes;

- (b) A range of reconstruction filters for the baseline scan parameters determined for radiographers;
- (c) Measurement in axial and spiral mode.

Such data will serve as a platform for the more detailed studies needed when optimizing scan protocols.

The measurement of noise profiles for MDCT units to investigate interslice noise variation could also be useful at commissioning.²⁰

The automatic QC routines should not be used by the physicist if the test results and methodology are not clearly indicated.

At annual tests, as specified above in commissioning.

If the scanner has a software driven QC procedure, the pre-programmed settings could be used.

9.7.5. Methodology

- (1) Centre the phantom in the tomographic plane.^{21,22}
- (2) Select the scan relevant protocol.
- (3) Scan the phantom in axial mode.
- (4) Repeat for additional scan protocols as specified above.

Establishing baseline values for the radiographer's constancy protocol

Since image noise depends on scan and reconstruction parameters, these must be unambiguously defined for measurement and when setting baseline values for regular constancy tests.

The use of axial mode is preferred over helical, to avoid noise values depending on local z interpolation weighting factors and interpolation algorithms.

²⁰ In MDCT units, abnormalities in noise profile may indicate detector problems or a misalignment of the collimators with the tube axis. Therefore, it is advisable, if possible, to assess the noise for all detector rows and compare their values to their average and to manufacturer specifications. If provided, manufacturer's protocols should be adopted for this testing.

²¹ Head sized phantom to be preferably placed in the head rest. Body sized phantom to be placed on a uniform part of the table avoiding the head rest fixation structures. Manufacturer's phantoms may be attached using supplied attachment devices.

²² For scanners which have an FOV larger than 50 cm (mostly on large bore scanners used in radiotherapy), it is recommended that the phantom be moved off-centre to verify uniformity in the image periphery. This is especially important for therapy, as the patient is often positioned to the side of the scanner due to treatment immobilization devices.

9.7.6. Analysis

- (1) Measurement of CT number accuracy, image noise and uniformity and check of absence of image artefacts are performed on the same phantom images.
- (2) CT number and image noise are measured in a centrally placed circular ROI of appropriate diameter.
- (3) ROI size is critical. The ROI diameter should be specified by the physicist at commissioning. If using CT implemented QC software, the specified ROI diameter must be used. The following criteria have been recommended by the IEC [7]:
 - —For the measurement of CT number, the diameter for the ROI should be approximately 10% of the diameter of the image of the phantom.
 - -For the measurements of noise, the diameter for the ROI should be approximately 40% of the diameter of the image of the phantom.
 - -The ROI in the centre should not overlap an ROI near the edge of the phantom.
- (4) The CT number is the measured ROI mean value, and noise is the ROI standard deviation.
- (5) Uniformity is measured as the absolute difference of CT numbers between a centrally placed ROI with each of four ROIs placed on the edge. Each of these four values is to be compared with the given tolerance (see Fig. 24 for ROI placement).
- (6) All images acquired during the noise test are to be visually inspected for image artefacts. Thus, for MDCT scanners, this means examining all image slices in the acquisition, not just the central image slice (as is needed only for the ROI measurements).
- (7) In MDCT scanner constancy tests, noise levels should also be measured in the outermost slices.

For evaluation of the images, image processing software on the CT may be used or images transferred to a PC or workstation may be evaluated using commercial or public domain image processing software. A DICOM compliant image analysis software with scripting capabilities may be considered.

9.7.7. Interpretation of results and tolerances

At acceptance, the test results must comply with the tolerances specified at the time of purchase and as usually supplied by the manufacturer.



FIG. 24. Placement of ROIs for noise and uniformity measurements. Central ROI used for noise; peripheral and central ROIs for uniformity.

At commissioning testing, baselines will be established and tolerances confirmed.

At annual tests, the tolerances are as below:

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
CT number	±5 from baseline value	±4
Image noise	$\pm 25\%$ of the baseline value	$\pm 10\%$ of the baseline
Uniformity	±10	±4
Artefacts	No artefacts that have the potential to compromise diagnostic confidence	No visible artefacts

9.7.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

- (1) If the noise level is higher than the manufacturer specified, the tube voltage (kV) and mAs used for the test procedure should be checked. If measurements remain outside of tolerance, the system should be recalibrated using a calibration procedure that can be performed by the user. The test should be repeated. In the case of persistent out-of-tolerance results, corrective service is required.
- (2) In many cases, increased noise measurement results can be due to the presence of artefacts in the image, especially ring artefacts. Corrective action to minimize the artefacts, for example, performing an air calibration, is necessary before useful noise measurements can be obtained on repeat measurement.
- (3) Any problems in the measurement and results for noise profiles for MDCT units should be discussed with the manufacturer's agent.
- (4) Testing uniformity will mainly reveal problems with beam hardening correction.

The noise value from successive scans may vary by up to 15%, depending on the size of the ROI. Therefore, a number of scans (e.g. ten) can be taken to obtain a mean noise value with greater precision.

9.8. IMAGE DISPLAY AND PRINTING

9.8.1. Introduction

The quality of the image display and the associated view conditions for the acquisition console, diagnostic workstation and display of printed images as appropriate is critical for the effective diagnosis of CT images.

9.8.2. Scope

Objectives:

At acceptance, to ensure that the image displays are performing to specifications, including:

- (a) Geometric distortion and size calibration, luminance response;
- (b) Display resolution (low and high contrast), display noise, veiling glare, display chromaticity;
- (c) SMPTE or AAPM TG18-QC test pattern.

At commissioning testing, to ensure that room illuminance and display reflections are acceptable.

At annual tests, to ensure:

- (a) Size calibration;
- (b) Room illuminance and display reflection, luminance response;
- (c) Display resolution (low and high contrast), display noise;
- (d) SMPTE or AAPM TG18-QC test pattern;
- (e) Printer testing, which should include mid-density, density difference, visibility of 5% and 95% patches, high and low contrast resolution and visual appearance, are all acceptable.

References: [132, 133, 135–138].

Online resources:

SMPTE Online Test Pattern Tutorial

http://brighamrad.harvard.edu/research/topics/vispercep/tutorial.html

AAPM TG-18 Test Pattern Information

http://aapm.org/pubs/reports/OR_03.pdf. The test patterns are available at http://aapm.org/pubs/reports/OR_03_Supplemental/

Monitor QC Program for Planar Displays http://www.planar.com/products/docs/MBU/white_papers/Planar-MonitorQCProgram.pdf

Frequency: Acceptance and commissioning testing, annually, and whenever service is performed on the image displays or printer, and whenever degradation in the image quality is suspected.

9.8.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

- (1) Photometer to measure both luminance and illuminance, capable of measuring small area (5–10 mm diameter) luminance on displays.
- (2) Optical densitometer with a relatively small aperture, e.g. 3 mm.

9.8.4. Scan protocol

Not applicable.

9.8.5. Methodology

- (1) Display the SMPTE or AAPM TG18-QC test pattern on the image display. Note that this test must be carried out for each image display associated with the CT scanner including the operator's console and radiologist's workstation to ensure that the displays are producing images of similar appearance and quality.
- (2) Set the window width and level at the specified values. Note that the window width should be set to encompass all of the numerical values in the test image. For example, if the test image is a 9-bit image (maximum number 512), then the width should be set at 512. The level should be set to the value dependent on the operating system. For example, in some systems the level must be set at 0 or 1, the lower end of the 512 range. In other systems the level should be set at 256, the middle of range of numerical values in the test image.
- (3) With the room lights set at the illumination level normally used, critically view the test image on the display.
- (4) Using a calibrated photometer, measure the luminance of the 100%, 90%, 40% and 10% patches. Determine the difference in the luminance levels between the 90% and 40% patches, and between the 40% and 10% patches.
- (5) Measure the room illuminance. Note that the luminance and illuminance are measured with different detectors on the photometer. Ensure that the appropriate detector is used.
- (6) Print the test pattern on the printer.
- (7) Critically view the film images on the view box. Use the view box normally used for viewing clinical films and ensure that the room lighting conditions are the same as those used during clinical viewing of film images.
- (8) Measure the view box luminance and the room illuminance.
- (9) Measure the optical densities of the 0%, 10%, 40% and 90% film patches using a densitometer.

9.8.6. Analysis

- (1) Look at each test pattern image on both the image display and film carefully.
- (2) Determine if it is possible to see brightness or density differences between adjacent steps of the step wedge.
- (3) Observe the visibility of the 5% and 95% inset patches.
- (4) Observe low and high contrast resolution patterns. These should be used for constancy testing.
(5) Refer to Assessment of Display Performance for Medical Imaging Systems (AAPM, 2005) for further information and procedures.

9.8.7. Interpretation of results

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
Visibility of step wedge patches and of the 5% and 95% inset patches	The brightness or density differences between adjacent steps of the step wedge should be visible Both the 5% and 95% inset patches should be visible	
Film densities	Measured film densities should be as noted in Table 8	
Display maximum luminance levels	Primary workstation display ^a : 500 cd/m ² Secondary display ^b : 200 cd/m ² (typical values for LCD displays)	Primary workstation display: 600 cd/m ² Secondary display: 250–300 cd/m ²
Room illuminance levels	15–50 lux	
View box luminance level	A minimum of 1800 cd/m ²	A minimum of 3000 cd/m ²

^a Primary display refers to the workstation used by the radiologist for primary interpretation.

^b Secondary display refers to displays used by other physicians for reviewing images.

9.8.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

- (1) For both image displays and film images, each of the steps of the step wedge should be visible and appear different in brightness or density from the adjacent steps. The 5% and 95% inset patches must be visible.
- (2) Loss of visibility can be caused by changes in the image displays or the printer, or by changes in room illumination levels. As the room illumination levels increase, it becomes more difficult to discern subtle differences, especially for the darker steps and the 5% inset patch. Confirm that the room illumination levels are those normally used.
- (3) If all steps and inset patches are still not visible, corrective action must be initiated.

Patch	Density	Tolerance (±)
0%	2.45	0.10
10%	2.10	0.10
40%	1.15	0.10
90%	0.30	0.05

TABLE 8. TYPICAL FILM DENSITIES FORSMPTE TEST PATTERN IMAGES

- (4) Degradation in the maximum luminance level occurs over time with CRT type displays. (This does not occur as dramatically for LCD type displays.) However, the monitors can usually be recalibrated to maintain the maximum luminance level.
- (5) The image display luminance differences from step to step are impacted primarily by the display calibration, the look-up table and the room illuminance level, and should remain relatively constant over time. Consequently, the differences noted at acceptance testing should be maintained.
- (6) The densities of the test pattern patches are impacted primarily by the type of film, film processor (development time and temperature, chemical activity, etc.) and look-up table. It is essential to have a QC programme for the film printer and processor in order to maintain the appropriate film densities.

Corrective action for displays

- (7) If the 5% or 95% patches are not visible on the display, ensure that the room illumination levels do not exceed 15–50 lux.
- (8) If the room illumination levels are appropriate, then it will be necessary to readjust the brightness and contrast levels on the display, if these are accessible to the medical physicist. First, set both the brightness and contrast levels to zero. Adjust the brightness control until the background on the display is just visible. Next, adjust the contrast control until the 95% patch is readily visible. Continue to increase the contrast adjustment until distortion is seen in the alphanumerics. When this occurs, decrease the contrast setting slightly until the distortion disappears. If the brightness and contrast controls are independent, the display should now be properly

adjusted. If the controls are not independent, it may be necessary to readjust the brightness control to obtain an appropriately dark background (but with the 5% patch visible) and then readjust the contrast control. If the 5% and 95% patches cannot be displayed at the same time, then it will be necessary to obtain assistance from the service engineer to recalibrate the display.

Corrective action for film printers

- (9) Review the QC charts for the film printer. If the printer is a 'wet process' system, i.e. one using liquid developer, fixer and wash, then ensure that the chemicals are fresh and that the processor is in control.
- (10) Print a test film from the printer and confirm that the densities obtained on the test film are within the control limits for the printer. If this is not the case, check the expiration date for the film emulsion batch being used. If the film is expired, switch to a new emulsion batch with an appropriate expiration date. If the film is performing well, contact the manufacturer or check for error in the LUT.

9.9. IMAGED SLICE WIDTH

9.9.1. Introduction

This test assures the user that the displayed image represents a specified thickness of tissue. This thickness is no longer directly governed by the acquisition slice width as set by the collimation and detector slice width. In MDCT units, the image slice width is selected in software. However, the thinnest image slice width is limited by the traditional acquisition parameters of collimation and detector width and pitch.

9.9.2. Scope

Objective: To ensure that the reconstructed imaged slice width is similar to that selected on the CT scanner console.

References: [4, 7, 8].

Frequency: Acceptance testing, annually, and as part of the end of warranty testing, and whenever service is performed on the CT system which might have an impact on the image quality, including, but not limited to, replacement of an X ray tube, system calibration, software changes or upgrades, etc.

9.9.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

See Section I.1.5.

9.9.4. Scan protocol

At acceptance, as specified by the purchase specifications. This usually includes all collimator settings. In MDCT scanners the maximum number of imaged slice widths should be acquired for each collimator setting [7].

At commissioning testing, it is recommended that:

- (a) The clinical range of axial slice widths is measured, as determined by combinations of collimation and detector settings.
- (b) Helical slice widths should be determined at a number of acquisition and reconstructed slice thicknesses. It is recommended that the reconstructed image slice width be the same width as the effective detector thickness and that spot checks be made for larger reconstructed slice widths. These should also be investigated under different pitch conditions.
- (c) Where possible, scan protocols used for noise, dosimetry and slice width should be standardized and based on the clinical requirements of usage of the CT scanner.

Such data should later be analysed in conjunction with similar dosimetric data to assist in future detailed studies needed when optimizing scan protocols.

At annual tests, as specified above in commissioning.

The number (if any) and the nature of annual testing should be determined during the commissioning of the CT scanner.

9.9.5. Methodology

Axial mode

- (1) Align the axial z sensitivity test device so that its axis coincides with the axis of rotation of the CT scanner with the image centred in the FOV.
- (2) Perform an SPR to confirm acceptable alignment and to define the tomographic plane (see Fig. 25).
- (3) Select a scan protocol as determined above.
- (4) Scan the test object as required.
- (5) Repeat for all other selected scan protocols.



FIG. 25. (a) SPR image of the ramp test object, (b) image through the inclined ramps, (c) profile through image in (b). Nominal slice width is 6 mm.

Helical mode

- (1) Place the helical z sensitivity test object on the CT couch or secure it on a stand so that it is centred in the FOV and aligned such that the metal foil insert is parallel to the tomographic plane.
- (2) Perform an SPR and define the scanned volume for helical scanning to ensure the metal foil is fully imaged.
- (3) Select a scan protocol as defined in the above section.
- (4) Scan the test object.
- (5) Reconstruct images at intervals of approximately one tenth of the nominal imaged slice width.

- (6) Repeat step (5) for other clinically relevant imaged slice widths.
- (7) Repeat steps (3)–(6) for other scan protocols.

9.9.6. Analysis

The evaluation for MDCT should be performed at least for both outer tomographic sections and for one representative inner tomographic section.

Axial mode

- (1) Plot the profile of CT numbers across the image of the ramp (see Fig. 25(c)).²³
- (2) For MDCT, one scan will result in multiple images. For annual testing, imaged slice widths should be measured at least in the central slice position. For acceptance, imaged slice widths should be measured at least for both outer slices and one representative inner slice [7].
- (3) Determine the CT number maximum (CT_{max}) and CT number background (CT_b).
- (4) Determine the CT number corresponding to half the maximum height using the following relationship:

 $CT_{half} = (CT_{max} - CT_b)/2 + CT_b$

- (5) Determine the full width half maximum (FWHM) in pixel values by calculating the distance between the two points corresponding to the CT_{half} values. Simple linear interpolation may be used to obtain this distance more accurately.
- (6) Convert this to a distance (FWHM) by correcting for the pixel size.²⁴
- (7) Calculate the imaged slice width from:

slice width = FWHM $\times \tan \theta$

 $^{^{\}rm 23}$ To decrease the impact of image noise, it may be preferable to average over several rows.

 $^{^{\}rm 24}$ The FWHM option may, in some instances, also be inferred directly using calipers and the line profile tool.

where θ is the angle of inclination of the inclined plane to the tomographic plane and is a property of the phantom.²⁵

Helical mode

- (1) Place an ROI over the central portion of each reconstructed image corresponding to the position of the metal disc insert and measure the average CT number in it (see Fig. 26).
- (2) Plot the measured values of the CT number versus image position (distance in the z axis direction) as in Fig. 27.
- (3) Determine CT_{max} and CT_{b} .
- (4) Determine the CT number corresponding to half the maximum height using the following relationship:

 $CT_{half} = (CT_{max} - CT_b) / 2 + CT_b$

(5) Determine the FWHM by calculating the distance between the two points corresponding to the CT_{half} values. Simple linear interpolation may be used to obtain this distance more accurately. This distance represents the imaged slice width.



FIG. 26. Images of test object with ROIs shown drawn over metal 'delta function' insert. Insert is (a) not in the tomographic plane, (b) partially in the tomographic plane and (c) centred in the tomographic plane.

 $^{^{25}}$ The analysis is simplest if the angle, θ , is 45°. For thin slices, however, a smaller angle allows more pixel values to contribute to the profile and ensures a more accurate estimate of the imaged slice width. Where a test object utilizes two inclined planes, the slice width can be calculated from the average value. If the test object is aligned perfectly with respect to the scanner–patient couch axis, the two values should be identical. With any misalignment, the profiles will differ but the errors will cancel each other out.



FIG. 27. Plot of pixel value in ROI placed over position of 'delta function' insert as a function of image slice position. The positions of the three images in Fig. 26 are indicated by vertical arrows. Nominal imaged slice width is 2 mm.

Nominal slice width (mm)	Acceptable
≤1	<nominal +="" 0.5="" mm<="" td=""></nominal>
>1 and ≤ 2	±50%
>2	±1 mm

9.9.7. Interpretation of results

- (1) *At acceptance*, for MDCT assessed in axial mode, the measured imaged slice widths for contiguous images should agree with an acceptable tolerance of 20%.
- (2) For extremely thin slices, especially if acquired in axial mode, the measured image thickness may be significantly thicker than the nominal thickness, for example, a nominal 1 mm thick slice may actually be 3 mm thick or more, because of limitations imposed by the thickness of the ramp. Verify the phantom specifications and apply appropriate corrections if needed.

9.9.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

If tolerances are not met, a service engineer should be contacted.

9.10. X RAY BEAM WIDTH

9.10.1. Introduction

The X ray beam width, also known as the radiation profile or irradiation slice width, is a measure of the collimated beam width along the z axis. It is generally defined and measured for axial scanning. In MDCT, the X ray beam width is larger than the total image width (in order to ensure uniformity of exposure to all detectors along the z axis), and this becomes more significant with thinner beam widths. This is known as over-beaming and the physicist should be aware of the extent of this phenomenon.

9.10.2. Scope

Objectives:

- (a) To determine the accuracy of collimator settings;
- (b) To determine the extent of over-beaming.

References: [4, 5].

Frequency: Acceptance and commissioning testing, and after changes.

9.10.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

A special X ray detector is required, either:

- (a) A strip of therapy localization film²⁶, with a film backing plate and adhesive tape; or
- (b) A strip of gafchromic film; or
- (c) An array of thin thermoluminescent dosimeter chips loaded in a holder (not recommended for thin slice widths (details of this method are given in Ref. [4])).

²⁶ Dental film, industrial film or Polaroid film can also be used for this test.

9.10.4. Scan protocol

At acceptance, as specified by the purchase specifications. This usually includes all collimator settings.

At commissioning testing, it is recommended that all collimation settings be tested, including combinations of detector setting and slice width.

This is not recommended as an annual test.

9.10.5. Methodology

- (1) Place film on a flat foam block to minimize scatter on the film.
- (2) Raise the couch so that the film surface is on the isocentre of the scanner.
- (3) Mark the isocentre of the film.
- (4) Scan the film in axial mode for one collimation setting using a set kV and mAs as required to give the film a density that is clearly below the film maximum density.
- (5) Repeat for all other selected scan protocols.
- (6) Repeat steps (4) and (5), this time using the same kV but half the mAs value.

9.10.6. Analysis

- (1) Plot the profile of the density of the exposed film using a film scanning device²⁷ for each collimation setting from steps (4) and (5) above.
- (2) In a similar way, determine the maximum density for each scan made in step (6) above. Note that this density value corresponds to the 50% exposure level for the corresponding film processed above in step (1) and so defines the FWHM value for that film.
- (3) Apply the density value for the FWHM to each of the beams plotted above in step (1) to determine the X ray beam width.
- (4) One simple method to provide a direct measure of the over-beaming is to divide the nominal collimation beam width by the measured X ray beam width.²⁸

 $^{^{\}rm 27}$ Some transmission scanners used for personal computers can, with care, be used for this task.

²⁸ The more exactly defined term of geometric efficiency requires that the measured slice profile be converted from a film density profile to an air kerma profile through a suitable conversion process. The same applies to the use of thermoluminescent dosimeters to measure the profile. An added difficulty in this approach is that the conversion function will also vary with changes in the spectral make-up of the profile found outside the central section.

9.10.7. Interpretation of results

- (1) *At acceptance*, the X ray beam width should be within manufacturers specifications.
- (2) Compare measures of over-beaming for different collimation settings with data available for similar scanners.

9.10.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

- (1) If tolerances are not met, a service engineer should be contacted.
- (2) Direct measures of over-beaming are useful in the optimization process when determining the trade-off between dose and the advantages of using narrower beam collimation.
- (3) An alternative relative indicator of the extent of over-beaming can be gained by comparing in-air pencil chamber dose measurements (C_{air}) . This approach is further discussed in Section 9.6.

9.11. SPATIAL RESOLUTION

9.11.1. Introduction

The measurement of spatial resolution is important in acceptance and commissioning of a CT scanner, as resolution is a key parameter that can be optimized, along with image noise and dose. However, it is recognized that scanner resolution, as measured by routine QC tests, has not been seen to vary in the experience of many physicists working in the area. However, the use of specific phantoms and purpose written software does allow the possibility for this to be assessed in a reproducible way.

9.11.2. Scope

Objective: To ensure that the spatial resolution of a reconstructed image complies with manufacture standards.Reference: [4].Frequency: Acceptance testing and whenever the CT system is serviced, which might have an impact on the image quality.

9.11.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

See Section I.1.4.2, Fig. 33(a) or (b). For MTF evaluation of spatial resolution, software is required. This may be supplied either by the manufacturer or a third party.

9.11.4. Scan protocol

At acceptance, as specified by the purchase specifications.

At commissioning testing, it is recommended that the effect of reconstruction filters on spatial resolution be evaluated.

At annual tests, no annual testing of this parameter is considered necessary.

9.11.5. Methodology

- (1) Centre the phantom in the tomographic plane.
- (2) Align the test object parallel to the image plane.
- (3) Note that this is essential, as any misalignment will cause the objects to become effectively larger (bars, rods, etc.) or more blurred (edge). The bead is the only test object that is not subject to alignment problems; this advantage is offset by a potentially lower signal to noise level.
- (4) Select a scan relevant protocol.
- (5) Scan the phantom.
- (6) Repeat for additional scan protocols as specified above.

9.11.6. Analysis

- (1) For resolution patterns (bars, rods, etc.), visual analysis is appropriate.
- (2) For MTF evaluation, the image data need to be transferred to the same computer platform as the analysis software.

9.11.7. Interpretation of results

Within manufacturers' specifications.

9.11.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

If tolerances are not met, a service engineer should be contacted.

10. ADDITIONAL TESTS FOR RADIATION THERAPY

This section can be considered as a stand-alone section for radiotherapy testing and, therefore, may contain material that is duplicated elsewhere in this publication.

Image quality is of the utmost concern in both diagnostic and radiotherapy imaging and generally the same image quality is expected in both applications. Image quality in radiotherapy applications is of crucial importance in ensuring that tumour volumes are accurately delineated. The diagnostic image quality tests are equally applicable to radiotherapy applications and should be included in routine QA programmes.

Radiotherapy scanning places demands on the spatial and geometric accuracies of the CT scanner, couch top and external lasers that are often beyond the requirements of diagnostic imaging. Spatial and geometric distortions can lead to systematic radiotherapy patient treatment errors. A number of tests are needed to ensure correct installation and operation. More importantly, the diagnostic and radiotherapy physicists and service administration need to understand the unique needs for each speciality with respect to CT imaging, especially in shared CT settings. For example, Fig. 28 shows the image of a bath of water where the sloping water surface indicates that the whole image is rotated. As the image quality is acceptable, this would not be a problem in diagnostic applications; yet it could lead to potentially unacceptable systematic errors in radiotherapy treatments. Similarly, quantitative CT values, CT gantry and couch top alignment, CT image spatial orientation and integrity, and external laser alignment are all less important considerations in diagnostic applications, but are of crucial consideration in radiotherapy applications.

10.1. INTRODUCTION TO RADIOGRAPHER'S TESTS

A brief description of the methodology to be undertaken when performing the radiographer's QC tests for use in radiotherapy treatment planning is provided in this section (Tables 9 and 10). A listing of routine radiographer's tests needed for diagnostic examinations is given in Table 9 and detailed in Section 8.

The order in which tests are performed does not necessarily follow that in which they appear in this publication. The preferred order will depend on various



FIG. 28. CT image of a water bath demonstrating a sloping water surface. This indicates that the entire image is rotated.

factors relating to the CT facility, as well as the evaluator's preferences, always bearing in mind that there exist tests whose results affect the execution of others.

10.2. EXTERNAL CT POSITIONING LASERS

10.2.1. Introduction

External CT positioning laser accuracy tests show the congruence of scan localization light and the tomographic plane. Alignment lights on the scanner may be located within the gantry at the tomographic plane, or outside the gantry at a reference distance from the tomographic plane, or both. If both internal and external alignment lights are supplied, and are independently aligned, both should be tested (see Section 8.2). As indicated in Table 9, the tolerance for CT alignment lights is ± 5 mm, which is outside acceptable limits for most radiotherapy applications, and if CT lights are used for this application, it is necessary to tighten the tolerance to ± 2 mm. On some CT scanners, it may not be possible to achieve a sustainable alignment tolerance for CT lights of ± 2 mm. This can be caused by several factors, for example, on some scanners the lights are mounted on the fibreglass cover, which may be vibrating or have poor

Test	Tant norma	Drioritya	Currented framework	Crite	ria
number		r 11011Ly	auggested meducity	Acceptable	Achievable
8.2	CT alignment lights	н	Monthly	±5 mm	±1 mm
8.3	SPR accuracy	Е	Monthly	±2 mm	±1 mm
8.4	CT number ^b , image noise, image uniformity and image artefact	Ш	Monthly	CT number ±5 HU ^c Noise ±25% BB ^d Uniformity ±10 HU Minimal artefacts	CT number ±4 HU Noise ±10% BB Uniformity ±4 HU Minimal artefacts
8.5	Image display and printing	Щ	Monthly ^e	See text	
^a E: Essen	tial, basic requirement.	:			

TABLE 9. RADIOGRAPHER'S QC TESTS (DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY)

At least one value should be checked daily to ensure correct dose calculation values for the treatment planning system. D

^c HU: Hounsfield units.

^d %BB: Percentage of baseline value.

^e Circumstances may require more frequent testing for some printers and monitors.

IADLE 10.	INDIANAFIER JULY CIERT OF CLEAR (ADDIA	I I UNAL F	JN NAUJUTHENAF	I AFFLICATIONS)	
Test	Toot	Duitouitra	Currented for an and	Criteri	a
number	ICOL	r 110111y	ouggested mequely	Acceptable	Achievable
10.2	External CT positioning lasers	Щ	Daily ^b	±2 mm	±1 mm
10.3	Table top alignment and positional accuracy	Е	Daily	±2 mm	±1 mm
10.4	CT number of multiple materials	Е	Monthly	CT number ±5 HU ^c	CT number ±4 HU
^a E: Essentia	al, basic requirement.				

TABLE 10 BADIOGRAPHER'S OC TESTS (ADDITIONAL FOR RADIOTHERADY ADDITICATIONS)

^b Daily, or at least on those days prior to using the system for treatment planning purposes. ^c HU: Hounsfield units.

positioning reproducibility. The achievable accuracy of CT positioning lights for an individual scanner, and its impact, should be understood and taken into consideration for radiotherapy scanning.

External CT positioning lasers typically offer greater accuracy for patient marking and alignment and need to be regularly tested to a tight tolerance, as described below. As already discussed, wall lasers can be fixed or movable. Operationally, it is not necessary for the wall lasers to be movable, and the same quality and accuracy of treatment can be achieved with both laser arrangements. Movable lasers simplify the radiotherapy and patient marking process. However, if the wall lasers are fixed in the CT scanner room, a reference set of marks can be placed on the patient's skin and later adjusted on the treatment machine prior to the first treatment. In this set-up, the sagittal and coronal lasers are typically aligned with the origin of the tomographic plane and the axial laser is spaced at a specific distance from the tomographic plane. It can be convenient if this spacing is a distance that can be easily used in calculations (i.e. 500 mm or similar). For a movable laser arrangement, the sagittal and coronal lasers can be moved while the axial laser is typically fixed. The origin of sagittal and coronal lasers is still aligned with the tomographic plane origin and the axial laser is positioned some distance away. Alignment and QA for fixed and movable lasers are largely the same, with some additional tests for movable lasers. If internal CT gantry lights can be accurately and reproducibly aligned, then they can be used and tested along with the external CT positioning lasers.

10.2.2. Scope

Objective: To verify that wall mounted CT positioning lasers are properly aligned with the tomographic plane isocentre. The test procedure is the same for fixed and movable lasers.

References: [2, 3].

Frequency: Daily, or at least on those days prior to using the system for treatment planning purposes.

10.2.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

CT laser QC test tool [2] or similar test tool, as described in Section I.2.2.

10.2.4. Scan protocol

A thin slice width should be used, preferably 1 mm in the axial mode.

10.2.5. Methodology

- (1) Ensure that the flat top is attached to the couch.
- (2) Use the CT laser test tool or similar and establish that the internal light field is parallel to the tomographic plane. This involves aligning the markers on the device with the internal gantry laser. A scan is then taken to ensure that the lasers align with the radiation field and a couch position for this scan is recorded.
- (3) The device is then aligned with the external CT positioning lasers and the couch position recorded. At this point, the external CT positioning lasers should bisect the markers on the device.
- (4) Alternatively, if the internal lights are not of sufficient accuracy, the CT laser test tool can first be scanned and a couch position, which has the alignment between the centre of the test device and tomographic plane, identified. The test device is then aligned with the wall lasers and the longitudinal couch position noted.

10.2.6. Analysis

To ensure the internal gantry lights align with the tomographic plane, the test device holes should appear similar from left to right, as shown in Fig. 29, and should appear as large as possible. If there is any misalignment or rotation, the image of the holes in the test device will not be solid (they will appear dim, as in Fig. 29(b), or will not be symmetrical between the left and right pegs). At this time, the couch position at which the test device is aligned with the tomographic plane should be recorded.

Next, the couch is retracted so that the test device is aligned with the external CT positioning lasers and the couch coordinate is recorded.

10.2.7. Interpretation of results

The external CT positioning lasers should identify the tomographic plane within. The wall lasers should be spaced from the tomographic plane by the nominal distance of ± 2 mm.

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
External CT positioning lasers	±2 mm	±1 mm



FIG. 29. CT laser QC device. (a) Alignment lights aligned with the tomographic plane and (b) centre of test device offset by 1 mm from the tomographic plane (from Ref. [2]).

10.2.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

If external CT positioning lasers are out of tolerance, no patients for radiotherapy treatment planning should be examined until the source of error has been determined and corrected. If a scanner is not equipped with external CT positioning lasers and only gantry lights are available and if these are out of tolerance, the scanner should not be used for radiotherapy scanning until the source of error has been determined and corrected.

10.3. COUCH TOP ALIGNMENT AND POSITIONAL ACCURACY

10.3.1. Introduction

In radiotherapy applications, it is most commonly required that the CT scanner be equipped with a flat couch top. The couch and the couch top should be orthogonal to the tomographic plane. This ensures that scanned patient geometry can be accurately reproduced on the treatment machine.

10.3.2. Scope

Objectives: To ensure that:

- (a) The couch top is level and orthogonal with respect to the tomographic plane;
- (b) Both couch and vertical motions, according to digital indicators, are accurate and reproducible.

Reference: [2].

Frequency: Daily, or at least on those days prior to using the system for treatment planning purposes, or any time after repositioning the couch top.

10.3.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

- (1) Section I.2.2 CT laser QC test tool [2] or similar test tool;
- (2) Ruler (1 m long);
- (3) Spirit level;
- (4) Weights of 70 kg and 140 kg to be distributed on the couch to simulate a patient.

10.3.4. Scan protocol

Single axial 1 mm thick CT slice.

10.3.5. Methodology

- (a) Methodology for ensuring the couch top is level and orthogonal with respect to the tomographic plane:
 - (1) Place on the couch top a 70 kg weight to simulate the weight of a patient.
 - (2) Place the laser QC device on the extreme head end of the couch top (gantry side) carefully, so that the support edge is aligned with the couch edge.
 - (3) Align the laser QC device with gantry alignment lights and spirit level.
 - (4) Acquire a single 1 mm thick CT slice.
 - (5) Place the laser QC device on the extreme foot end of the couch top carefully, so that the support edge is aligned with the couch edge, and again align it with the gantry alignment lights. For the success of this test, it is imperative that the laser QC device be aligned for both scans in the same position relative to the centre of the couch.
 - (6) Acquire a single 1 mm thick CT slice.

- (7) Measure the location of the centre hole in the laser QC device of both images using the scanner cursor tool. If the scanner is not equipped with a cursor tool, use image overlay graphics, which are reproducible between two scans, as the reference.
- (8) Repeat steps (1)–(7) with a 140 kg weight.
- (b) Methodology for ensuring that both couch and vertical motion according to digital indicators are accurate and reproducible:
 - (1) Place on the couch top a 70 kg weight to simulate the weight of a patient.
 - (2) Place a long ruler vertically on the couch top.
 - (3) Observe the light's position on the ruler as the couch is raised and lowered.
 - (4) Record all measurements made on the ruler, but ensure that the ruler is perpendicular to the couch top for all measurements.
 - (5) Repeat steps (1)–(4) with a 140 kg weight.

Details of these procedure are discussed in Appendix E of Ref. [2].

10.3.6. Analysis

- (1) Compare the position of the horizontal holes in both pegs on the laser QC device in both images using the scanner cursor tool.
- (2) For manual and computer controlled couch position accuracy and reproducibility, the measurements made on the ruler, using the light marker, are recorded.

10.3.7. Interpretation of results

Tolerances: The alignment is acceptable if the full lengths of the marker segments are visible with high contrasts in the image.

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
Couch top alignment	±2 mm	±1 mm
Vertical positional accuracy	±2 mm	±1 mm

10.3.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

Measurements exceeding the suggested tolerances indicate a need for equipment repair by a qualified service engineer. Repairs and follow-up QC checks should be carried out prior to imaging patients for treatment planning purposes.

10.4. CT NUMBER OF MULTIPLE MATERIALS

10.4.1. Introduction

Dosimetric calculations, which account for differential dose distribution in various materials, rely on an accurate representation of the electron densities of organs shown in the CT image. An inaccurate determination of electron density can lead to erroneous radiotherapy dose calculations and, ultimately, to patient mistreatment.

10.4.2. Scope

Objective: To ensure that the CT number of a range of materials falls within the required values for the use of the scanner for radiotherapy planning.

References: [2, 4, 67, 139]. **Frequency:** Monthly.

10.4.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

Phantom containing inserts covering a range of different CT numbers (Section I.4.1), including an IAEA recommended phantom [67].

10.4.4. Scan protocol

The most frequently used scan protocol for radiotherapy patients. If multiple kV settings are used for radiotherapy patients, each kV used should be tested (see Appendix II).

10.4.5. Methodology

- (1) Centre the phantom at the isocentre in the tomographic plane.
- (2) Select the relevant scan protocol.

- (3) Scan the phantom.
- (4) Repeat for additional protocols as required.

10.4.6. Analysis

CT numbers are measured in a centrally placed circular ROI of appropriate diameter. In the ROI, the mean value of the CT number is given.

10.4.7. Interpretation of results

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable (IEC)
CT number	±20	±4 from baseline value

10.4.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

If measured values are out of tolerance, user calibrations of the scanner should be performed and measurements repeated. If the problem persists, corrective actions should be initiated. All out of tolerance results should be communicated to radiotherapy planning staff so that they can determine if any patients have been affected by equipment malfunction.

10.5. INTRODUCTION TO MEDICAL PHYSICIST'S TESTS

Table 11 lists the tests to be performed by the medical physicist for diagnostic purposes. Table 12 lists the additional tests to be performed by the medical physicist for radiotherapy purposes. Ideally, the tests from Table 12 should be performed by a medical physicist specializing in radiation oncology or, if performed by a medical physicist specializing in diagnostic radiology, should be done in consultation with the therapy physicist.

10.6. EXTERNAL CT POSITIONING LASERS

10.6.1. Introduction

The CT gantry alignment lights accuracy test shows the congruence of the scan localization light and the tomographic plane. Alignment lights on the scanner may be located within the gantry at the tomographic plane or outside the gantry at a reference distance from the tomographic plane, or both. If both

Test	Tart nomo	Drionitra	Surgeon from the	Criteria	
number		LIUIIIY	ouggested mequency	Acceptable	Achievable
9.2	Visual inspection and review of programme	Щ	Acceptance and annually	All items must meet local standards	
9.3	CT alignment lights	Щ	Annually	±5 mm	±1 mm
9.4	SPR accuracy	Щ	Annually	$\pm 2 \text{ mm}$	$\pm 1 \text{ mm}$
9.5	kV and HVL	щ	Acceptance and after changes	$kV \pm 5\%$ nominal HVL \geq specified by radiation protection regulations and within the tolerances specified by the manufacturer	$kV \pm 2\%$ nominal HVL \ge specified by radiation protection regulations and within the tolerances specified by the manufacturer
9.6	Radiation dose	Щ	Annually	$\pm 20\%$ of manufacturers' specifications $\pm 20\%$ of baseline	$\pm 10\%$ of baseline
9.7	Image noise	Щ	Commissioning and annually	$\pm 25\%$ of baseline	$\pm 10\%$ of baseline
9.7	Image uniformity	Щ	Commissioning and annually	$\pm 10 \ \mathrm{HU^{b}}$ for head and body	± 4 HU for head and body
9.7	CT number accuracy	ш I I	Commissioning and annually	±5 HU (water) ±10 HU (other material) compared to baseline values	±4 HU

TABLE 11. MEDICAL PHYSICIST'S TESTS (DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY)

			,		
Test	Tott nomo	Deioeita	Currently from an	Criteria	
number		riiuiily	ouggested mequeity	Acceptable Achievab	le
9.8	Image display and printing	ш	Commissioning and annually	See text	
9.9	Imaged slice width	Щ	Annually	+0.5 mm for <1 mm; ±50% for 1 to 2 mm; ±1 mm above 2 mm	
9.10	X ray beam width	D	Acceptance and after changes	Within manufacturers' specifications	
9.11	High contrast spatial resolution (MTF or modulation)	D	Acceptance and after changes	Within manufacturers' specifications	
^a E: est ^b HU: I	sential, basic requirement; D: desi Hounsfield unit.	able.			

TABLE 11. MEDICAL PHYSICIST'S TESTS (DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY) (cont.)

		2			
Test	Tact	Drioritya	Surverted frequency	Criteria	
number	1001	1 110111	ouggested it equetted	Acceptable	Achievable
10.6	CT positional lasers	Щ	Monthly	±2 mm	±1 mm
10.7	Couch top alignment and index accuracy	Ш	Annually	± 2 mm couch positional accuracy	±1 mm
10.8	Gantry tilt	Е	Annually	±1° from vertical	
10.9	CT number accuracy	Ш	Commissioning and annually	±20 HU ^b (all materials) compared with values specified by manufacturer	±4 HU
^a E: essent ^b HU: Hot	tial, basic requirement. stield unit.				

(RADIOTHERAPY)	
TESTS	
DICAL PHYSICIST'S	
2. ME	
TABLE 1	

internal and external alignment lights are supplied, and are independently aligned, both should be tested (see Section 8.2).

External CT positioning lasers are used for referencing the patient position and need to be regularly tested to a tight tolerance, as described below.

10.6.2. Scope

Objective: To verify that external CT positioning lasers are properly aligned with the CT tomographic plane isocentre. The methodology is the same for fixed and movable lasers.

References: [2, 3].

Frequency: Daily, or at least on those days prior to using the system for treatment planning purposes.

10.6.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

CT laser QC test tool [2] or similar test tool, as described in Section I.2.2.

10.6.4. Scan protocol

A thin slice width should be used, preferably 1 mm in axial mode.

10.6.5. Methodology

- (1) Ensure that the flat couch top is attached to the couch.
- (2) Use the CT laser test tool or similar device and establish that the internal light field is parallel to the tomographic plane. This involves aligning the markers on the device with the internal gantry laser. A scan is then taken to ensure that the lasers are aligned with the radiation field and a couch position for this scan is recorded.
- (3) The device is then aligned with the external CT positioning lasers and the couch position recorded. At this point, the external CT positioning lasers should bisect the markers on the device.
- (4) Alternatively, if the internal lights are not of sufficient accuracy, the CT laser test tool can first be scanned and a couch position, which has the alignment between the centre of the test device and tomographic plane, identified. The test device is then aligned with the wall lasers and the longitudinal couch position noted.

10.6.6. Analysis

To ensure that the internal gantry lights align with the tomographic plane, the test device holes should appear similar from left to right, as shown in Fig. 29, and should appear as large as possible. If there is any misalignment or rotation, the image of the holes in the test device will not be solid (they will appear dim, as in Fig. 29(b) or will not be symmetrical between the left and right pegs). At this time, the couch position at which the test device is aligned with the tomographic plane should be recorded.

Next, the couch is retracted so that the test device is aligned with the external CT positioning lasers and the couch coordinate is recorded. Alternatively, as described in Section 10.2.5.4, if the gantry CT lights are not used, the couch position at which the holes in the test device appear the largest and the couch position at which the test device is aligned with external lasers are recorded.

10.6.7. Interpretation of results

The CT positioning lights should identify the tomographic plane within. The wall lasers should be spaced from the tomographic plane by the nominal distance (± 2 mm).

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
External CT positioning lasers	±2 mm	±1 mm

10.6.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

If external CT positioning lasers are out of tolerance, no patients for radiotherapy treatment planning should be examined until the source of error has been determined and corrected. If a scanner is not equipped with wall lasers and only gantry mounted lasers/lights are available and if these are out of tolerance, the scanner should not be used for radiotherapy scanning until the source of error has been determined and corrected.

10.7. COUCH TOP ALIGNMENT, DEFLECTION AND POSITIONAL ACCURACY

10.7.1. Introduction

In radiotherapy applications, it is most commonly required that the CT scanner be equipped with a flat couch top. The couch and the couch top should be orthogonal to the tomographic plane. This ensures that scanned patient geometry can be accurately reproduced on the treatment machine.

10.7.2. Scope

Objectives: To ensure that the:

- (a) Couch top is level and orthogonal with respect to the tomographic plane;
- (b) Couch and the vertical and longitudinal motions, according to digital indicators, are accurate and reproducible;
- (a) Couch indexing and positioning under scanner control is accurate.

References: [2, 3, 7].

Frequency: These tests must be performed by a medical physicist at the time of acceptance testing, as part of the end of warranty testing, annually, and whenever servicing of the CT system is carried out, which might impact couch top alignment and positional accuracy, including, but not limited to, system calibration and software changes or upgrades.

10.7.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

- (1) CT laser QC test tool (see Section I.2.2);
- (2) Ruler (1 m long);
- (3) Weights of 70 kg and 140 kg to be distributed on the couch to simulate a patient.

10.7.4. Scan protocol

Single axial 1 mm thick CT slice.

10.7.5. Methodology

(a) Methodology for ensuring that the couch top is level and orthogonal with respect to the tomographic plane:

- (1) Place on the couch top a 70 kg weight to simulate the weight of a patient.
- (2) Place the alignment QC device on the extreme head end of the couch top (gantry side).
- (3) Align the alignment QC device with the gantry alignment lights and the spirit level.
- (4) Acquire a single 1 mm (or the thinnest available) thick, transaxial CT slice.
- (5) Place the alignment QC device on the extreme foot end of the couch top and again align it with the gantry alignment lights. For the success of this test, it is essential that the alignment QC device be aligned for both scans in the same position relative to the centre of the couch.
- (6) Acquire a single 1 mm (or the thinnest available) thick, transaxial CT slice.
- (7) Measure the location of the centre hole in the alignment QC device of both images using the scanner cursor tool. If the scanner is not equipped with a cursor tool, use image overlay graphics, which are reproducible between two scans, as the reference.
- (8) Repeat steps (1)–(7) with a 140 kg weight.
- (b) Methodology for ensuring couch and vertical motion according to digital indicators are accurate and reproducible:
 - (1) Place a 70 kg weight on the couch top to simulate the weight of a patient.
 - (2) Place a long ruler vertically on the couch top.
 - (3) Observe the lights' position on the ruler as the couch is raised and lowered.
 - (4) Record all measurements made on the ruler.
 - (5) Repeat steps (1)–(4) with a 140 kg weight.
 - (6) Ensure that the ruler is perpendicular to the couch top for all measurements.
- (c) Methodology for ensuring couch indexing and positioning under scanner control is accurate:
 - (1) Place a 70 kg weight on the couch top to simulate the weight of a patient.
 - (2) Place a long ruler along the couch top.
 - (3) Observe the lights' position on the ruler.
 - (4) Advance the couch under scanner control a known distance.
 - (5) Return the couch the same distance and note the position on the ruler.
 - (6) Repeat steps (1)–(5) with a 140 kg weight.

For both scans, the couch should be moved under scanner control. Details of these procedures using film are discussed in Appendix E of Ref. [2].

10.7.6. Analysis

- (a) The positions of the horizontal holes in both pegs on the alignment QC device in both images should have the same coordinate, to within 2 mm, when measured by the scanner cursor tool.
- (b) For the manual and computer controlled couch position accuracy and reproducibility, the measurements made on the ruler, using the light marker, are recorded.

Ensure that the:

- (1) Couch top is level and orthogonal with respect to the tomographic plane;
- (2) Couch and vertical motions, according to digital indicators, are accurate and reproducible;
- (3) Couch indexing and positioning under scanner control is accurate.

10.7.7. Interpretation of results

Tolerances:

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
Couch level and orthogonality	Visual assessment	
Digital indicator accuracy	±1 mm	
Couch positional accuracy	±2 mm	±1 mm

10.7.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

Measurements exceeding the suggested tolerances indicate the need for equipment repair by a qualified service engineer. If the CT images are to be used for radiation therapy treatment planning, the repairs and the follow-up QC checks should be carried out prior to imaging patients for treatment planning purposes.

10.8. GANTRY TILT

10.8.1. Introduction

Almost all CT scanners are capable of acquiring axial CT scans with a tilted gantry, though most MDCT systems do not permit helical scanning in these circumstances. Scanner tilt is generally not desirable in radiotherapy scanning and the use of tilted images could potentially lead to some unnecessary uncertainties in the treatment planning process. If the scanner is used only in a radiotherapy setting, the gantry is typically left in a vertical position all the time. In the case of shared use scanners, the gantry should be returned to the vertical position prior to therapy scanning and the gantry tilt indicator should correctly indicate the vertical position.

10.8.2. Scope

Objective: The digitally indicated angle of the CT scanner gantry in the vertical position should be accurate to within ±1°.
Reference: [2].
Frequency: Annually.

10.8.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

CT laser QC test tool [2] or similar test tool (see Section I.2.2).

10.8.4. Scan protocol

Not applicable.

10.8.5. Methodology

- (1) Align the laser QA device with the gantry lasers and verify that the device is aligned with the side vertical gantry lasers over the full range of vertical couch travel by moving the couch up and down.
- (2) Tilt the gantry in both directions and then return to the vertical position. The alignment of the laser QA device with vertical side gantry lasers should remain within 1°.
- (3) Repeat the test by tilting the gantry in the opposite direction and returning it to the vertical position.

10.8.6. Analysis

After returning the gantry to the vertical position, as indicated by angle readout, the gantry lights/lasers should be in the same position relative to the laser QA device. It is important to move the couch up and down to ensure that the alignment is maintained over the full range of motion. If there are any discrepancies, it is expected that it would be the easiest to observe them at the extremes of the vertical couch travel range.

10.8.7. Interpretation of results

Tolerances: The alignment is acceptable if the relative position of the gantry lights/lasers remains in a constant position over the full range of vertical couch travel.

Test quantity	Acceptable	Achievable
Gantry alignment in vertical position	±1° from vertical	±1° from vertical

10.8.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

Measurements exceeding tolerance indicate the need for gantry tilt indicator recalibration or repair by a qualified service engineer. This test should be repeated after any such procedure to ensure correct operation. If this test fails, patient scans can still be performed as long as the correct vertical position is verified prior to each scan. This can be performed by following the procedure outlined in this section.

10.9. ELECTRON DENSITY CALIBRATION

10.9.1. Introduction

Reference [67] discusses in detail the importance for radiotherapy planning of an accurate relationship between CT numbers and electron density for a range of materials. Dosimetric calculations which account for differential dose distribution in various materials rely on an accurate representation of the electron densities of organs shown in the CT image. An inaccurate determination of electron density can lead to erroneous radiotherapy dose calculations and ultimately to patient mistreatment.

10.9.2. Scope

Objective: To establish the CT number and electron density relationship for the use of the scanner for radiotherapy planning.
References: [2, 4, 5, 67].
Frequency: This should be carried out at acceptance and annually, and also at the time of any software or hardware upgrades.

10.9.3. Equipment, materials and instrumentation

Phantom containing inserts covering a wide range of different CT numbers and with known electron density values (see Section I.4.1).

10.9.4. Scan protocol

Typical clinical parameters for radiotherapy (300 mAs, 1 cm reconstructed slice thickness axial mode) should be used, noting particularly that the correct reconstruction algorithm (filter or kernel) is used, and for all kV settings used clinically as discussed in Section 10.4.6.

10.9.5. Methodology

- (1) Ensure that CT number and uniformity tests have been successfully completed at the time of testing.
- (2) Centre the electron density phantom in the tomographic plane.
- (3) Check centring with SPR.
- (4) Select the relevant scan protocol.
- (5) Scan the phantom.
- (6) Place ROIs inside the relevant samples and record HU values.
- (7) Repeat for additional protocols as required.
- (8) Send acquired data to the treatment planning system for analysis under the treatment planning system QA procedures [67].

10.9.6. Analysis

The CT number is plotted against the known values of electron density for the materials supplied in the phantom.



FIG. 30. CT calibration curves measured with the CIRS phantom at different hospitals [67].

10.9.7. Interpretation of results

Tolerances: ± 5 HU (water), ± 20 HU (other materials) compared with phantom manufacturer recommendations and baseline values established during system commissioning.

The plot of relative electron density against CT number is approximately linear, although in practice it deviates from the linear relationship in the high CT value region due to the greater proportion of photoelectric interactions (Fig. 30).

The actual CT values measured will differ from scanner to scanner, depending on differences in effective energy and as a function of scan energy as discussed in Section 10.4.6. However, the aim is to establish the relationship of CT number and electron density for a particular scanner, and this information is input into the radiotherapy treatment planning computer.

10.9.8. Recommendations and corrective actions

If measured values are out of tolerance, user calibrations of the scanner should be performed and measurements repeated. If a problem persists, corrective actions should be initiated. All out of tolerance results should be communicated to the radiotherapy planning staff so that they can determine if any patients have been affected by equipment malfunction.
Appendix I

PHANTOMS AND EQUIPMENT

CT phantoms and equipment can be organized into three general categories: (i) image performance phantoms, (ii) geometric phantoms and (iii) quantitative/dosimetry phantoms and instrumentation. Many of these phantoms are available from the scanner suppliers and are 'packaged' in the purchase agreement. In other cases, it may be necessary to use commercial and 'home-grown' solutions. These solutions vary in complexity, cost and availability. While discussing all available designs and features is beyond the scope of this publication, several general descriptions can be made.

I.1. IMAGE PERFORMANCE PHANTOMS

I.1.1. Noise and uniformity phantom (general)

Noise and homogeneity section: Homogeneous phantom or phantom section that may contain an outer rim of plastic (preferably PMMA). This will be the case in phantoms containing liquid water. Alternatively, these phantoms may be constructed from uniform plastic (Fig. 31). These phantoms typically come in



FIG. 31. Noise and uniformity phantom consisting of uniform plastic core and surrounding plastic ring.

two diameters: body and head. Phantoms are identical in design and only differ in their size in simulating the body or head.

I.1.2. Noise and uniformity phantom (head)

- Homogeneous phantom or phantom section simulating the head.
- Homogeneous in attenuation or phantom section and may contain an outer rim of plastic (preferably PMMA). This will be the case in phantoms containing liquid water.
- Outside diameter of 16–20 cm and a total attenuation equivalent to at least 16 cm of water should be used to simulate the patient's head [7].
- Length of the phantom or water section in the phantom should be substantially longer than the maximum total collimation, this being especially important for MDCT.

I.1.3. Noise and uniformity phantom (body)

- Homogeneous phantom or phantom section simulating the body.
- As in Section I.1.2, but with an outside diameter of 30–35 cm and a total attenuation equivalent to at least 30 cm of water used to simulate the patient's body [7].

I.1.4. Low and high contrast spatial resolution phantoms

While this publication does not discuss in detail low and high contrast tests, a brief description of phantoms used for evaluating these image performance parameters is given here.

I.1.4.1. Low contrast (contrast resolution) phantom

Low contrast phantoms consist of relatively large cylindrical test objects, of varying sizes and contrast, which are imbedded in a uniform background which differs only slightly in density from the test objects. The phantom imaged in Fig. 32 contains three sets of cylindrical rods of varying diameters and contrast levels to measure low contrast performance. The rod diameters at each contrast level are 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 15, with nominal contrast levels of 0.3, 0.5 and 1%. These phantoms are usually purchased rather than developed in-house. This publication advocates the use of noise values as a sufficient test of scanner performance in relation to low contrast detectability, as is consistent with the performance testing of other digital imaging equipment.



FIG. 32. Low contrast phantom.

I.1.4.2. High contrast (spatial resolution) phantom

High resolution measurements are performed with objects which have a high contrast (contrast difference of 12% or greater) with respect to uniform background and which are usually supplied by the manufacturer or are available from commercial manufacturers. High contrast resolution is most commonly measured using either a resolution pattern (line pair phantom with a range of spatial frequencies) or by the MTF method. The line pair phantom is shown in Fig. 33(a), where the line pair pattern ranges in frequency from 1 lp/cm to 21 lp/cm. Increasingly, however, this is not able to demonstrate the high spatial resolutions now available with modern scanners. The use of PMMA test objects in water is also problematic due to long term absorption of water in the PMMA. Figure 33(b) shows an MTF phantom with a high density tungsten carbide bead which is used to create an impulse, or point source, from which the MTF can be calculated.²⁹ The high contrast wire or bead needs to have a cross-sectional

 $^{^{29}}$ Alternatively, an edge response phantom can be developed. To measure an edge spread function, a phantom containing the block of high density material and having a flat face needs to be used. Suitable dimensions would be approximately 80 mm × 40 mm in the image plane and a thickness which is at least three times the nominal irradiated slice width (more for helical scanning or for MDCT scanners). Perspex can be used for low resolution scans. However, a higher density material for the higher resolution scans, such as polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), is more suitable [4].



FIG. 33. (a) Line pair high contrast phantom, (b) MTF based high contrast phantom.



FIG. 34. View of slice width phantom with superimposed CT slice projection and resulting test object projection on image.

diameter of the order of, or preferably less than, the resolution that is being tested. For all phantoms used to evaluate the scanner, MTF appropriate software needs to be available to complete the analysis.

I.1.5. Imaged slice width phantom

Imaged slice width can be measured in either the axial or helical mode. In the axial mode, the test object typically contains one, or preferably two, thin metal inclined planes³⁰, as seen in Fig. 34.

³⁰ A ramp with discrete beads, discs or wires may also be used.



FIG. 35. A typical helical z sensitivity phantom (courtesy: ImPACT) [140].

For helical acquisition, the phantom contains a thin (submillimetre thick) metal plate (Fig. 35), or a submillimetre diameter air hole embedded in a uniform background cylinder (usually PMMA). The thickness of the metal plate or size of the air hole must be less than the smallest nominal imaged slice width that will be measured. Such phantoms can commonly be manufactured locally, using materials such as the lead foil found in dental film packs.

I.2. GEOMETRIC ACCURACY PHANTOMS

I.2.1. SPR accuracy test tool

A suitable test tool can be easily fabricated from a PMMA slab at least 25 cm, and preferably 50 cm or more, long. It can be shaped like a ruler and should have accurately placed markers at a set distance apart (e.g. 50 cm). Another alternative is to use a phantom or material block of a precisely known length. In this case, the SPR distance can be checked by comparing with the distance between the ends of the phantom.

I.2.2. CT laser QC test tool or similar test tool

This device, as shown in the Fig. 36, consists of a Lucite base and two Lucite pegs mounted on the base. The pegs are 5 cm high, 2.8 cm wide and 25 cm apart. Vertical and horizontal holes 1 mm in diameter are drilled through the centre of each peg, forming a cross inside the peg.



FIG. 36. CT laser QC test tool. (a) CT laser QC device attached to the couch top, (b) side elevation of CT laser device through the centre of the pegs showing holes drilled inside the pegs and (c) plan view of the device (adapted from Ref. [2]).

I.3. DOSIMETRY PHANTOMS

I.3.1. Standard CT dosimetry phantoms and equipment

Phantoms: The standard head and body CT dosimetry phantoms (Fig. 37) are constructed of PMMA and each is a right circular cylinder of at least 140 mm in length. The head and body phantoms have diameters of 160 mm and 320 mm, respectively, and may be separate or combined as in Fig. 37. Note that the body phantom cross-section is larger than a typical adult. Each phantom has a central bore and at least four bores at the periphery to accommodate the ionization chamber as shown in Fig. 38. All the holes are filled with plugs, which may be individually removed to facilitate measurements.

Dosimetry equipment: The CT air kerma indices $C_{a,100}$ and C_w (CTDI₁₀₀ and CTDI_w) are measured with a calibrated pencil detector compliant with IEC standards [141], which typically comprises an ionization chamber specially designed for CT (Fig. 39) and an electrometer.

Active semiconductor detectors and passive solid state detectors (thermoluminescence and optically stimulated luminescence) have also been used for CT dosimetry, but their use is limited [26].



FIG. 37. Photograph of typical standard head and body CT dosimetry phantoms. The head phantom is the innermost cylinder (which has been partially removed for clarity) and when surrounded by a PMMA annulus, the body phantom is formed (from Ref. [26]).



FIG. 38. Cross-section through the standard phantom (head and body dimensions given). The small circles indicate the positions of the bores for inserting a CT ionization chamber. A PMMA plug is shown on the left (not to scale) (from Ref. [26]).



FIG. 39. Pencil ionization chamber used for dosimetry of CT examinations. The active volume of the chamber is typically 3 cm^3 and the active length is 100 mm [26].

Paediatric phantoms: Currently, there is no internationally agreed phantom or set of phantoms to represent the various sizes for non-adult patients. Typically, the standard head CT dosimetry phantom (16 cm diameter) is used to provide $C_{\rm VOL}$ values for paediatrics. However, the phantom size should always be specified and care should be taken that the correct filters (head or body) are applied.

I.4. QUANTITATIVE PHANTOMS

I.4.1. CT number phantom

There are numerous phantoms which are designed to measure CT numbers or HU. These phantoms are typically cylindrical in shape and contain several cylindrical test objects of different composition. Preferably, the electron density is known for each material. Figure 40 shows a phantom which was recommended in a previous IAEA publication [67]. This phantom is specifically designed for radiotherapy applications and a number of alternatives are also available for primarily diagnostic work. Figure 41 shows one such phantom. If a commercial phantom is not available, a CT phantom may be constructed locally, provided due care is taken.



FIG. 40. Thorax phantom (CIRS Model 002LFC) [67].



FIG. 41. CT number regions in RMI ACR accreditation phantom.

Appendix II

RADIOTHERAPY CT SCAN PROTOCOL PARAMETERS

II.1. INTRODUCTION

In addition to anatomical information, radiotherapy applications rely on CT studies to provide accurate information about patient geometry and also quantitative CT values which contain information about patient tissue composition. Radiotherapy CT scan protocols commonly require an image slice thickness of 3 mm, longer scan volumes than are typically used in diagnostic scanning and scans that are acquired in rapid fashion. Therefore, CT scan protocols for radiotherapy applications often require modification for the common diagnostic protocols used for the same scan site. This section provides some elementary guidance and explanations for radiotherapy scan protocol parameter selection.

The appropriate settings needed for various parameters for single slice and multislice scanners are also addressed. A number of CT scanners routinely come from the manufacturer preloaded with basic radiotherapy protocols and these are generally a good starting point for scan protocol development.

II.2. PROTOCOL PARAMETERS

Tube potential (kV): As discussed in Section 10.9, the relationship between CT number and electron density that is stored in radiotherapy treatment planning system computers is unique for each available CT scanner tube voltage setting on the scanner. In order to avoid radiotherapy treatment planning errors and to simplify the process, most radiotherapy facilities rely on a single kV setting for all their examination scans. This ensures that the correct CT number to electron density conversion file is always used. Tube voltages of 120 or 130 kV should produce satisfactory images and information in almost all patients. These values are equally applicable to single slice and multislice CT scanners. The following points are important:

• It is imperative that all radiotherapy patients be scanned using the predetermined kV setting as given in the scan protocol and this setting should not be altered without a specific communication to radiotherapy planning staff. If a facility chooses to vary the tube voltage setting among patients, in order to optimize imaging, this must be clearly communicated

by the CT radiographers to radiotherapy staff to ensure that the correct conversion table is used in the treatment planning system for each patient.

• In this discussion of CT kV settings it is assumed that the radiotherapy facility is performing heterogeneity corrected dose calculations. If the facility is exclusively using homogenous dose calculations, then kV settings can be used as needed. It is imperative to contact the radiotherapy physicist to determine which dose calculation formalism (heterogeneous or homogenous) is used in the clinic.

Tube current (mA): Soft tissue contrast can be of critical importance for tumour delineation in radiotherapy applications and higher than usual mA settings may be desirable. As an increase in mA is directly proportional to an increase in dose, radiotherapy physicians should determine if such an increase in mA is justified. In most instances, the additional dose from a CT scan is a very minor fraction of the dose that will be delivered from radiotherapy treatment and it is commonly considered that the benefit of improved images outweighs the risks to patient from higher dose.

As discussed in Section 4.3 and in this appendix, radiotherapy examinations often require 100 or more images in a single study. The large number of images result in increased demand on X ray tube heat loading and some CT scanners may not be able to accommodate such scans without modification of protocols (this is mainly an issue with single slice scanners, as MDCT scanners employ a more efficient utilization of X rays). One of these modifications is a reduction of the mA settings from commonly used values. The lower mA will result in a lower tube loading. However, this will also reduce image quality and it is in direct contradiction to the above paragraph. Radiotherapy physicians and/or physicists should be consulted to evaluate the options for mA settings.

It is possible that some large bore CT scanners require an increase in mA setting to produce the same image quality as conventional bore scanners. This is due to increased separation between the X ray tube and detectors. The manufacturer should be contacted to evaluate this issue and determine if adjustment in technique is needed, based on scanner geometry.

Scan time: The scan time setting is commonly selected so that the chance of patient motion during the scan is minimized while allowing the entire volume to be scanned without running into heat storage problems. For most single slice scanners, scan time will be set to 1–2 seconds per rotation. For MDCT scanners, this is typically less than one second, depending on scanner capabilities.

Slice thickness and spacing: Typically, the slice thickness used for radiotherapy applications is 3 mm with continuous coverage of the patient. This provides a very good balance between tumour and normal structure delineation accuracy and the generated number of images. Thicker slices may lead to the

inadequate definition of tumours, while thinner slices may result in unnecessarily large data sets. At a slice spacing of 3 mm, common radiotherapy scans will result in 100–200 images. The majority of treatment planning systems should be able to accommodate such amounts of data with little difficulty. However, the radiotherapy physicist should be consulted to confirm data storage capacity.

In single slice CT scanners, it may not be possible to scan the entire volume with 3 mm thick slices without reaching the X ray tube heat limit. In such situations, it is acceptable to use a 3 mm slice thickness through the tumour volume and 5 mm above and below this volume with the use of thicker slice settings (5 or 8 mm) towards the two ends of the scan volume. As MDCT scanners typically do not have tube heat storage issues, a single spacing can be used for the entire scan.

Pitch: The pitch setting for single slice scanners is commonly set between 1.5 and 2.0 in order to allow full volume image acquisition without reaching the X ray tube heat storage limit. Pitch settings greater than 2.0 may lead to unacceptable image quality and should be evaluated prior to use. For multidetector scanners, the pitch setting is less critical and can be set according to manufacturer recommendations.

Reconstructed display FOV: Radiotherapy applications most commonly require that the full extent of the patient be included in axial images. This is necessary for accurate dose deposition calculations. Therefore, since the FOV must be large enough to accommodate the entire patient and in virtually all applications except paediatric scanning, it is desirable to set the FOV to the largest setting available. For most scanners, this will be 48 or 50 cm. This requirement is the same for single slice and multislice scanners.

Scan limits: In diagnostic applications, it is typically acceptable to acquire a scan only through the volume of interest (i.e. through the tumour and the volume in the immediate vicinity) and to limit the extent of the scan to as short a time as necessary. In radiotherapy applications, it is often required to include the entire organs in the scan in order to evaluate treatment effects on organ function. For example, if a patient has a 3 cm long lung lesion, the entire lung volume would commonly be included in the scan so that the effects of radiotherapy applications will be different from diagnostic ones and the radiotherapy physician should be contacted to determine these. It is possible that scan limits are predetermined for individual scan sites and outlined in the institution's policies and procedures or, alternatively, the physician can provide them with each scan request. This requirement is the same for single slice and multislice scanners.

Image reconstruction: Image reconstruction algorithms and other parameters for radiotherapy and diagnostic applications are typically the same and no modifications are needed. It is possible that some options may result in better soft tissue contrast and these possibilities should be explored. This requirement is the same for single slice and multislice scanners.

Appendix III

CONFIGURING EXTERNAL CT POSITIONING LASERS FOR RADIOTHERAPY APPLICATIONS

III.1. INTRODUCTION

External CT positioning lasers can significantly improve the accuracy, value and efficiency of CT imaging for radiotherapy applications. The lasers in the CT scanner are needed to align and mark a patient in a position which subsequently can be reproduced for radiotherapy treatments, as shown in Fig. 42.

In the simplest form, this marking and patient positioning can be performed with gantry mounted lights/lasers. Unfortunately, gantry lights are often not very stable and/or accurate and, additionally, it can be very difficult to reach inside the gantry to mark the patient. Generally, it is preferred to have lasers which are



FIG. 42. Example of skin marks that are placed on a patient's anterior and sides during a radiotherapy CT scan.

mounted outside the gantry. External lasers can be wall mounted if walls are sufficiently stable (usually less than 1 mm movement is expected) or on a metal arch frame or on posts. External CT positioning lasers consist of overhead (sagittal), side-horizontal (coronal) and side-vertical (axial) lasers. Side lasers are mounted on both sides of the scanner.

III.2. CONFIGURATION

Wall or arch mounted lasers are available in four configurations (listed in order of increasing complexity and cost):

- (i) Fixed lateral cross hair and fixed overhead sagittal line lasers: In this configuration, all three lasers are fixed and cannot be moved. This is a very reasonable configuration where resources are limited and radiotherapy patients can be remarked prior to treatment while on the treatment couch according to the radiotherapy plan. With well-designed procedures, this technique provides acceptable results, but with less efficiency and perhaps an increased chance for error. Therefore, it is essential that communication channels and procedures be established to ensure that patients are correctly remarked while on the treatment machine.
- (ii) Fixed lateral cross hair and movable overhead sagittal line lasers: In this configuration, lateral lasers are fixed while the overhead laser is movable (see Fig. 7(b)). This configuration typically offers the optimal compromise between complexity and cost and clinical utility and efficiency. This configuration provides great clinical flexibility and patients can efficiently and accurately progress from CT scanner to treatment. The main advantage of this option is the capability to move the overhead laser in either the left or right direction, which allows patient marking away from the midline. This cannot be achieved with couch movement, as CT couches do not move in this direction.
- (iii) Fixed side-vertical, movable side-horizontal and movable overhead sagittal line lasers: This configuration is shown in Fig. 7(a). This is a slightly more advanced version of the configuration shown in Fig. 7(b). Generally, this option can provide somewhat greater operational efficiency but it does not significantly improve clinical utility or accuracy. Additionally, in some systems, the couch cannot be zeroed in the vertical axis, requiring the operator to add or subtract the shift value from the couch position, which can be confusing, especially since the coordinate system for IEC 61217 [142] may not correlate to the coordinate system of the CT.



FIG. 43. An advanced laser system for patient positioning and marking (courtesy: LAP Laser Systems for image and comments).

(iv) Movable side-horizontal line, movable side-vertical line and movable overhead sagittal line laser: This configuration is shown in Fig. 43. In complexity, this is the most advanced external laser configuration. While system flexibility and efficiency are exceptional, the increased cost may be hard to justify in many clinical settings.

III.3. GEOMETRY

- (a) Orientation: When configuring external CT scanner lasers, the laser location and orientation is referenced to the tomographic plane. The lasers need to be installed orthogonally or parallel (depending on their orientation) to the tomographic plane. As the laser projection can be 40 cm or more in length, it is important to ensure that the lasers are parallel/orthogonal over their entire projection.
- (b) *Origin/isocentre*: As the lasers are oriented with respect to the tomographic plane, the laser origin is also referenced to the tomographic plane. The sagittal and horizontal laser origins coincide with the image centre (typically x and y coordinates); the vertical laser is spaced some predetermined distance away from the tomographic plane. This distance

depends on the scanner installation and the room layout, but it is typically 500–600 mm from the tomographic plane. It may be important that this distance is set to a simple value as it assists in manual calculations when necessary, during the marking of patients. This is especially important for CT simulation software with limited available capability.

(c) *Projection length*: In many radiotherapy applications, several alignment marks will be placed along any laser projection/patient side. Multiple alignment marks greatly improve the reproducibility and accuracy of patient positioning for radiation treatment. Therefore, laser projection at the level of the patient should be at least 40 cm in length and longer projections are preferable.

III.4. INSTALLATION

Any installation of external/wall CT lasers should start with localization of the tomographic plane. The tomographic plane can be localized using the CT laser test tool (Fig. 36) or similar device. The procedure starts by scanning the QA device and ensuring that it is parallel with the tomographic plane in both x and y directions. This may require several scans to first align the QA tool in the x direction. After the tool has been aligned in the x direction, two scans with different couch vertical positions should be acquired to ensure that the tool is aligned in the y direction as well. Once it is verified that the QA tool is aligned with the tomographic plane, the origin of the tool is then aligned with the centre of the tomographic plane by adjusting the couch scan height. Once the QA device has been aligned with the image origin, the couch is retracted by an amount equal to the desired separation between the tomographic plane and the vertical side lasers. This position will be used to install and align all lasers. Installation will proceed, depending on laser configuration and facility design. Once the installation is complete, it should be verified that lasers are orthogonal/parallel along the entire projection. This is accomplished by moving the couch in/out of the gantry and also up/down while observing the laser projection on the laser QA device [2].

The above procedure relies on proper couch alignment with the tomographic plane. This can be verified by the method described in Section 10.7. More efficient methods for accurate laser installation and alignment are available, but the above outlined procedure can be implemented in virtually all clinical settings with minimal resources.

Appendix IV

AVAILABLE DOSIMETRY SOFTWARE

Freeware

CT Dose 1.0.1 http://www.mta.au.dk/ctdose/index.htm (2008-04-26) Dose calculations for CT-exams (last update 2003-11-11)

Omni mAs http://omnimas.arwen.se/ (2008-04-26) Calculation of mAs settings for different patient diameters Effective dose via conversion factors for DLP

D2ED (Palm) http://www.mh-hannover.de/1604.html Estimation of patient exposure using conversion factors (DAP, CTDI and DLP)

QuickDose (Windows Mobile 6) http://www.mh-hannover.de/1604.html Estimation of patient exposure using conversion factors (DAP, CTDI and DLP)

Commercial/shareware

CT-Expo V 2.1 (Shareware)

http://www.mh-hannover.de/1604.html (2008-04-26)

ImpactDose

http://www.vamp-gmbh.de/software/impactdose.php (2008-04-28)

CTDosimetry.xls v1.0

http://www.impactscan.org/ctdosimetry.htm#CTDoseDownload (2009-09-15)

free but requires NRPB-SR250: Normalised Organ Doses for X-Ray Computed Tomography Calculated Using Monte Carlo Techniques

http://www.hpa.org.uk/webw/HPAweb&HPAwebStandard/HPAweb_C/195733753330?p=1153846674387

P-Dose

http://www.qualitycontrol.org/index.php?page=modulo_p_dose_ct_en (2008-04-28)

REFERENCES

- NAGEL, H.D. (Ed.), Radiation Exposure in Computed Tomography: Fundamentals, Influencing Parameters, Dose Assessment, Optimisation, Scanner Data, Terminology, 4th edn, COCIR, Hamburg (2002).
- [2] MUTIC, S., et al., Quality assurance for computed-tomography simulators and the computed-tomography-simulation process: Report of the AAPM Radiation Therapy Committee Task Group 66, Rep. No. 83, Med. Phys. **30** 10 (2003) 2762–2792, http://www.aapm.org/pubs/reports/rpt_83.pdf
- [3] INSTITUTE OF PHYSICS AND ENGINEERING IN MEDICINE, Physics Aspects of Quality Control in Radiotherapy, Rep. 81, IPEM, York (1999).
- [4] INSTITUTE OF PHYSICS AND ENGINEERING IN MEDICINE, Measurement of the Performance Characteristics of Diagnostic X-ray Systems used in Medicine, Rep. 32, 2nd edn, Part III: Computed Tomography X-ray Scanners, IPEM, York (2003).
- [5] INSTITUTE OF PHYSICS AND ENGINEERING IN MEDICINE, Recommended Standards for the Routine Performance Testing of Diagnostic X-ray Imaging Systems, Rep. 91, IPEM, York (2005).
- [6] INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION, Evaluation and Routine Testing in Medical Imaging Departments — Part 2-5: Constancy tests — Image Display Devices, Rep. IEC 61223-2-5, IEC, Geneva (1994).
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION, Evaluation and Routine Testing in Medical Imaging Departments — Part 3-5: Acceptance Tests — Imaging Performance of Computed Tomography X-ray Equipment, Rep. IEC 61223-3-5, IEC, Geneva (2004).
- [8] AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICISTS IN MEDICINE, Specification and Acceptance Testing of Computed Tomography Scanners, Rep. 39, AAPM, New York (1993).
- [9] KALENDER, W.A., Computed Tomography: Fundamentals, System Technology, Image Quality, Applications, 2nd edn, Publicis Corporate Publishing, Erlangen (2005).
- [10] KEATS, N., CT Scanner Automatic Exposure Control Systems, MHRA Rep. 05016, Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency, London (2005).
- [11] McCOLLOUGH, C.H., BRUESEWITZ, M.R., KOFLER, J.M., CT dose reduction and dose management tools: Overview of available options, Radiographics 26 (2006) 503–512.
- [12] GIES, M., KALENDER, W.A., WOLF, H., SUESS, C., Dose reduction in CT by anatomically adapted tube current modulation, I: Simulation studies, Med. Phys. 26 11 (1999) 2235–2247.
- [13] KALENDER, W.A., WOLF, H., SUESS, C., Dose reduction in CT by anatomically adapted tube current modulation, II: Phantom measurement, Med. Phys. 26 11 (1999) 2248–2253.
- [14] TATCHER, M., Treatment simulators and computer assisted tomography, Br. J. Radiol. 50 (1977) 294.
- [15] GOITEIN, M., ABRAMS, M., Multi-dimensional treatment planning: I. Delineation of anatomy, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 9 6 (1983) 777–787.

- [16] GOITEIN, M., ABRAMS, M., ROWELL, D., POLLARI, H., WILES, J., Multidimensional treatment planning, II: Beam's eye-view, back projection, and projection through CT sections, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 9 6 (1983) 789–797.
- [17] SHEROUSE, G, MOSHER, K.L., NOVINS, K., ROSENMAN, E.L., CHANEY, E.L., "Virtual simulation: Concept and implementation", Use of Computers in Radiation Therapy (Proc. 9th Int. Conf. Scheveningen, 1987), North-Holland Publishing (1987) 433–436.
- [18] SHEROUSE, G.W., BOURLAND, J.D., REYNOLDS, K., Virtual simulation in the clinical setting: Some practical considerations, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 19 (1990) 1059–1065.
- [19] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Transition from 2-D Radiotherapy to 3-D Conformal and Intensity Modulated Radiotherapy, IAEA-TECDOC-1588, IAEA, Vienna (2008).
- [20] JUDY, P.F., "Evaluating Computed Tomography Image Quality", Medical CT and Ultrasound: Current Technology and Applications (AAPM June 1995 Summer School), (GOLDMAN, L.W., FOWLKES, J.B., Eds), Advanced Medical Publishing, Madison, WI (1995).
- [21] AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICISTS IN MEDICINE, Phantoms for Performance Evaluation and Quality Assurance of CT Scanners: Rep. No. 1, Medical Physics Publishing, Madison, WI (1977).
- [22] BARRETT, J.F., KEAT, N., Artefacts in CT: Recognition and avoidance, RadioGraphics 24 (2004) 1679–1691.
- [23] DROEGE, R.T., MORIN, R.L., A practical method to measure the MTF of CT scanners, Med. Phys. 9 (1982) 758–760.
- [24] DROEGE, R.T., RZESZOTARSKI, M.S., An MTF method immune to aliasing, Medical Physics 12 (1985) 721–725.
- [25] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIATION UNITS AND MEASUREMENTS, Patient Dosimetry for X Rays Used in Medical Imaging, ICRU Rep. 74, Bethesda, MD (2006).
- [26] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Dosimetry in Diagnostic Radiology: An International Code of Practice, Technical Reports Series No. 457, IAEA, Vienna (2007).
- [27] AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICISTS IN MEDICINE, Recommendations on Performance Characteristics of Diagnostic Exposure Meters, Report of AAPM Diagnostic X-Ray Imaging Task Group No. 6, Med. Phys. 19 (1991) 231–241.
- [28] EUROPEAN COMMISSION, European Guidelines for Quality Criteria for Computed Tomography, Rep. EUR 16262, EC, Luxembourg (2000).
- [29] FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION, Computed Tomography (CT) Equipment, Section 1020.33 21 CFR Ch1 (4-1-88 Edition), Performance Standard for Diagnostic X-ray Systems, US Department of Health and Human Services, FDA/CDRH, Rockville, MD (1988).
- [30] INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION, Medical Electrical Equipment — Part 2-44: Particular Requirements for the Safety of X-Ray Equipment for Computed Tomography, Rep. IEC-60601-2-44 — Consolidated Ed. 2.1 (incl. amend. 1), IEC, Geneva (2002).

- [31] LEITZ, W., AXELSSON, B., SZENDRO, G., Computed tomography dose assessment: A practical approach, Radiat. Prot. Dosim. 57 (1995) 377–380.
- [32] McNITT-GRAY, M.F., Radiation dose in CT, Radiographics 22 (2002) 1541–1553.
- [33] INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION, Medical Electrical Equipment — Part 2-44: Particular Requirements for the Basic Safety and Essential Performance of X-ray Equipment for Computed Tomography, Rep. IEC-60601-2-44, Ed. 3.0, IEC, Geneva (2009).
- [34] BOONE, J., The Trouble with CTDI100, Med. Phys. 34 4 (2007).
- [35] DIXON, R.L., BALLARD, A.C., Experimental validation of a versatile system of CT dosimetry using a conventional ion chamber: Beyond CTDI₁₀₀, Med. Phys. **34** 8 (2007) 3399–3413,
 http://www.nchi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/guery.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&dh=PubMed&dopt=

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=17879802

- [36] INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION, Medical Electrical Equipment — Part 2-44 Ed. 3.0, Amendment 1: Particular Requirements for the Basic Safety and Essential Performance of X-ray Equipment for Computed Tomography, Rep. IEC-60601-2-44, Ed. 3.0, Amendment 1: 62B/804/CD, COMMITTEE DRAFT (CD), IEC, Geneva (2010).
- [37] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Status of Computed Tomography Dosimetry for Wide Cone Beam Scanners, IAEA Human Health Reports No. 5, IAEA, Vienna (2011).
- [38] DIXON, R.L., A new look at CT dose measurement: Beyond CTDI, Med. Phys. 30 6 (2003) 1272–1280, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12852553
- [39] GELEIJNS, J., et al., Computed tomography dose assessment for a 160 mm wide, 320 detector row, cone beam CT scanner, Phys. Med. Biol. **54** (2009) 3141–3159.
- [40] ZHANG, D., et al., Variability of surface and center position radiation dose in MDCT: Monte Carlo simulations using CTDI and anthropomorphic phantoms, Med. Phys. 36 3 (2009) 1025–1038.
- [41] CHAPPLE, C.L., WILLIS, S., FRAME, J., Effective dose in paediatric computed tomography, Phys. Med. Biol. 47 1 (2002) 107–115, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11820223
- [42] KHURSHEED, A., HILLIER, M.C., SHRIMPTON, P.C., WALL, B.F., Influence of patient age on normalized effective doses calculated for CT examinations, Br. J. Radiol. 75 (2002) 819–830.
- [43] KALENDER, W.A., SCHMIDT, B., ZANKL, M., SCHMIDT, M., A PC program for estimating organ dose and effective dose values in computed tomography, Eur. Radiol. 9 3 (1999) 555–562.
- [44] CAON, M., Voxel-based computational models of real human anatomy: A review, Radiat. Environ. Biophys. 42 (2004) 229–235.
- [45] VEIT, R., et al., Tomographic Anthropomorphic Models, Part 1: Construction Technique and Description of Models of an 8 Week Old Baby and 7 Year Old Child, GSF-Forschungszentrum f
 ür Umwelt und Gesundheit, Rep. GSF-3/89, Neuherberg (1989).

- [46] ZANKL, M., PANZER, N., DREXLER, G., Tomographic Anthropomorphic Models, Part II: Organ Doses from Tomographic Examinations in Paediatric Radiology, GSF-Forschungszentrum f
 ür Umwelt und Gesundheit, Rep. GSF-30/93, Neuherberg (1993).
- [47] DIGITAL IMAGING AND COMMUNICATIONS IN MEDICINE, Supplement 127: CT Radiation Dose Reporting (Dose SR), DICOM Standards Committee, Rosslyn, VA (2007), http://medical.nema.org

ftp://medical.nema.org/medical/dicom/final/sup127_ft.pdf

- [48] ALDRICH, J.E., CHANG, S.D., BILAWICH, A.M., MAYO, J.R., Radiation dose in abdominal computed tomography: the role of patient size and the selection of tube current, Can. Assoc. Radiol. J. 57 3 (2006) 152–158, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=16881472
- [49] CENTRE FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PURCHASING, Comparative Specifications: CT Scanner Clinical Applications Software, CEP 08024; NHS PASA March 2009, (2009).
- [50] CENTRE FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PURCHASING, Multislice CT Scanners: Buyers Guide, CEP 08007; NHS PASA March 2009, (2009).
- [51] CENTRE FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PURCHASING, Sixteen Slice CT Scanners: Technical Specifications, Comparative Specifications, CEP 08025; NHS PASA March 2009, (2009).
- [52] CENTRE FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PURCHASING, 32 to 40 Slice CT Scanners: Technical Specifications, Comparative Specifications, CEP 08026; NHS PASA March 2009, (2009).
- [53] CENTRE FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PURCHASING, 64 Slice CT Scanners: Technical Specifications, Comparative Specifications, CEP 08027; NHS PASA March 2009, (2009).
- [54] CENTRE FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PURCHASING, 128 to 320 CT Scanners: Technical Specifications, Comparative Specifications, CEP 08028; NHS PASA March 2009, (2009).
- [55] NATIONAL COUNCIL ON RADIATION PROTECTION AND MEASUREMENT, Structural Shielding Design for Medical X-Ray Imaging Facilities, NCRP Rep. 147, Bethesda, MD (2004).
- [56] SUTTON, D.G., WILLIAMS, J.R. (Eds), Radiation Shielding for Diagnostic X-rays, British Institute of Radiology, London (2000), http://www.bir.org.uk
- [57] ROYAL COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGISTS, Ergonomics, Rep. BFCR(08)3, RCR, London (2008),

http://www.rcr.ac.uk/docs/radiology/pdf/ITguidance_Ergonomics.pdf

- [58] BENBOW, M., Increasing patient throughput with a multislice CT scanner, CME J. Radiol. 4 1 (2003) 8–13.
- [59] SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT DIAGNOSTICS COLLABORATIVE PROGRAMME, Changes that Work in Diagnostics — Improved Scheduling: Case Study Number 11-CT, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2007/03/22084426/17
- [60] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Quality Assurance Programme for Screen Film Mammography, IAEA Human Health Series No. 2, IAEA, Vienna (2009).

[61] ROYAL COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGISTS, Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS) and Guidelines on Diagnostic Display Devices, Rep. BFCR(08)7, RCR, London (2008),

http://www.rcr.ac.uk/index.asp?PageID=310&PublicationID=276

- [62] ROYAL COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGISTS, Retention and Storage of Images and Radiological Patient Data, Rep. BFCR(06)4, RCR, London (2008), http://www.rcr.ac.uk/docs/radiology/pdf/ITguidance Retention storage images.pdf
- [63] ROYAL COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGISTS, IT Guidance: DICOM and HL7 Standards, Rep. BFCR(08)9, RCR, London (2008), http://www.rcr.ac.uk/docs/radiology/pdf/IT_guidance_standardsApr08.pdf
- [64] IHE–UK TECHNICAL COMMITTEE, New Healthcare Equipment Purchase: Existing Equipment and IHE, (2008).
- [65] ROYAL COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGISTS, IT Guidance: IT Training, Rep. BFCR(08)10, RCR, London (2008), http://www.rcr.ac.uk/docs/radiology/pdf/IT_guidance_trainingApr08.pdf
- [66] CENTRE FOR EVIDENCE-BASED PURCHASING, Wide Bore CT Scanner Technical specifications, Comparative specifications: CEP 08029, NHS PASA March 2009, (2009),

http://www.pasa.nhs.uk/PASAWeb/NHSprocurement/CEP/CEPproducts.htm

- [67] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Commissioning of Radiotherapy Treatment Planning Systems: Testing for Typical External Beam Treatment Techniques, IAEA-TECDOC-1583, IAEA, Vienna (2008).
- [68] WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, Quality Assurance in Diagnostic Radiology, WHO, Geneva (1982).
- [69] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Applying Radiation Safety Standards in Diagnostic Radiology and Interventional Procedures Using X Rays, Safety Reports Series No. 39, IAEA, Vienna (2006).
- [70] AMERICAN COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGY, CT Accreditation Program Requirements, http://www.acr.org/accreditation/computed/ct_reqs.aspx
- [71] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources, Safety Series No. 115, IAEA, Vienna (1996).
- [72] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, The 2007 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection, Publication 103, Elsevier, New York (2008).
- [73] EUROPEAN COMMISSION, Council Directive 97/43/Euratom of 30th June 1997 on Health Protection of Individuals Against the Dangers of Ionizing Radiation in Relation to Medical Exposure, and Repealing Directive 84/466 Euratom, Off. J. Eur. Comm. Rep. L 180, EC, Luxembourg (1997) 22–27.
- [74] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radiological Protection for Medical Exposure to Ionizing Radiation, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. RS-G-1.5, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [75] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Managing Patient Dose in Digital Radiography, Publication 93, Ann. ICRP 34 1, Elsevier, New York (2004).

- [76] METTLER, F.A., "Estimate of medical radiation exposure in the U.S. 2006: Preliminary results of NCRP SC-6-2 medical subgroup", presented at Ann. Mtg NCRP, Crystal City, MD, 2007.
- [77] SHRIMPTON, P.C., HILLIER, M.C., LEWIS, M.A., DUNN, M., Doses from Computed Tomography (CT) Examinations in the UK – 2003 Review, NRPB Rep. W67, National Radiological Protection Board, Chilton, Oxon (2005).
- [78] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Managing Patient Dose in Computed Tomography, Publication 87, Ann. ICRP 30 4 Elsevier, New York (2000).
- [79] UNITED NATIONS SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE ON THE EFFECTS OF ATOMIC RADIATION, Sources and Effects of Ionizing Radiation, Volume I: Sources, United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, UNSCEAR 2000 Report to the General Assembly, with Scientific Annexes, United Nations, New York (2000).
- [80] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Managing Patient Dose in Multi-detector Computed Tomography (MDCT), Publication 102, Annals of the ICRP 37 1, Elsevier, New York (2007).
- [81] UNITED NATIONS SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE ON THE EFFECTS OF ATOMIC RADIATION, Sources and Effects of Ionizing Radiation, Volume II: Effects, United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, UNSCEAR 2000 Report to the General Assembly, with Scientific Annexes, United Nations, New York (2000).
- [82] BRENNER, D.J., ELLISTON, C.D., HALL, E.J., BERDON, W.E., Estimated risks of radiation-induced fatal cancer from pediatric CT, Am. J. Roentgenol. 176 (2001) 289–296.
- [83] BOONE, J.M., GERAGHTY, E.M., SEIBERT, J.A., WOOTTON-GORGES, S.L., Dose reduction in pediatric CT: A rational approach, Radiol. 228 (2003) 352–360.
- [84] EUROPEAN COMMISSION, European Guidelines on Quality Criteria for Computed Tomography, Rep. EUR 16262 EN, EC, Luxembourg (1998), http://www.drs.dk/guidelines/ct/quality/mainindex.htm
- [85] EUROPEAN COMMISSION, CT Safety and Efficacy A Broad Perspective: 2004 CT quality criteria,
 - http://www.msct.eu/CT_Quality_Criteria.htm
- [86] KALENDER, W.A., DEAK, P., KELLERMEIER, M., VAN STRATEN, M., VOLLMAR, S.V., Application- and patient size-dependent optimization of x-ray spectra for CT, Med. Phys. 36 3 (2009) 993–1007.
- [87] GIES, M., KALENDER, W.A., WOLF, H., SUESS, C., Dose reduction in CT by anatomically adapted tube current modulation, I: Simulation studies, Med. Phys. 26 11 (1999) 2235–2247, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=10587204
- [88] HUNDT, W., et al., Dose reduction in multislice computed tomography, J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr. 29 1 (2005) 140–147, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=15665702

- [89] HEGGIE, J.C.P., Patient doses in multi-slice CT and the importance of optimisation, Australas. Phys. Eng. Sci. Med. 28 (2005) 86–96.
- [90] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Radiation and your patient: A guide for medical practitioners, ICRP Supporting Guidance 2, Ann. ICRP 31 4, Elsevier, New York (2001).
- [91] IMPACT, ImPACT's CT Dosimetry Tool (2006), http://www.impactscan.org/ctdosimetry.htm
- [92] TZEDAKIS, A., DAMILAKIS, J., PERISINAKIS, K., STRATAKIS, J., GOURTSOYIANNIS, N., The effect of z overscanning on patient effective dose from multidetector helical computed tomography examinations, Med. Phys. 32 6 (2005) 1621–1629,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=16013721

- [93] VAN DER MOLEN, A.J., GELEIJNS, J., Overranging in multisection CT: Quantitative and relative contribution to dose-comparison of four 16-section CT scanners, Radiol. 242 (2007) 208–216.
- [94] FRICKE, B.L., et al., In-plane bismuth breast shields for pediatric CT, Am. J. Roentgenol. 180 (2003) 407–411.
- [95] HOPPER, K.D., KING, S.H., LOBELL, M.E., TENHAVE, T.R., WEAVER, J.S., The breast: In-plane x-ray protection during diagnostic thoracic CT-shielding with bismuth radioprotective garments, Radiol. 205 3 (1997) 853–858, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9393547
- [96] McLEAN, D., KINGSTON, R., CRANCHER, J., "TLD estimation of shielded dose to breast during CT procedure", paper presented at Conf. on Industrial Radiation and Radioisotope Measurement Application, Hamilton, Ontario, 2005.
- [97] NGAILE, J.E., UISO, C.B.S., MSAKI, P., KAZEMA, R., Use of lead shields for radiation protection of superficial organs in patients undergoing head CT examinations, Radiat. Prot. Dosim. 130 4 (2008) 490–498.
- [98] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Diagnostic Reference Levels in Medical Imaging, Publication 73, Elsevier, New York (2001).
- [99] JUNG, K.J., et al., Low-dose, volumetric helical CT: Image quality, radiation dose, and usefulness for evaluation of bronchiectasis, Invest. Radiol. 35 9 (2000) 557–563, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=10982001
- [100] LEE, K.S., et al., Chronic infiltrative lung disease: comparison of diagnostic accuracies of radiography and low- and conventional-dose thin-section CT, Radiol. **191** 3 (1994) 669–673,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=8184044

[101] NAIDICH, D.P., MARSHALL, C.H., GRIBBIN, C., ARAMS, R.S., McCAULEY, D.I., Low-dose CT of the lungs: Preliminary observations, Radiol. 175 3 (1990) 729–731, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=2343122

- [102] RAVENEL, J.G., SCALZETTI, E.M., HUDA, W., GARRISI, W., Radiation exposure and image quality in chest CT examinations, Am. J. Roentgenol. 177 (2001) 279–284.
- [103] TAKAHASHI, M., et al., Low-dose spiral computed tomography of the thorax: comparison with the standard-dose technique, Invest. Radiol. 33 2 (1998) 68–73, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9493720
- [104] WORMANNS, D., LUDWIG, K., BEYER, F., HEINDEL, W., DIEDERICH, S., Detection of pulmonary nodules at multirow-detector CT: Effectiveness of double reading to improve sensitivity at standard-dose and low-dose chest CT, Eur. Radiol. 15 1 (2005) 14–22, http://www.nabi.plm.pih.gov/ontroz/guony.fagi?amd=Patriava?tdh=PubMed?tdont=

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=15526207

- [105] ZWIREWICH, C.V., MAYO, J.R., MULLER, N.L., Low-dose high-resolution CT of lung parenchyma, Radiol. 180 (1991) 413–417.
- [106] SIGAL-CINQUALBRE, A.B., HENNEQUIN, R., ABADA, H.T., CHEN, X., PAUL, J.F., Low-kilovoltage multi-detector row chest CT in adults: Feasibility and effect on image quality and iodine dose, Radiol. 231 1 (2004) 169–174, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=15068946
- [107] KALRA, M.K., et al., Can noise reduction filters improve low-radiation-dose chest CT images? Pilot study, Radiol. 228 1 (2003) 257–264, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12750460
- [108] IMANISHI, Y., et al., Radiation-induced temporary hair loss as a radiation damage only occurring in patients who had the combination of MDCT and DSA, Eur. Radiol. 15 1 (2005) 41–46,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=15351903

[109] ABADA, H.T., LARCHEZ, C., DAOUD, B., SIGAL-CINQUALBRE, A., PAUL, J.F., MDCT of the coronary arteries: feasibility of low-dose CT with ECG-pulsed tube current modulation to reduce radiation dose, Am. J. Roentgenol. 186 6 Suppl. 2 (2006) S387–S390,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=16714613

- [110] DONNELLY, L., et al., Minimizing radiation dose for paediatric body applications of single-detector helical CT: Strategies at a large children's hospital, Am. J. Roentgenol. 176 (2001) 303–306.
- [111] PATERSON, A., FRUSH, D., DONNELLY, L., Helical CT of the body: Are settings adjusted for paediatric atients?, Am. J. Roentgenol. 176 (2001) 297–301.
- [112] FEFFERMAN, N.R., et al., Appendicitis in children: low-dose CT with a phantombased simulation technique — initial observations, Radiol. 237 2 (2005) 641–646, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list uids=16170015

- [113] FOX, S.H., TOTH, T., Dose reduction on GE CT scanners, Pediatr. Radiol. 32 10 (2002) 718–723; discussion 751–754, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12244461
- [114] FRUSH, D.P., et al., Computer-simulated radiation dose reduction for abdominal multidetector CT of pediatric patients, Am. J. Roentgenol. 179 5 (2002) 1107–1113, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12388482
- [115] GREESS, H., et al., Dose reduction in subsecond multislice spiral CT examination of children by online tube current modulation, Eur. Radiol. 14 6 (2004) 995–999, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=15052502
- [116] McLEAN, D., MALITZ, N., LEWIS, S., Survey of effective dose levels from typical paediatric CT protocols, Australas. Radiol. 47 (2003) 135–142.
- [117] MORGAN, H.T., Dose reduction for CT pediatric imaging, Pediatr. Radiol. 32 10 (2002) 724–728; discussion 751–754, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12244462
- [118] MOSS, M., McLEAN, D., Paediatric and adult computed tomography practice and patient dose in Australia, Australas. Radiol. **50** (2006) 33–40.
- [119] PATERSON, A., FRUSH, D., Dose reduction in paediatric MDCT: General principles, Clin. Radiol. 62 6 (2007) 507–517.
- [120] RATCLIFFE, J., et al., Assessment of image quality of a standard and two dose-reducing protocols in paediatric pelvic CT, Pediatr. Radiol. 33 (2003) 177–182.
- [121] SHAH, R., GUPTA, A.K., REHANI, M.M., PANDEY, A.K., MUKHOPADHYAY, S., Effect of reduction in tube current on reader confidence in paediatric computed tomography, Clin. Radiol. 60 2 (2005) 224–231, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list uids=15664577
- [122] VERDUN, F., SCHNYDER, P., GUTIERREZ, D., GUDINCHET, F., Patient dose optimization in pediatric computerized tomography, Rev. Med. Suisse 2 73 (2006) 1752–1757.
- [123] WESTERMAN, B.R., Radiation dose from Toshiba CT scanners, Pediatr. Radiol. 32 10 (2002) 735–737; discussion 751–754.
- [124] VARCHENA, V., Pediatric phantoms, Pediatr. Radiol. 32 (2002) 280-284.
- [125] AMERICAN COLLEGE OF RADIOLOGY, New CT Accreditation Dose Requirements Effective January 1, 2008, ACR, Reston, VA.
- [126] McCOLLOUGH, C.H., et al., "Radiation doses from the ACR CT accreditation program: Review of data since program inception and proposals for new reference values and pass/fail limits", paper presented at RSNA 92nd Scientific Assembly and Ann. Mtg, Chicago, 2006.
- [127] CRAWLEY, M.T., BOOTH, A., WAINWRIGHT, A., A practical approach to the first iteration in the optimization of radiation dose and image quality in CT: Estimates of the collective dose savings achieved, Br. J. Radiol. 74 (2001) 607–614, http://bjr.birjournals.org/cgi/content/abstract/74/883/607

- [128] HUDA, W., Dose and image quality in CT, Pediatr. Radiol. 32 10 (2002) 709–713; discussion 751–754.
- [129] HUDA, W., CHAMBERLAIN, C.C., ROSENBAUM, A.E., GARRISI, W., Radiation doses to infants and adults undergoing head CT examinations, Med. Phys. 28 3 (2001) 393–399.
- [130] HUDA, W., SCALZETTI, E.M., LEVIN, G., Technique factors and image quality as functions of patient weight at abdominal CT, Radiol. 217 (2000) 430–435.
- [131] LUCAYA, J., et al., Low-dose high-resolution CT of the chest in children and young adults: Dose, cooperation, artefact incidence, and image quality, Am. J. Roentgenol. 175 (2000) 985–992.
- [132] AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICISTS IN MEDICINE, Assessment of Display Performance for Medical Imaging Systems, AAPM On-line Rep. 03, AAPM, College Park, MD (2005), http://www.aapm.org/pubs/reports/OR 03.pdf

Supplemental files available at http://www.aapm.org/pubs/reports/OR 03 Supplemental/

- [133] GRAY, J.E., et al., Multiformat video and laser cameras: History, design considerations, acceptance testing, and quality control, Report of AAPM Diagnostic X-Ray Imaging Committee Task Group No. 1, Med. Phys. 20 2 Pt 1 (1993) 427–438, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=8497235
- [134] AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICISTS IN MEDICINE, The Measurement, Reporting, and Management of Radiation Dose in CT, AAPM Rep. 96, AAPM, College Park, MD (2008),

http://www.aapm.org/pubs/reports/RPT_96.pdf

- [135] FETTERLY, K.A., HANGIANDREOU, N.J., LANGER, S.G., Devising an enterprisewide quality control program for PACS monitors is critical in an electronic environment, Imaging Economics, Los Angeles, CA (2003), http://www.imagingeconomics.com/issues/articles/2003-04_05.asp
- [136] GROTH, D.S., BERNATZ, S.N., FETTERLY, K.A., HANGIANDREOU, N.J., Cathode ray tube quality control and acceptance testing program: initial results for clinical PACS displays, Radiographics 21 3 (2001) 719–732, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11353118
- [137] JERVIS, S.E., BRETTLE, D.S., A practical approach to soft-copy display consistency for PC-based review workstations, Br. J. Radiol. 76 909 (2003) 648–652, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=14500280
- [138] TSALAFOUTAS, I.A., TSAPAKI, V., KOULENTIANOS, E., TRIANTOPOULOU, C., Quality control of a laser camera with the SMPTE test pattern: Optical density variations with printing format and frame position, Br. J. Radiol. 77 913 (2004) 52–56, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=14988139
- [139] NATIONAL COUNCIL ON RADIATION PROTECTION AND MEASUREMENTS, Quality Assurance for Diagnostic Imaging, NCRP Rep. 99, Bethesda, MD (1988).

[140] IMPACT, Information Leaflet No. 1: CT Scanner Acceptance Testing, Version 1.02, 18/05/01 (2001),

http://www.impactscan.org/download/acceptancetesting.pdf

- [141] INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION, Medical Electrical Equipment — Dosimeters with Ionization Chambers and/or Semi-conductor Detectors as used in X-Ray Diagnostic Imaging, Rep. IEC-61674, IEC, Geneva (1997).
- [142] INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION, Radiotherapy Equipment — Co-ordinates, Movements and Scales, Rep. IEC-61216, IEC, Geneva (2002).

Annex

VISUAL INSPECTION AND PROGRAMME REVIEW CHECKLIST

	Date					
Item to be evaluated						
Scan protocol book:						
Located at operator's console						
Protocols up to date						
Automatic exposure control, if available, for all protocols						
Technique chart for all manual scans with mAs varying with patient size						
Techniques for chest lower than abdomen scans						
Adult protocols available and optimized						
Paediatric protocols available and optimized						
Window between operator's room and scanner room provides clear view of patient (no clutter on the window)						
Ensure image headers are correct, including patient identification, date and time						
Written radiation safety procedures up to date						
Staff (including radiologists) understand and follow radiation safety procedures						
Scanner room:						
Door closes properly						
Room clean						
Lead aprons available						
Portable barriers available						

		Date					
Item to be evaluated							
Quality control logs:							
Properly completed							
Up to date							
Required corrective action noted and requested							
Quality control tests performed after corrective action							
Emergency equipment available and complete							
Emergency phone numbers posted and clearly visible beside telephones							
Medical physicist should add items specific to the facility							

Note: P = pass, F = fail.

GLOSSARY

- **3-D.** Imaging techniques used to display images of a three dimensional volume on a flat (2-D) display, such as a computer screen. Should be distinguished from true 3-D displays, such as virtual reality or stereoscopic systems.
- **archive.** Storage of large amounts of idle data. Accuracy of data recovery is important, but as the data are no longer active, speed of reading is not as important. Can be stored on various types of device or media, such as tape or optical disc.
- **artefact.** Any structure or pattern visible in the image that is not part of the object being imaged.
- **automatic exposure control (AEC).** A device which automatically determines and provides the exposure needed to produce a preselected image quality by sampling the X ray intensity at the image receptor.
- **beam hardening.** The process of filtration of a polychromatic beam by the preferential absorption of lower energy photons in tissue, with a subsequent increase in effective energy.
- **coefficient of variation (COV).** COV = σ_x/\overline{x} , where x_i represents a set of measured data, with mean \overline{x} , and σ_x is the standard deviation.
- **collimation.** Geometrical limitation of the extent of the X ray beam in the z direction.
- **contrast medium.** A substance introduced into structures to increase or decrease their contrast, enhancing otherwise low contrast resolution on the CT image. Most commonly, a radio-opaque substance is injected intravenously, but an oral contrast medium may also be used.
- CT fluoroscopy. Use of CT to produce almost real time images.
- **CT number.** Number used to represent the mean X ray attenuation associated with each elemental area of the CT image (see also Hounsfield units).
- **diagnostic reference level (DRL).** Indicative dose level for a given examination of patients with standard body size against which actual doses can be audited.

- effective dose. Representative dose measurement that gives the uniform whole body dose, which is equivalent, in terms of stochastic (carcinogenic) risk, to the non-uniform irradiation of various organs. Effective dose (E) is quoted in units of millisieverts (mSv).
- **effective mAs.** The tube current–exposure time product (mAs) divided by the pitch; an estimate of the mAs per slice.
- **field of view (FOV).** Size of an area being imaged. Can be either the scanned field (SFOV) or the reconstructed field (RFOV).

filter. This can be:

- (a) X ray filter: Material introduced to remove soft X rays from the X ray beam.
- (b) Beam shaping filter or bow-tie filter: Material used to shape the intensity of the X ray beam to suit the subject.
- (c) Reconstruction filter: Mathematical kernel used during the reconstruction process to modify responses at different spatial frequencies (see reconstruction algorithm).
- **full width at half maximum (FWHM).** Method for characterizing the width of the X ray beam by measuring the distance between the points at which the intensity is 50% of the peak.
- **gantry tilt.** Capability to offset the gantry rotation from the couch axis. Used in head scans to avoid critical dose sensitive organs, such as the eyes.
- **geometric efficiency.** One measure of dose efficiency of the scanner; it is the ratio of the slice width imaged to the total slice width irradiated. Strictly, it should be the ratio of dose used to create images to total dose.
- **half-value layer (HVL).** The thickness of a specified material which when introduced into the path of a beam of radiation reduces the exposure rate by half.
- **health level seven (HL7).** Used here to refer to standards and frameworks related to health care interoperability, i.e. the transfer of data between different systems in health care. Also, it is the name of the non-profit organization that develops such standards.
- **helical (spiral) CT.** A CT scan where the patient is moved constantly through the rotating gantry. The X ray beam describes a helix about the patient.
- **imaged slice width.** Effective thickness of the tomographic section, as measured by the full width at half maximum of the sensitivity profile in the centre of the scan field.
- **Integrating the Healthcare Enterprise (IHE).** Global initiative designed to advance the state of data integration in health care across all hospital systems. IHE promotes the coordinated use of established information standards, such as DICOM and HL7, through common functional profiles.
- **isocentre.** The point around which the CT system rotates. Also, the visual centre of the reconstructed image.
- **longitudinal (z) mA modulation.** Addresses the varying attenuation of the patient among anatomical regions by varying the mA along the z axis (length) of the patient (e.g. shoulders versus the abdomen versus the pelvis). The task of z modulation is to produce relatively uniform noise levels across the various anatomical regions.
- **low contrast resolution.** Lowest contrast detail of an object of a specified shape and area that can be resolved from a uniform background.
- **mean CT number.** Mean value of the CT numbers of all pixels within a certain defined region of interest (ROI).
- **MDCT (multidetector CT).** MDCT systems are CT scanners with a detector array consisting of more than a single row of detectors. Also called multislice, or multirow CT scanners.
- **modulation of X ray tube current (mA).** A method of managing the dose in CT by automatically adjusting the current to achieve the selected image quality. May be angular or longitudinal mA modulation or both.

- **modulation transfer function (MTF).** The capability of imaging equipment to reproduce spatial detail of an object in an image.
- **multiphase examination.** An examination in which two or more sets of images of a defined anatomical area are taken (e.g. before and after the injection of a contrast medium).
- **noise.** Variation of CT numbers from a mean value in a defined area in the image of a uniform substance. The magnitude of noise is indicated by the standard deviation of the CT numbers of a uniform substance in the region of interest.
- **nominal tomographic section thickness.** In CT scanners, the nominal tomographic section thickness is selected and indicated on the control panel. It should be noted that in helical scanning, the thickness of a reconstructed image depends on the helical reconstruction algorithm and pitch, and hence this thickness may not equal the nominal tomographic section thickness. The thickness of the reconstructed image may be indicated or selected prior to the helical scan.
- **organ dose.** The mean absorbed dose in an organ or tissue, i.e. the total energy absorbed by the organ or tissue divided by the total mass of the organ or tissue.
- **over-beaming.** The situation arising when the X ray beam incident to the patient extends beyond the active detector area and hence is not used for imaging purposes.
- **over-ranging.** The increase in dose–length product due to the additional rotations required for the helical (spiral) interpolation algorithm. Typically, an extra rotation is required at the beginning and at the end of each helical acquisition so that the extent of the effect will depend on the pitch and the X ray beam collimation.
- **partial volume effect or averaging.** The inaccuracy in a CT number caused by the presence of a structure that is only within part of a slice.
- **phantom.** A device that absorbs or scatters radiation in an equivalent manner to that of a patient and which is utilized to estimate radiation dose and to test imaging systems without actually exposing a patient. A phantom may be an anthropomorphic or a physical test object.

- **picture archiving and communication system (PACS).** A system that manages the storage and retrieval of digital images.
- **pitch.** In helical scanning, pitch is the ratio between the distance moved by the patient during one gantry rotation (the couch feed) and the width of the image sample being scanned (the beam collimation).
- **polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA).** A commercially available plastic polymer, e.g. Perspex, acrylic or Lucite.
- **radiology information system (RIS).** A computer system which stores the appointment information for a radiology department and may be linked to the hospital information system. A PACS may take examination booking information and demographics from the RIS to form worklists.
- **reconstruction algorithm (convolution kernel).** A mathematical operation applied during image creation that can, for example, reduce image noise or enhance edge details.
- reconstruction matrix. The array of pixels that is displayed as the CT image.
- region of interest (ROI). Localized part of an image, which is of particular interest at a given time.
- **resolution.** The capability to distinguish small discrete objects with an imaging system. This may be measured using a bar pattern and is frequently described in terms of the spatial resolution in line pairs per cm (lp/cm) or MTF.
- **scan time.** For a single exposure, the time interval between the beginning and the end of the acquisition of attenuation data. This may be longer than the exposure time owing to pulsing of the X ray emission with some CT scanners.
- **scan projection radiograph (SPR).** Initial (low dose) scan acquired using a static tube and moving bed. This is used to plan the full CT scan sequences and may also be used for tube current modulation. Sometimes referred to as a 'scout' view or 'scanogram'.
- **slice.** A tomographic section defined by the position of a test phantom or patient under investigation during a single CT exposure.

- **spatial resolution.** Defines the smallest feature that can be detected in an image. This is usually quoted as line pairs per cm (lp/cm) for CT scanners.
- **temporal mA modulation.** Temporal mA modulation alters the tube current according to a time based criterion. This is most commonly used in CT examinations of the heart, reducing the dose for projections of limited interest, such as in early systole where the rapid cardiac motion compromises image quality.
- **tolerance values.** Express the range over which the parameter is allowed to vary before the item is no longer considered to be operating within limits. These ranges are classified into two categories: achievable and acceptable.
- **tube current–exposure time product (mAs).** The product of the X ray tube current (mA) and the exposure time in seconds (s).
- **tube current modulation.** Variation of tube current according to the relative attenuation of the object.
- **workstation.** A computer running applications software. There are several types, the main ones being:
- (a) Diagnostic or reporting workstation: Used for viewing images for primary diagnosis and/or production of clinical reports. A reporting workstation will commonly have multiple diagnostic (high quality) display monitors, usually two or four screens, capable of meeting specific guidelines for resolution, contrast and brightness. These may be for CT reporting only, or shared for reporting all radiology images.
- (b) PACS workstation: Capable of retrieving and displaying image data from the PACS. Varies from a simple review workstation on the wards to a diagnostic workstation with specialist reporting tools and RIS integration.
- (c) Review workstation: Used for checking that acquired images are of the required quality and that all necessary views have been performed. Often, at least one display on the CT control console will act as a review workstation. Review workstation may also refer to a workstation used on a ward or in a clinic to view images in conjunction with the associated clinical report. A review workstation will usually have one or two display monitors, which are of lower display quality than those used in reporting workstations.
- (d) Scanner acquisition workstation: Workstation supplied with the CT scanner and optimized to run specialist applications.

- **x–y plane.** The plane in which the CT scanner gantry rotates. Also called the scan plane.
- **z axis.** Axis about which the gantry of a CT scanner rotates. Also called the scan axis. Normally the superior–inferior axis of the patient.

CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW

Edyvean, S.	St Georges Hospital, United Kingdom
Gray, J.	United States of America
Heggie, J.	St Vincent's Hospital, Australia
Hiles, P.	Glan Clwyd Hospital, United Kingdom
Homolka, P.	Medizinische Universität Wien, Austria
Le Heron, J.	International Atomic Energy Agency
McLean, D.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Mutic, S.	United States of America
Ngaile, J.	Tanzania Atomic Energy Commission, United Republic of Tanzania
Strauss, K.	Boston Children's Hospital, United States of America
Van Dyk, J.	International Atomic Energy Agency

Consultants Meetings

Vienna, Austria: 3–7 September 2007, 25–29 February 2008, 21–23 July 2008, 15–19 December 2008



Where to order IAEA publications

In the following countries IAEA publications may be purchased from the sources listed below, or from major local booksellers. Payment may be made in local currency or with UNESCO coupons.

AUSTRALIA

DA Information Services, 648 Whitehorse Road, MITCHAM 3132 Telephone: +61 3 9210 7777 • Fax: +61 3 9210 7788 Email: service@dadirect.com.au • Web site: http://www.dadirect.com.au

BELGIUM

Jean de Lannoy, avenue du Roi 202, B-1190 Brussels Telephone: +32 2 538 43 08 • Fax: +32 2 538 08 41 Email: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard.be • Web site: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

CANADA

Bernan Associates, 4501 Forbes Blvd, Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4346, USA Telephone: 1-800-865-3457 • Fax: 1-800-865-3450 Email: customercare@bernan.com • Web site: http://www.bernan.com

Renouf Publishing Company Ltd., 1-5369 Canotek Rd., Ottawa, Ontario, K1J 9J3 Telephone: +613 745 2665 • Fax: +613 745 7660 Email: order.dept@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

CHINA

IAEA Publications in Chinese: China Nuclear Energy Industry Corporation, Translation Section, P.O. Box 2103, Beijing

CZECH REPUBLIC

Suweco CZ, S.R.O., Klecakova 347, 180 21 Praha 9 Telephone: +420 26603 5364 • Fax: +420 28482 1646 Email: nakup@suweco.cz • Web site: http://www.suweco.cz

FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa, PO BOX 128 (Keskuskatu 1), FIN-00101 Helsinki Telephone: +358 9 121 41 • Fax: +358 9 121 4450 Email: akatilaus@akateeminen.com • Web site: http://www.akateeminen.com

FRANCE

Form-Edit, 5, rue Janssen, P.O. Box 25, F-75921 Paris Cedex 19 Telephone: +33 1 42 01 49 49 • Fax: +33 1 42 01 90 90 Email: formedit@formedit.fr • Web site: http://www. formedit.fr

Lavoisier SAS, 145 rue de Provigny, 94236 Cachan Cedex Telephone: + 33 1 47 40 67 02 • Fax +33 1 47 40 67 02 Email: romuald.verrier@lavoisier.fr • Web site: http://www.lavoisier.fr

GERMANY

UNO-Verlag, Vertriebs- und Verlags GmbH, Am Hofgarten 10, D-53113 Bonn Telephone: + 49 228 94 90 20 • Fax: +49 228 94 90 20 or +49 228 94 90 222 Email: bestellung@uno-verlag.de • Web site: http://www.uno-verlag.de

HUNGARY

Librotrade Ltd., Book Import, P.O. Box 126, H-1656 Budapest Telephone: +36 1 257 7777 • Fax: +36 1 257 7472 • Email: books@librotrade.hu

INDIA

Allied Publishers Group, 1st Floor, Dubash House, 15, J. N. Heredia Marg, Ballard Estate, Mumbai 400 001, Telephone: +91 22 22617926/27 • Fax: +91 22 22617928 Email: alliedpl@vsnl.com • Web site: http://www.alliedpublishers.com

Bookwell, 2/72, Nirankari Colony, Delhi 110009 Telephone: +91 11 23268786, +91 11 23257264 • Fax: +91 11 23281315 Email: bookwell@vsnl.net

ITALY

Libreria Scientifica Dott. Lucio di Biasio "AEIOU", Via Coronelli 6, I-20146 Milan Telephone: +39 02 48 95 45 52 or 48 95 45 62 • Fax: +39 02 48 95 45 48 Email: info@libreriaaeiou.eu • Website: www.libreriaaeiou.eu

JAPAN

Maruzen Company, Ltd., 13-6 Nihonbashi, 3 chome, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 103-0027 Telephone: +81 3 3275 8582 • Fax: +81 3 3275 9072 Email: journal@maruzen.co.jp • Web site: http://www.maruzen.co.jp

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

KINS Inc., Information Business Dept. Samho Bldg. 2nd Floor, 275-1 Yang Jae-dong SeoCho-G, Seoul 137-130 Telephone: +02 589 1740 • Fax: +02 589 1746 • Web site: http://www.kins.re.kr

NETHERLANDS

De Lindeboom Internationale Publicaties B.V., M.A. de Ruyterstraat 20A, NL-7482 BZ Haaksbergen Telephone: +31 (0) 53 5740004 • Fax: +31 (0) 53 5729296 Email: books@delindeboom.com • Web site: http://www.delindeboom.com

Martinus Nijhoff International, Koraalrood 50, P.O. Box 1853, 2700 CZ Zoetermeer Telephone: +31 793 684 400 • Fax: +31 793 615 698 Email: info@nijhoff.nl • Web site: http://www.nijhoff.nl

Swets and Zeitlinger b.v., P.O. Box 830, 2160 SZ Lisse Telephone: +31 252 435 111 • Fax: +31 252 415 888 Email: infoho@swets.nl • Web site: http://www.swets.nl

NEW ZEALAND

DA Information Services, 648 Whitehorse Road, MITCHAM 3132, Australia Telephone: +61 3 9210 7777 • Fax: +61 3 9210 7788 Email: service@dadirect.com.au • Web site: http://www.dadirect.com.au

SLOVENIA

Cankarjeva Zalozba d.d., Kopitarjeva 2, SI-1512 Ljubljana Telephone: +386 1 432 31 44 • Fax: +386 1 230 14 35 Email: import.books@cankarjeva-z.si • Web site: http://www.cankarjeva-z.si/uvoz

SPAIN

Díaz de Santos, S.A., c/ Juan Bravo, 3A, E-28006 Madrid Telephone: +34 91 781 94 80 • Fax: +34 91 575 55 63 Email: compras@diazdesantos.es, carmela@diazdesantos.es, barcelona@diazdesantos.es, julio@diazdesantos.es Web site: http://www.diazdesantos.es

UNITED KINGDOM

The Stationery Office Ltd, International Sales Agency, PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1 GN Telephone (orders): +44 870 600 5552 • (enquiries): +44 207 873 8372 • Fax: +44 207 873 8203 Email (orders): book.orders@tso.co.uk • (enquiries): book.enquiries@tso.co.uk • Web site: http://www.tso.co.uk

On-line orders

DELTA Int. Book Wholesalers Ltd., 39 Alexandra Road, Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PQ Email: info@profbooks.com • Web site: http://www.profbooks.com

Books on the Environment Earthprint Ltd., P.O. Box 119, Stevenage SG1 4TP Telephone: +44 1438748111 • Fax: +44 1438748844 Email: orders@earthprint.com • Web site: http://www.earthprint.com

UNITED NATIONS

Dept. 1004, Room DC2-0853, First Avenue at 46th Street, New York, N.Y. 10017, USA (UN) Telephone: +800 253-9646 or +212 963-8302 • Fax: +212 963-3489 Email: publications@un.org • Web site: http://www.un.org

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Bernan Associates, 4501 Forbes Blvd., Suite 200, Lanham, MD 20706-4346 Telephone: 1-800-865-3457 • Fax: 1-800-865-3450 Email: customercare@bernan.com · Web site: http://www.bernan.com

Renouf Publishing Company Ltd., 812 Proctor Ave., Ogdensburg, NY, 13669 Telephone: +888 551 7470 (toll-free) • Fax: +888 568 8546 (toll-free) Email: order.dept@renoufbooks.com • Web site: http://www.renoufbooks.com

Orders and requests for information may also be addressed directly to:

Marketing and Sales Unit, International Atomic Energy Agency

Vienna International Centre, PO Box 100, 1400 Vienna, Austria Telephone: +43 1 2600 22529 (or 22530) • Fax: +43 1 2600 29302 Email: sales.publications@iaea.org • Web site: http://www.iaea.org/books





DOSIMETRY IN DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY: AN INTERNATIONAL CODE OF PRACTICE

Technical Reports Series No. 457 STI/DOC/010/457 (359 pp.; 2007) ISBN 92-0-115406-2

Price: €75.00

QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAMME FOR SCREEN FILM MAMMOGRAPHY IAEA Human Health Series No. 2

STI/PUB/1381 (221 pp.; 2009) ISBN 978-92-0-101609-6

QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAMME FOR DIGITAL MAMMOGRAPHY

IAEA Human Health Series No. 17

STI/PUB/1482 (177 pp.; 2011) ISBN 978-92-0-111410-5

STATUS OF COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY FOR WIDE CONE BEAM SCANNERS IAEA Human Health Reports No. 5 STI/PUB/1528 (39 pp.; 2011)

ISBN 978–92–0–120610–7

Price: €55.00

Price: €60.00

Price: €27.00

This publication is intended to support those working in diagnostic radiology in the area of computed tomography as applied to both diagnosis and therapy. This is an area that is under rapid development and this publication provides a careful analysis of the principles and specific instructions that can be used for a quality assurance programme to achieve optimal performance and reduced patient dose. International experience shows the deployment of computed tomography is increasingly being implemented in developing countries. However, the transition from plane radiography to digitally based medical imaging is complex and requires knowledge and planning to be successful. The publication contains information on the elements needed for quality assurance testing, including those relating to accurate patient characterization, as needed for radiotherapy planning.

IAEA HUMAN HEALTH SERIES

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA ISBN 978-92-0-128910-0 ISSN 2075-3772